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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Wan Leader International Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”). The directors of the Company (the “Directors”), having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief (i) the information contained in this
report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive; and (i) there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS EEg

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) =] ?EEJEE(:TE R ITIARE ) (1T AR A
(Chief Executive Officer effective on 16 November 2020) —E-ZTFE+—A+NBER)

Mr. Loy Hak Moon (Chief Executive Officer) = ?E/%ﬁ‘ﬁi( ﬁﬂf@%&t)
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Ms. Wu Yushan (effective on 23 March 2021) SRt
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Non-executive Director FHITES

Mr. Lo Wing Sang (re-designated from executive Director to BokERE(RZZE_EFNA=-T-HH
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Mr. Lo Wing Sang BoKE A

Ms. Fung Nga Fong BHER 2+

COMPANY SECRETARY NRAIWE

Ms. Fung Nga Fong RSHEDS 20t

COMPLIANCE OFFICER EEREE

Mr. Lo Wing Sang B A A

BOARD COMMITTEES EEZREE

Audit Committee ERZEY

Mr. Ng Kam Tsun (Chairman) ReEELA(FE)

Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy (resigned on 31 March 2021) HREE L (R _—F=A=1+—H&FT)

Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron JABAE 4

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (effective on 1 April 2021) MEREER-_ZE-_—FMA—B4ER)

Remuneration Committee HNEES

Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron (Chairman) BARRBLEE(FE)

Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy (resigned on 31 March 2021) AREBLT(WN=E=—F=A=+—H&T)
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Corporate Information (Continued)

Nomination Committee

Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy (Chairman) (resigned on 31 March 2021)

Mr. Ng Kam Tsun

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman) (effective on 1 April 2021)

Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron (effective on 1 April 2021)

AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
(appointed on 21 August 2020)

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
(retired on 21 August 2020)

LEGAL ADVISERS

Henry Yu & Associates

COMPLIANCE ADVISER
Glory Sun Securities Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square,
P.O. Box 902,

Grand Cayman, KY1-1103,

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Office Tower Units 901-902

Hutchison Logistics Centre, Terminal 4
Kwai Chung Container Port

18 Container Port Road South

Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong
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o Corporate Information (Continued)

NRIER(E)

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited
Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square,
P.O. Box 902,

Grand Cayman, KY1-1103,

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.wanleader.com
STOCK CODE

8482
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In 2020-2021, the Group witnessed a sustained increase in the
demand for air cargo space due to the suspension of the air
flights across the globe. Many routine passenger flights had been
cancelled and some airlines even ceased its operations in Hong
Kong. Despite the adverse economy coupled with the abrupt
change in customer requirements, the Group continued to focus
on strengthening the market position and actively seeking new
business opportunities with existing and potential customers and
suppliers. The Group succeeded in entering into an agreement with
an airline for block space arrangement and expanding its customer
base in Vietnam.

The air cargo industry has officially recovered from the depths of the
2019 Novel Coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19 pandemic”). Many
businesses are shifting to air shipping from the sea shipping due
to extreme shipping delays from port congestion and overwhelmed
vessel operators. This is in favour to the business of the Group.
However, the airfreight rates remain highly unpredictable. Stricter
quarantine rules in Hong Kong and strong demand for certain cargo
routes together with market uncertainty due to overwhelmed market
demand push up the airfreight rates heavily. Freight forwarding
companies are experiencing reservation delays and paying top
dollar to secure air cargo space for their customers. During the year,
the Group largely benefited from the strong demand for air cargo
space.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere gratitude
to our investors, customers, suppliers, subcontractors and bankers
for their continuous support and trust placed in the Group, and
thank my fellow directors for their concerted effort and advice
throughout the year. We treasure the efforts from the Group’s
management team and the unwavering commitment of our
staff. Please allow me to express my sincere appreciation to our
management team and staff for their dedication and commitment.

Loy Hak Yu Thomas
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

EREW|E

E_Z_ZRFE-_F % AKEEEE
RN EHMITEN - HEERONFERFE
L7 REBEEFEMIDEDUR - HTMZE
AREERIEHEFTBOXEL - BHRTT
FIREBERE AR RBOBEER - K&
EEESTREATSA - WEBRRE
REBEEFREEARSHOBRESE - X
R BRI BUAR AL 2 HF 8 — R A 22 A R RT L 1p
% WEATHENESER -

EETED EAM2019 B BRFSEE
([COVID-19%& 15 | ) B9 % R I8 @ 2K -
REOEERWELLERSLERERENE
LR FEERRSENERERHSRESE
B BFRAEBMER - Al ZEE
REBEHATERT R - TIEB KR EA TR
REBERT EEBNBRERA - Bk
MEHNE RS D UL EREAREHE
MHBTHEE S - EERIEA R EmME BN
M@ AMATEEREETERLM
ENEENSENER  RAFE @ ~AEE
RS BB ABIZI TR IEEEE -

AANBEHRAARARREE BT - HE
B D ERRRITHRES S R AR ER
EEBURLHNES - YRHARFEER
AREZHFMNEHOZ DML OZE - B
TOPEBAKEEEBMNHNEIRET
BETBNEH  TELA/BESNEREE
B R R ©

=

BRE

HEB —E-—FXA-t+HH
EEEBRBRERAT —O0-Z0—--O=—F4#H 5




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEER WD

INTRODUCTION

Wan Leader International Limited is a company which provides
logistics services in and to customers mostly located in Hong Kong,
the PRC, Taiwan and Vietnam with cargo destinations covering
USA, Europe, Asia and other regions. The shares (the “Shares”) of
the Company are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The services of the Group mainly include (a) the provision of
freight forwarding and related logistics services, which include
reselling cargo space the Group purchases from airlines, airlines’
general sales agent(s), shipping liners and other freight forwarders
to direct shippers or respective freight forwarders, which act
on behalf of their shipper customers and eventually deliver the
goods to the destinations; (b) the provision of warehousing and
related value-added services, which include labelling services,
packaging services; and security screening services. As disclosed
in the announcements dated 22 March 2021, 24 March 2021 and
31 March 2021, the Group disposed the entire equity interest in Fu
Yo Warehouse Logistics Company Limited (“Fu Yo”). The Group
discontinued its operations in the provision of warehousing and
related value-added services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Despite the global volatile and challenging environment in 2020,
the Group made encouraging progress during the year ended 31
March 2021 (the “Year”), which has been reflected in its financial
results. The Group’s total revenue increased by approximately
87.0% to approximately HK$332.8 million in the Year, compared
with approximately HK$178.0 million in the year ended 31 March
2020 (the “Previous Year”). Gross profit increased by approximately
156.2% to approximately HK$31.0 million in the Year, compared
with HK$12.1 million in the Previous Year. The Group turned around
from a net loss of approximately HK$22.8 million in the Previous
Year to a net profit of approximately HK$4.2 million in the Year.

Benefiting from the opportunities of the increased demand in air
cargo space amid the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group successfully
secured air cargo spaces at compatible prices for its customers.
The Group’s extensive network of airlines and other forwarders
was able to meet the demands of its customers, particularly, the
shipping of epidemic prevention supplies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Looking forward to the future, the Group is cautious yet
optimistic towards its business and development. The Group has
implemented cost-control and operational efficiency measures
and has explored other business collaboration opportunities in the
market in order to maximise the profitability of the Group. During the
Year, the Group obtained new orders from multinational companies
for shipment from Southeast Asia to the USA. Such new business
strengthened the Group’s networking in Southeast Asia.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, it is estimated that there would
be keen competition for air cargo space as passenger flight
services have been largely suspended around the globe. The
Group anticipates that the cost of air cargo space will fluctuate
rapidly in the market. To maintain the profitability of the Group, the
Group generally would not enter into any long term commitments
with its customers, which would fix the selling price of air cargo
space. The Group would continue to seek for entering into block
space arrangement with airlines, the most influential suppliers of
the Group, in the long run. During the Year, the Group successfully
obtained one contract with an international airline.

The management is fully aware that the outbreak of COVID-19 has
huge impact on the Group’s ultimate customers which majority of
them are manufacturers of electronic products. The demand for
their goods in overseas may move downward. Some manufacturers
have already changed their production arrangement and schedule.
In response to the unpredictable operating environment, the
management will closely monitor the market situation, offer better
services to its customers and continue to exercise careful cost
controls to strengthen its competitiveness in the freight forwarding
industry.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue was primarily derived from (i) air freight
forwarding and related logistics services and (ii) sea freight
forwarding and related logistics services.

Total revenue of the Group increased by approximately 87.0%
from approximately HK$178.0 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$332.8 million for the Year. The revenue of the
Group increased significantly.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (&)

Revenue generated from air freight forwarding and related logistics
services for the Year amounted to approximately HK$299.9 million
(Previous Year: approximately HK$169.6 million), accounting for
approximately 90.1% of the Group’s total revenue (Previous Year:
approximately 95.3%). The revenue from this segment remained as
the major source of the revenue of the Group. The Taipei branch
commenced business in October 2019 and contributed a significant
portion of revenue to the air freight forwarding and related logistics
services during the Year. The Group also solicited new customers
from several multinationals during the Year which strengthened the
customer bases.

Revenue generated from sea freight forwarding and related
logistics services for the Year amounted to approximately HK$32.9
million (Previous Year: approximately HK$8.4 million), accounting
for approximately 9.9% of the Group’s total revenue (Previous
Year: approximately 4.7%). Most of the Group’s customers from
this segment are direct shippers. The revenue from sea freight
forwarding and related logistics services during the Year increased
significantly, which was caused by (i) due to the resumption of the
river sand shipment (the delivery of river sand for its customer from
overseas to the PRC) and (i) more orders received from existing
customers in Taipei branch and new customers in Vietnam.

Cost of services and gross profit

The Group’s cost of services increased by approximately 82.0%
from approximately HK$165.9 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$302.0 million for the Year. This increase was
mainly attributable to increase in the acquisition cost of air cargo
space due to the increase in unit costs and limited supply in air
cargo spaces.

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately 154.5%
from approximately HK$12.1 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$30.8 million for the Year. Gross profit margin
increased from approximately 6.8% for the Previous Year to
approximately 9.3% for the Year. The main reason for the increase
in gross profit margin was (i) the increase in the overall selling prices
of air cargo spaces, which resulted from the limited supply of air
cargo spaces, coupled with surging demand from customers during
the Year, such that the Group could command higher selling prices
which ultimately improved the gross profit of the freight-forwarding
and related services segment and (ii) cessation of charter flight
services which were of lower profit margin.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Other income

Other income included bank interest income from bank deposits
and other interest income from refundable rental deposits and
government grants.

The Group applied for the Employment Support Scheme launched
by the Hong Kong Government and approximately HK$1.0 million
(Previous Year: nil) of grants were obtained during the Year.

Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses included foreign exchange loss and gain
on disposals/write-offs of property, plant and equipment. The
Group recorded a net losses in other gains and losses during the
Year, which was mainly attributable to the exchange losses of
approximately HK$1.1 million. As the Group received payments
from some of its customers in United States Dollars (“USD”), the
Group suffered from the depreciation in USD.

Sales and marketing expenses

Sales and marketing expenses mainly included cost of business
development and soliciting new customers.

The marketing expenses increased slightly as the Taipei branch had
full year operation during the Year (Previous Year: 6 months).

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased to approximately
HK$24.4 million for the Year from approximately HK$25.6 million for
the Previous Year. Such expenses mainly included staff costs and
benefits, audit fee, legal and professional fee, depreciation, utilities
and other expenses. The decrease was mainly due to the combined
effect of (i) decrease in legal and compliance costs, professional
fee and printing charges of approximately HK$2.0 million and (ii)
increase in staff costs from approximately HK$13.5 million for the
Previous Year to approximately HK$14.3 million for the Year, which
was caused by the Group’s subsidiary in Shenzhen and branch in
Taipei, both of which had full 12 months operations during the Year.

EEER WD (&)

Hmur A

HA WA BRI RITIE RO RITHBUA - 7
REBRERSOEMH B A RBT##E
By o

AR B E R RS BUT R A
g WRAFEEGSMN.0OEERETCBESF
€ : )M -

Hw s & EE

Hitas B EBEIMNEBBUREE M
HYE - BEMEEORES - AEEEA
W REERAFRESRSFER  T2HR
SNEBELOIIBEBT - ARAEEREE
DEPASIT([ 37T DBEGRIR - AEE
HXETRENTE -

HENEHAX T ZBRREEBHERLAEH
BRI ©

HREIERFRED IR AFELESF (B
EFE :ANEA)  WEHASEM LT -

TR X

AEBENTHRAZBABEFELN25.6888
TR EREEHN244BEBT - BHERX
TERREEIRAREN - BZER - %2
NMEXEER  HE AHFZHEEREMMAS -
ERATEDBDTEANUTSENGAFERR
B (\WERREHRKAE - EXERUAKE
MEBRTRL2.0888T i) AEER
FIMHB AR RN et ERE D X (/W
MARYRAFE2EI2EALE)BHE
ITRARBEFEMNHISSEEBLEMNE
KEEMH14.3FBBTT -

BEEBBRERAR —O=-0—-—O=-—FF#H 9




Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (&)

Impairment losses recognised on trade
receivables, net

Under the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 “Financial
Instruments”, the management assesses the measurement of
expected credit losses (“ECL”) in relation to trade receivables
and uses collectively assessed provision matrix to calculate ECL.
During the Previous Year, an impairment loss of approximately
HK$0.2 million was recognised to reflect an increase in impairment
allowance as a result of non-performing asset during the Previous
Year. During the Year, a reversal of an amount of approximately
HK$0.2 million (Previous Year: approximately HK$0.3 million) was
recognised while additional approximately HK$0.4 million (Previous
Year: approximately HK$0.2 million) was further provided from new
financial assets originated.

Impairment losses recognised on deposits and
other receivables, net

During the Year, ECL of approximately HK$0.2 million was
recognised (Previous Year: nil) due to the significant increase in
other receivables.

Other expenses

Other expenses represented professional fee paid during the
Previous Year.

Finance costs

Finance costs for the Year represented interest expenses on leases
liabilities and bank borrowings. Finance costs increased from
approximately HK$97,000 for the Previous Year to approximately
HK$129,000 for the Year, which caused by the increase in interest
on bank borrowings.

Income tax expense (credit)

The Group’s income tax expense (credit) primarily included
provisions for profits tax and deferred income tax expense. As
a profit before taxation (Previous Year: loss before taxation of
approximately HK$19.6 million) of approximately HK$0.9 million for
the Year was recorded, an income tax expense of approximately
HK$0.4 million was recorded for the Year (Previous Year: income
tax credit of approximately HK$0.3 million).

Profit (loss) from continuing operation for the year

The Group recorded a profit from continuing operation for the
year of approximately HK$0.5 million for the Year, compared to
a loss from continuing operation for the year of approximately
HK$19.3 million for the Previous Year. The turnaround was mainly
due to the effects of (i) increase in the gross profit of the Group
of approximately HK$18.7 million and (ii) government grants of
approximately HK$1.0 million received during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables (net of allowance for impairment of trade
receivables) increased by 48.2% from approximately HK$44.4
million at 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$65.8 million at 31
March 2021. Such increase was primarily attributable to additional
revenue of approximately HK$23.2 million recorded in January,
February and March 2021 when compared to the corresponding
month in the Previous Year.

The Group’s prepayment, deposits and other receivables increased
at 31 March 2021 as the Group disposed a subsidiary and recorded
receivables (net of allowance for impairment of other receivables)
from the purchaser of approximately HK$8.6 million.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables increased by 77.7% from approximately HK$26.9
million at 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$47.8 million at 31
March 2021. The increase was mainly due to the increase in cost of
services of approximately HK$18.6 million incurred in February and
March 2021 when compared with that of Previous Year.

Other payables and accrued expenses increased by approximately
12.5% from approximately HK$2.4 million at 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$2.7 million at 31 March 2021. The change
was mainly due to the (i) increase in accrued service charge of
approximately HK$0.8 million and (i) decrease in accrued audit fee
of approximately HK$0.5 million.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the
Year.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

The Group funded the liquidity and capital requirements for the Year
primarily through internal resources and bank borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (&)

At 31 March 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$26.7 million (at 31 March 2020: approximately
HK$15.9 million) and time deposits over three months of
approximately HK$1.2 million (at 31 March 2020: approximately
HK$2.8 million), most of which were either denominated in HKD,
USD or RMB.

At 31 March 2021, the Group had bank borrowings in the sum of
approximately HK$3.6 million (at 31 March 2020: nil). The Group
had leases liabilities of approximately HK$3.1 million at 31 March
2021 (at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$10.6 million).

Gearing ratio is the current debt (including bank borrowings and
lease liabilities) divided by total equity and multiplied by 100% at
the year-end date. The gearing ratio of the Group at 31 March
2021 was approximately 11.6% (at 31 March 2020: approximately
13.8%). As a result of the decrease in lease liabilities and increase
in total equity, the gearing ratio of the Group decreased as at the
reporting date.

During the Year, the Group did not employ any financial instrument
for hedging purpose.

The Directors are of the view that, at the date of this Annual Report,
the Group’s financial resources are sufficient to support its business
and operations.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 March 2021, bank deposits of approximately HK$1.2 million
(at 31 March 2020: approximately HK$2.8 million) was pledged to
secure the guarantee facilities obtained by the Group and certain
property, plant and equipment of the Group with a carrying amount
of HK$0.7 million (at 31 March 2020: nil) were held under finance
lease. Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any charges on its
assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the Year, the Group received payments from the Group’s
customers in foreign currencies, such as USD, Euro (“EUR”), RMB
and NTD, and also settled some of its cost and expenses with
suppliers in foreign currencies, such as in USD, EUR, RMB and
NTD. The Group is exposed to certain foreign exchange risks in
respect of depreciation or appreciation amongst those currencies.
The Group’s operating activities are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks
primarily arising from provisions of services to customers and
payments of cost of services to suppliers whose operating activities
are denominated in foreign currencies. Although the Group does
not maintain any specific hedging policy or foreign currency forward
contracts, the Group’s management closely monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should it become necessary.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

At 31 March 2021, the Group had no outstanding capital
commitments (at 31 March 2020: nil) for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment. Save for the plans disclosed in
the Prospectus, the Company’s announcement(s) or this Annual
Report, the Group did not have any future plans for material
investments or capital assets at 31 March 2021.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, there were no material acquisitions and disposal of
subsidiary by the Group during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the Year.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Year, the Group invested approximately HK$1.6 million
in property, plant and equipment, mainly attributable to leasehold
improvement in Taipei office and right-of-use assets in Shenzhen
office and Hong Kong.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities both at 31
March 2020 and at 31 March 2021.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
since 1 April 2020. The share capital of the Company consists of
ordinary shares of the Company only.

At 31 March 2021, the Company’s issued share capital was HK$8.4
million, the number of its issued ordinary shares was 840,000,000
and the par value of each ordinary share was HK$0.01.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (&)

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Year. The management of the Group
regularly reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debtors to ensure prompt recovery and if necessary, to make
adequate impairment losses for irrecoverable amounts. During the
Year, a sum of approximately HK$0.6 million for impairment losses
on deposits, other and trade receivables was recognised (Previous
Year: approximately HK$0.3 million), included the impairment
losses charged in the discontinued operation for both years.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

The freight forwarding market in the financial year ended 31 March
2021 has been unpredictably challenging due to a slowdown
in global economic activity, which was further amplified by the
COVID-19 global pandemic. The Group’s operations in Hong Kong
was inevitably affected.

The Group is positive to the future freight forwarding market in
Hong Kong. To focus on its core business, the Group disposed
the warehousing and related value-added services during the
Year. With the introduction of vaccine and further removal of the
lockdown measures, the global economy would gradually recover.
The Group believes that the demand for air cargo services would be
huge when the economies in the USA and Europe recover after the
pandemic.

As mentioned in the Chairman’s Statement, the airfreight rates
indicate a rising trend in the upcoming months. The Group needs
to retain more cash to settle the trade debts to suppliers. The
businesses in Shenzhen and Taipei recorded losses in the past
year. Due to the credit limits obtained from suppliers, the Taipei
branch demanded huge cash support from the Group. Under such
circumstances, the Group took prompt action to strip businesses
with dim prospects in Shenzhen and Taipei and adopted a more
prudent approach by re-focusing its operation fully in Hong Kong.
Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group sold
the operations in Shenzhen and Taipei to two independent third
parties. It was also a simple way for the Group to realise its asset for
cash and restore the financial position of the Group in a timely and
appropriate manner in order to sustain its continuing operation and
business in Hong Kong.

The outlook in the upcoming year may not be as clear as the

management expected. The management will continue to tighten
the cost and monitor the needs of the customers carefully.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

At 31 March 2021, the Group employed 19 staff in Hong Kong,
2 staff in the PRC and 9 staff in Taiwan (at 31 March 2020: 45 staff
in Hong Kong, 7 staff in the PRC and 7 staff in Taiwan).

For the Year, the Group’s total cost for employee compensation
and benefits (including Director’s emoluments) was approximately
HK$23.0 million (Previous Year: approximately HK$21.1 million).
Remuneration is determined with reference to market terms,
industrial norms and the performance, qualifications and experience
of the employees.

Apart from basic remuneration, share options may be granted by
the Company to eligible employees by reference to the Group’s
performance as well as the individual’s contribution. As disclosed
in the Prospectus, the Company adopted a share option scheme
on 14 August 2018 (“Share Option Scheme”) to incentivize and
retain staff members who have contributed to the development and
success of the Group. The Directors believe that the compensation
packages offered by the Group to its employees are competitive in
comparison with market standard and practices.

During the Year, the Group’s employees attended trainings in
relation to air cargo operations and safety, listing rules, tax and
accounting.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has in all material
respects compiled with all relevant laws, rules and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group and its operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (&)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group regarded environmental protection as an integral part
of its operations. The management of the Company has promoted
green concept in the daily operations through energy saving
program and reduce resources consumption. When the Group
improved the lighting of the office, the Group already considered
using LED lights to reduce energy consumption. Employees are
encouraged to switch off air conditioning and electrical appliances
when they are not in use. The Group’s operation has complied in
all material respects with currently applicable local environmental
protection laws and regulations in Hong Kong, the PRC and Taiwan
during the Year.

For details of environmental, social and governance performance
of the Group, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group always maintains good relations with its employees,
customers, suppliers, subcontractors and other stakeholders.

The management of the Group takes an active approach in directly
communicating with employees and provide adequate training and
medical insurance as part of their remuneration. During the Year,
the Group acquired medical insurance to eligible employees and
rendered various types of training to sharpen their skills. The Group
arranged disinfecting cleaning products for the office premises and
warehouse in Hong Kong. To protect the employees, the Group
provided COVID-19 screening tests to the employees and sub-
contractors. Visitors and staff were requested to wear masks when
they visited the Group’s office premises and warehouse.

The Group treasures the close and long-term working relations
with its customers in the past years. The management paid
frequent visits to the customers, collected their feedback towards
the services provided and introduced updated and value-added
services to them.

Likewise, the Group also understands the importance of its
suppliers and subcontractors. The Group believed a harmonious
relationship with its suppliers and subcontractors is key to the
success of the business.

During the Year, there was no material or significant dispute

between the Group and its employees, customers, suppliers,
subcontractors and other stakeholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE OFFER

EEER WD (&)
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The Shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of A ARIKMKIIN —ZZ— N\Fh B A HEH
the Stock Exchange on 5 September 2018 (the “Listing”). The ZFGEM ET([ LM ]) o KA A A4
total net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) from the Listing of the  FT{5 k18 % %8 (| FT/S X I18,% %8 |) 49540.0
Company amounted to approximately HK$40.0 million. On 28 HE#&HrT HR-_Z—hENA-+=H &=
August 2019, the Board resolved to change the use of the Net H&Z AF NAEFHIEFEAS - EHK
Proceeds in connection to developing the Group’s own trucking ZANEBBEBEBFHNREE(E—REEESD
fleet to general working capital (the “Change in Use of Proceeds”). ([EXERERE]) - BAFAERER
Details of the Change in Use of Proceeds are set out in the #ZMzFEBEHNAQNGIHBAA-Z—LENA
Company’s announcements dated 23 August 2019 and 3 October —+=HE-_F—NE+A=BHXE(H
2019 (collectively the “UOP Announcements”). On 27 May 2020, B[ EXAERERSBRAE]) R-_ZE-=F
the Board further resolved effect a sum of approximately HK$13.5 FERA-++H  E=@E—FHAEEE
million would be utilised to further expanding the warehouse in & X AN13. 5B BB T REREE —FE
Hong Kong (the “Change in Use of Proceeds 2020"). Details are set #IAEHEBHNEE (| —E - F B NHEHIE
out in the Company’s announcement dated 27 May 2020 (the “UOP  Fi& ) - F1BEEH AR AR HE AT -F
Announcement 2020”). On 22 March 2021, the Board resolved to HA-++HMAE([ 2 -_FF B HHE
dispose the entire equity of Fu Yo. As such, the Group discontinued FIERSGZAE]) N_EBE-_—F=/F—-+=
its operations in warehousing and related value-added services H @ EZ@hFHESANITIE o
on 31 March 2021. The Board then further resolved that the it - KEBR ST -—F=A=+—HKIF
remaining Net Proceeds of approximately HK$12.1 million would —E & R ERE 2 X528 - f5E -
be applied to general working capital of the Group (the “Change ZZ@# — A AR BHENIEFEBEYD
in Use of Proceeds 2021”). Details are set out in the Company’s 12 1B & B THEEAER —BLEZSS ([ =
announcement dated 22 March 2021 (the “UOP Announcement Z - —F@RAERERAS]) o FBEHNAK
2021"). Details of the application of the Net Proceeds from the RARIBHA-ZT-_—F=-"A-+-_HHAXSH
Listing till 31 March 2021 are set out below: ([ZBE-—FFENAEFREBEBRSEAE]) - A
WE FmEEE_F_—4=HA=1—8Mm
SRIEFENARTEHINNT
Amount of the
Net Proceeds Use of
adjusted in Net Proceeds The Change
the manner The Change in  subsequent to in Use of Use of
asstatedinthe  The Changein Use of Proceeds  the Change ~ Amount of the Proceeds  Net Proceeds Amount
Prospectus Use of Proceeds  according to inUseof NetProceeds  accordingto  subsequentto notyet Expected
priorto  according to the UOP  Proceedsand utilised from the UOP  the Change utilised at ~ timelines
Use of the the Change in the UOP Announcement Changein Use of the Listing Date  Announcement in Use of 3 March ~ for the Actual business progress
Net Proceeds UseofProceéds Announcements 202 Procee%s 2;%22 to 22 March 2021 2&2% Proceeds 2021 2021 intended use  up to 31 March 2021
\ o]
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Further expanding The Groups already updated
the warehouses the implementation plan
in Hong Kong and signed a logistic senvice
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Amount of the
Net Proceeds Use of
adjusted in Net Proceeds The Change
the manner The Change in  subsequent to in Use of Use of
asstatedinthe  The Changein Use of Proceeds  the Change  Amount of the Proceeds  Net Proceeds Amount
Prospectus Use of Proceeds  according to inUseof NetProceeds  accordingto  subsequentto notyet Expected
priorto  according to the UOP  Proceedsand utilised from the UOP the Change utilised at  timelines
Use of the the Change in the UOP Announcement Changein Use of  the Listing Date  Announcement in Use of 31 March ~for the Actual business progress
Net Proceeds Use of Proceeds - Announcements 2020 Proceeds;ﬁ%? to22 March 2021 2*%%1 Proceeds 2021 2021 intended use  up to 31 March 2021
\E E /E
FEHNEREH REEAFE REC3-%F  MERER  IRREE - -k
RARERMS  RERERAE  EHA ’E%ili CEIEEEN CEC-FSf EMMRAE EAMREE RoEC E \
\ HREEEN EYfE REOSEY KRUERSAN _{CRCERN RRLREA  REANARE AR HEREN  BECSC-H=Act-A

FRSATERE  FRIGTELE FERE  MRNARE KRIERERE FRMGEFESE  FEANERE  RERER: ﬁiiﬁﬁﬁm RERER E@E%%ﬁﬁﬁ

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK§'000 HK$'000
T TAR TRR TR THE TAR TR THR

Settling commission, 1096 N/A (10,956) - - NA = - NA The Group resolved not to
deposits and rental rent anew wareouse.
nayments of new
Warehouses B R B ‘ .

XiMeEnAe TR Wyl TR RREZATERIEE
feliEe

Conducting 1281 /A (1,189) R 9 - - - - The Group already completed
Tenovation work B renovation work,

LR HiER REERTHEBIE:

Instaling anti-theft 152 /A ) 55 53 2 - - NA The Group aeady intalled
system B B ant- heﬂsystem %Note)

ZRIAZ Nk Nk 1& EEK“W

\M DE/

Purchasing burglary, 29 N/A 8 27 R (203) 5 - NA The Group already entered
flood and fire into agreements with the
insurance - = msurancepovwders (Note.
BEAZ - JRA Nk Nk REERERRARRTT
Ui i (Kit) -

Purchasing forkift 943 N/A (943 - - NA = - NA The Group resolved not to
frucks purchase forkft trucks
and scales B B B and scales,

EETERT N Iy i a5 TEEZRMEERERT -

Leasing forkift trucks N/A N/A 611 611 159 (452) - - NA The Group already rented two

forklif trucks, settled the
deposits and paid the rental
B p on mon h\y basis (Note).
YE Nk Ixiki EERRSHANE
ENReUERA
R4

Settling deposits, N/A /A 12516 12,516 2,563 (9,953 - - NA The Group already paid the
uilties and deposits and settled the
services fees for utlities and senvice fees
warefiousing and (Note).
related services B B B ‘ ‘

R TR TR TR 1‘%5&17%_'
?g% KERE J‘mﬁm&&ﬁ%
g (i) °
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWE DT (&)

Amount of the
Net Proceeds Use of
adjusted in Net Proceeds The Change
the manner The Change in  subsequent to in Use of Use of
asstatedinthe The Changein Use of Proceeds  the Change  Amount of the Proceeds  Net Proceeds Amount
Prospectus Use of Proceeds  according to inUseof NetProceeds  accordingto  subsequentto notyet Expected
priorto  according to the UOP  Proceedsand utilised from the UOP the Change utilised at  timelines
Use of the the Change in the UOP Announcement ChangeinUseof the Listing Date  Announcement in Use of 3 March ~ for the Actual business progress
Net Proceeds Use of Proceeds - Announcements 2020 ProceedsZOZEO to 22 March 2021 2*%%1 Proceeds 2021 2021 intended use  up to 31 March 2021
\E i fﬁ
HEHERGH REEAFE REC3-%F  MERER  IFR4E 3. CE--f
RARERA REARAT  EANARS -BSEER -§--5-f  BNRERE  ERRANE  po8o-E \
\ HREREN EYfE REOEEN FRUERSAN _{CRCERN RRAREA  REANAE AR REREN  BECSC-H=Act-A
FRSATERE  FRAGTELE HERE  KRIERE FENGTERE MEAETESE KEAARE  JERERR ﬁiiﬁﬁﬁ’)ﬁ%ﬁ BERER E’JEF?%ME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TRR TR THE TAR TR THR
Atracting and 14701 8,573 - 6,154 4,701 (1453) - - NA The Group recruited two sales
retaining talented staff, acouired medical
and Insurance and provided
experienced training to the staff, The
personnel Group resolved not fo
employ truck drivers as a
resul of not developing its
own trucking flegt,
The Group already hired of
. warehouse staff (Note).
Rel g 2 27 TR REELESHAREAS
REROAR BEEBRRRMATEL
Sl mirataagn
g 1EEERERE
Eaf e
REERREEEAR ()
Developing the 8,075 (6,075) NA - - N/A - - NA The Group resolved not to
frucking fleet implement the plen of
developing its own
‘ frucking flet.
REH TR TR TR IEEJ&/?TJEHH‘XHQ%
Further enhancing 2,442 (642) NA 1900 1900 N/A - - - The Group finished upgrading
the information the warehouse management
fechnology systems system, instaling new
servers and strengthening
firewalls and personal
computers. As the Group
resolved not to develop
its own trucking flegt, i
would not be necessary
to develop and install the
- . . correspondmgGPSsysem
E-SIEEARE Wk Wik TEEETHReEEE
A A0 TRAfhe &u
SIAEREAZH - it
FEEGRMAAESE
B MM\ FRRZE
EBAGPSEE -
BEERRERAT —O0=Z0-—O0=—%F®% 19




. Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwWE DT (&)

Amount of the
Net Proceeds Use of
adjusted in Net Proceeds The Change
the manner The Change in  subsequent to in Use of Use of
asstatedinthe  The Changein Use of Proceeds  the Change  Amount of the Proceeds  Net Proceeds Amount
Prospectus Use of Proceeds  according to inUseof NetProceeds  accordingto  subsequentto notyet Expected
priorto  according to the UOP  Proceedsand utilised from the UOP the Change utilised at  timelines
Use of the the Change in the UOP Announcement ChangeinUseof the Listing Date  Announcement in Use of 3 March ~ for the Actual business progress
Net Proceeds Use of Proceeds  Announcements 2020 Proceeds;ﬁ%? t022 March 2021 2*%%1 Proceeds 2021 2021 intended use up to 31 March 2021
\E E /ﬁ
FEHNEREH REEAFE REC3-%F  MERER  IRREE - -k
RARERMS  RERERAE  EHA ’E%XIE CEIEEEN CEC-FSf EMMRAE EAMREE RoEC E \
 FREEEN 0 BANE  BADSEA HARERAAN 1ZREBAN BA0GEX  MBAMEE SATi-B ERMEN  EE-3--52RIi-f
FRSATERE  FRIGTELE FERE  MRNARE KRIERERE FRMGEFESE  FEANERE  RERER: Hﬁ!ﬁm@%ﬁ RERER H@E%%ﬁﬁﬁ
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK§'000 HK$'000
TR Tn TR Tn Tn T Tin TAn
General working 1258 17,190 NA 18,448 18,448 12,083 2001 9,786 By 31 July 2021 The Group already utlised
capital part of the general working
capitalto finance its cost
of senvices, in particular in
ar freight forwarding and
related logistic busingss.
The Group will continue to
setfe the air cargo space
acqwsw on cost In the
) upcoming months.
-fheEEe TR ZEo-E ] REERAGRTS
ST-BH A MANERH
LAREBRER
1 148
BRCERERIEES
ZISO
40,013 40,013 2790 9786
Note:  The Group further resolved to discontinue the warehousing and related Mizk © ANEEE—SRZRIEAFHRBEIZERSE -

value-added services.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Mr. Thomas Loy), aged 50, was appointed
as a Director on 18 August 2017 and re-designated as an executive
Director, appointed as Chairman on 1 November 2017 and further
appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 16 November 2020. He is
also a Controlling Shareholder of the Company. Mr. Thomas Loy
served as general manager of Union Air Cargo Limited (“Union Air”)
since 1 May 2014 and was appointed as the sole director of Union
Air on 20 June 2015. Mr. Thomas Loy is responsible for the overall
business development, strategy and management of the Group. Mr.
Thomas Loy is the elder brother of Mr. Loy Hak Moon.

Mr. Thomas Loy has over 30 years of experience in the logistics
industry and has obtained valuable knowledge in the overall
development of sales and operations management and procedures
in the industry.

Mr. Thomas Loy is a member of the nomination committee of
the Board and he was further appointed as the Chairman of the
nomination committee with effect from 1 April 2021.

Zhang Pangfei (Mr. Zhang), aged 29, was an Executive Director
with effect from 1 January 2021. Mr. Zhang obtained a Bachelor of
Arts degree at Jiangsu Normal University. Mr. Zhang had worked
in various industries such as banking, logistics and culture for six
years.

Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall strategic development of
the Group, the evaluation and expansion of new businesses and
will share his knowledge and experience in the People’s Republic of
China.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

EERSREEERE (&)

Wu Yushan (Ms. Wu), aged 38, has over 10 years of experience in
finance field.

Ms. Wu has been appointed as an executive Director of the
Company with effect from 23 March 2021.

She obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics (78 81 48 K 22), the People’s
Republic of China and a master’s degree in International Banking
and Financial Studies from University of Southampton, the United
Kingdom. Between October 2009 and July 2015, she joined Risk
Management Monitoring Software Limited (1t RE M AR D
7)), a Beijing-based software development company providing
services for global derivatives markets trading, risk management
and settlement software solution. From August 2015 to November
2019, she joined Donghai International Financial Holdings Company
Limited (32,8 BB < BhiZ i% AR A 7)) with her last position as senior
director and head of Brokerage Business Department.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lo Wing Sang (Mr. Lo), aged 54, was appointed as an executive
Director on 1 November 2017 and was redesignated as a non-
executive Director on 22 April 2020. He is primarily responsible
for advising the Company on corporate development, strategic
planning and accounts and financial activities of the Group.

Mr. Lo has over 25 years of experience in management, auditing
and corporate finance, and worked in a large international
accounting firm. Mr. Lo is a practicing member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of both
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and,
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lo is also
an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries.

Mr. Lo has been the company secretary, authorised representative
and financial controller of Century Group International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2113) since 1 October 2019 and has
resigned from the positions of company secretary and authorised
representative on 28 May 2021. He was further appointed
as the executive director, company secretary and authorised
representative of China Trustful Group Limited (stock code: 8265)
on 20 May 2020 and has resigned from the aforesaid positions on
30 July 2020.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

Liao Daichun (Mr. Liao), aged 50, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 23 April 2021.

Mr. Liao, has over 20 years of experience in hospitality industry.
He obtained a bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering
(mechanical and manufacturing) from Guangxi University (7R
&) the People’s Republic of China. Between 1994 and 2010, he
joined Guangxi Wharton International Hotel Limited* (5 78K 8 B B
KBJEA PR A R]) with his last position as general manager. Between
2011 and 2017, he joined Guangxi Yihe Xinyuan Hotel Limited* (/&
FAEE AT E X BIEBR A F) as general manager. Between 2018
and 2019, he served as general manager of Nanning Kang Shan Da
Network Technology Company Limited* (FZm EREERERIEA
fR 2 A]). Since 2020, he serves as general manager of Guangdong
Jiyueke Brand Management Company Limited* (&5 £ 48 %
BERRR).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Ng Kam Tsun (Mr. Ng), aged 48, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 14 August 2018. He is responsible for
participating in making significant decisions and giving advice on
corporate governance, connected transactions and remuneration
and nomination of Directors and senior management of the Group.

Mr. Ng has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting.

Since September 2015, Mr. Ng has been serving Fulum Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1443) as the chief financial officer,
company secretary and authorised representative, responsible for
corporate finance management, corporate governance, investor
relations management and company secretarial function.

For identification purpose
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

EERSREEERE (&)

Mr. Ng was awarded a Bachelor of Business by Monash University
on January 2003; a Master degree in Management by the Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics on March 2006; and a Master
of Laws by the Chinese University of Hong Kong on November
2014. Mr. Ng has been a certified practising accountant and fellow
of CPA Australia since July 2002 and December 2010, respectively.
He has also been a member and fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since December 2002 and September
2009, respectively.

Mr. Ng is the Chairperson of the audit committee, a member of each
of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Board.

Wu Ka Chee, Davy (Dr. Wu), aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 14 August 2018 and
resigned on 31 March 2021. He was responsible for participating
in making significant decisions and giving advice on corporate
governance, connected transactions and remuneration and
nomination of Directors and senior management of the Group.

Dr. Wu had been a lecturer in the School of Law of City University
of Hong Kong from March 1997 to August 1999. He has been a
lecturer of the Department of Accountancy and Law at the Hong
Kong Baptist University since September 1999, with his current
position as a senior lecturer since September 2009.

Dr. Wu was awarded a Bachelor of Laws by the University of Hong
Kong on November 1993; a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws on
June 1994; and a Doctor of Philosophy on December 2003. He
was also awarded a Master of Business Administration by the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University on October 2013.

Dr. Wu had been an independent non-executive director of
Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holding Limited (stock code: 1529,
transferred to the Main Board on 19 December 2019) since 26
September 2017.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

Dr. Wu is a co-author of the Guide to Corporate Governance
for Subvented Organisations and also Volume 29 of Halsbury’s
Laws of Hong Kong, the focus of which is the Securities and
Futures Ordinance. He was appointed by the Financial Services
and Treasury Bureau of the Hong Kong Government to the
advisory groups on the Rewrite of the Companies Ordinance and
Modernisation of Corporate Insolvency Law. He is joint director
of Professional Diploma in Insolvency for the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a member of the
Assessment Review Panel of Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries.

Chow Ming Po, Aaron (Mr. Chow), aged 48, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 24 June 2019. He is
responsible for participating in making significant decisions and
giving advice on corporate governance, connected transactions
and remuneration of Directors and senior management of the
Group.

Mr. Chow is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow obtained
his Bachelor of Laws degree and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
from the University of Hong Kong respectively in 1995 and 1996.
Mr. Chow was admitted as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong
Kong in 1998. Mr. Chow is one of the founders of V. Hau & Chow,
a firm of solicitors in Hong Kong, and has been a partner of the firm
since 2006. Mr. Chow currently serves as the legal adviser for the
Hong Kong Pui Ching Alumni Association Limited and an honorary
legal adviser for the Hong Kong Chinese Civil Servants’ Association.

Mr. Chow was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Grand Brilliance Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8372) on
18 June 2021.

Mr. Chow is the Chairperson of the remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee of the Board. Mr. Chow was further
appointed as a member of nomination committee with effect from
1 April 2021.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

EERSREEERE (&)

Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (Mr. Ho), aged 49, is a qualified professional
accountant with over 20 years in auditing, accounting and financial
management. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He held senior position
in a number of public companies in Hong Kong. He graduated
from the Hong Kong Shue Yan College (currently known as Hong
Kong Shue Yan University) with a honours diploma in accounting
in July 1996. Mr. Ho was also an independent non-executive
director of Wuxi Sunlit Science and Technology Company Limited*
(Stock Code: 1289) between August 2013 and June 2021, the
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Ho has served as an independent non-executive director of King
Force Group Holdings Limited (currently known as Greatwalle Inc.)
(Stock Code: 8315) between September 2016 and July 2018 and
as an independent non-executive director of Zuoli Kechuang Micro-
finance Company Limited* (Stock Code: 6866) between April 2014
and June 2020, and also as shares of which are listed on GEM and
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange respectively.

Mr. Ho is a member of the remuneration committee and the audit
committee of the Board.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Loy Hak Moon (Mr. HM Loy), aged 48, was appointed as Director
on 10 August 2017 and re-designated as an executive Director
and appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 1 November 2017.
Mr. HM Loy resigned from the aforesaid positions on 16 November
2020. He is also a Controlling Shareholder of the Company. He is
primarily responsible for operations and business expansions of the
Group. Mr. HM Loy is the founder of Orient Zen Logistics Services
Limited and Fu Cheng Logistics Co. Limited. He is the younger
brother of Mr. Thomas Loy.

Mr. HM Loy has accumulated more than 25 years of experience in
the logistics industry and has obtained comprehensive knowledge
and experience in its business development and operation
management in the freight forwarding and logistics industry. Mr. HM
Loy also completed trainings in dangerous goods handling in the
past years.

For identification purpose
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

Ip Hung Kwong (Mr. Ip), aged 40, has been operation manager
since 1 May 2014, primarily responsible for managing the inbound
and outbound logistics operations, including safe execution of
the daily operational plans and strategies, to manage, lead and
allocate resources, disseminate information to teammates, safety
performance, and quality management.

Mr. Ip has over 20 years of experience in the industry of airfreight
transportation and logistics. Prior to joining the Group, he worked
as operation clerk at UAC Freight Limited from May 2000 and left
the company in March 2014 with his last position as operation
manager (airfreight department), primarily responsible for airfreight
import and export documentation and arrangement of local delivery.

Mr. Ip completed and successfully passed with distinction in a
number of training courses conducted by Alliance Knowledge
Management Limited, namely (1) Regulated Agent Regime (RAR)
Security Training conducted in accordance with the training
programme required by the Civil Aviation Department of Hong Kong
on February 2012 and March 2015, respectively; (2) Dangerous
Goods Awareness Training (for Category 4 and Category 5
Personnel) conducted in accordance with the training programme
required by the Civil Aviation Department of Hong Kong, on May
2013, May 2015 and May 2017, respectively; (3) Lithium Battery
Certification for Air Transport Professional Training on February
2017 and (4) Regulated Air Cargo Screening Facility (RACSF)
Security Training conducted in accordance with the training
programme required by the Civil Aviation Department of Hong Kong
on 10 December 2018. Mr. Ip also obtained a pass with distinction
for a training course in Basic Dangerous Goods Regulations —
Category 1 & 3 course conducted by LTK Consultant Ltd. on 5
January 2019.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

EERSREEERE (&)

Wong Ka Man (Mr. Wong), aged 54, was appointed as chief
financial officer on 1 August 2017, primarily responsible for financial
planning, financial report to shareholders and the board, managing
financial risks and fund raising.

Mr. Wong has more than 30 years of experience in audit and
accounting, with several years of working experience in companies
listed in Hong Kong and New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong is a
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

Fung Nga Fong (Ms. Fung), aged 46, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 1 November 2017. She
has been the financial controller since 23 October 2017, primarily
responsible for managing accounts and monitoring internal
controls.

Ms. Fung has more than 15 years of experience in audit and
accounting.

Ms. Fung has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since February 2008 and a practicing certified
public accountant since July 2015, and has been admitted to The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators as an associate in May
2011.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Corporate
Governance Report for the Year ended 31 March 2021.

The Board is committed to achieving good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Directors believe that good
corporate governance practices are essential to enhance
stakeholders’ confidence and support. From 1 April 2020 up to
31 March 2021, the Company complied with the code provisions
prescribed in the establishment and implementation of the
corporate governance guidelines containing principles and code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15
of the GEM Listing Rules except for the deviation from the code
provision of A.2.1. of the CG code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the
Company by the Directors (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).

Following specific enquiries to all of the Directors, each Director has
confirmed that he or she complied with the Required Standard of
Dealings throughout the period from 1 April 2020 up to 31 March
2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, two
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The number of independent non-executive Directors
represents more than one-third of the Board, which complies
with the requirement under Rules 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the
GEM Listing Rules. Their names are identified in various corporate
communications and in all announcements. The biographical
details and the relationship among the members of the Board
are disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and Senior
Management’s Biographies” of this Annual Report. Also, the Board
established three Board committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Board Composition

The Directors believe that the current composition of the Board
reflects the necessary balance of academic, professional
qualification, skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate for the requirements of the business and effective
leadership of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors
of the Company are experts in various business sectors. Under Rule
5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, at least one of the independent
non-executive Directors has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Directors are of the opinion that the present structure of the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company complies
with Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules and can ensure
independence and objectivity and provide checks and balances to
safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. Upon the
resignation of Mr. Loy Hak Moon (“Mr. HM Loy”) as the Chief
Executive Officer on 16 November 2020, Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas
(“Mr. Thomas Loy”) acts as both the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company. As of the date of this Annual
Report, the roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Company are not separate and both are performed by Mr.
Thomas Loy. The Company is in the process of identifying a suitable
person to act as the chief executive officer and shall make the
announcement as and when appropriate. Since the Directors meet
regularly to consider major matters affecting the operations of the
Company, the Directors consider that this structure will not impair
the balance of power and authority between the Directors and the
management of the Company and believe that this structure will
enable the Company to make and implement decisions promptly
and efficiently.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance standard, to
comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory requirements and
to meet the rising expectations of shareholders and investors.

Proceedings of Meetings

The Chairman is responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each Board meeting in consultation with all Directors
and the Company Secretary of the Company.

Prior notice of each Board meeting was given to all Directors at
least 14 days in advance of all regular Board meetings and the
Directors were invited to include matters of their special concerns
for discussion in the agenda. The Company Secretary assists
the Chairman in preparing agenda for each Board meeting. Draft
agenda for each Board meeting is circulated to all Directors to
enable them to include other matters in the agenda. The agenda
and accompanying board papers were then sent in full to all
Directors at least 3 days in advance or within reasonable time prior
to the relevant Board meetings.

The minutes of the Board meetings recorded in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the Board. The minutes of all Board
meetings and all other committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are available upon prior appointment for
inspection by any Directors, auditors or any relevant eligible parties
who are entitled to have access to such information.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Directors were reminded to declare any conflicts of interest at
the Board meetings and to abstain from voting and be excluded
from counting as quorum in that meeting whenever there are
potential or actual conflicts of interest arising.

Induction and Training for Directors

Every newly appointed Director of the Company will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction package to ensure
that he or she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operation and business and the relevant statues, common laws, the
Listing Rules, legal and regulatory requirements and governance
policies.

In compliance with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all
Directors shall participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company also acknowledges the importance of continuing
professional development for the Directors for a sound and effective
internal control system and corporate governance. In this regard,
the Company encouraged the Directors to attend relevant training
courses to receive the latest news and knowledge regarding
corporate governance. The Company will also from time to time
provide relevant briefings to all Directors to develop and refresh
their duties and responsibilities.

During the Year, all Directors have confirmed that they have
participated in continuing professional development such
as attending seminars, conferences and reading materials,
newspapers and journals.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles of Association of the Company contain provisions for
the appointment, re-election and removal of Directors.

Each executive Directors entered into a service contract with
the Company on their appointment dates, each non-executive
Directors entered into a service contract with the Company on their
appointment dates and each independent non-executive Director
signed a letter of appointment on their appointment dates. The
service contracts with the executive Directors and non-executive
Director and the letters of appointment with the independent non-
executive Directors are for an initial term of three years. The service
contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts may
be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and the applicable GEM Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

Each Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years but is eligible for re-election at an annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association. The Articles
further specify that any Directors appointed during the Year to fill
a casual vacancy are subject to re-election by shareholders at the
first general meeting after such appointments and any Directors
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Mr. Zhang Pangfei, Ms. Wu Yushan and Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo
(collectively the “Retiring Directors”) will retire from office as
Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of
the Company on 27 August 2021. The Retiring Directors will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

At the AGM, separate ordinary resolutions will be put forward to the
shareholders of the Company in relation to the proposed re-election
of the Retiring Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 28 December
2018. A summary of this policy, together with the implementation
are disclosed as below.

Summary of Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board of the Company. To achieve a sustainable
and balanced development, the Company encourages increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. In designing an appropriate composition of the
Board, the diversity of the Board has been considered from a
number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
sexual orientation, disability, nationality, religious or philosophical
relief, family status, educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Implementation of Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee reviews the composition of the
Board from diversified angles. At the date of this Annual Report,
the Board comprises eight members, amongst them, three are
independent non-executive Directors. All the executive Directors
and non-executive Directors have been working in the logistics,
freight forwarding, banking and financial industry, hotel industry
or listed companies for over a number of years. The independent
non-executive Directors have abundant experience in corporate
governance, legal services, finance as well as accounting. Taking
into account the existing needs of the Company, the combination
of the Board would bring about the necessary balance of skills
and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
development of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (Contlnued)

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy.

The Company will disclose details of the Board Diversity Policy
together with any measurable objectives it has set itself in this
regard and the progress made towards achieving those objectives
including the Company’s diversity profile, in the corporate
governance report set out in its Annual Report.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
on a regular basis to ensure the effectiveness. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 28 December 2018. A summary of this policy, together with the
implementation are disclosed as below.

Summary of Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach to guide the
Nomination Committee in relation to the selection, appointment and
re-appointment of the directors of the Company. This also ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience, knowledge and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. It also include the succession planning of the
Company’s key personnel.

Selection criteria

(@) The factors listed below would be used as reference by
the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate:

° character and integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

o accomplishment and experience in the business from
time to time conducted, engaged in or invested in by any
member of the Group;

° commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

o requirement for the Board to have independent
directors in accordance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing
Rules;

o Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving
diversity on the Board; and

o such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has
the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate.

Rigorous review is applied to assessing the continuing
independence of Directors having served for over 9
consecutive years, with attention to ensuring that they remain
independent in character and judgement, and continue
to present an objective and constructive challenge to the
assumptions and viewpoints presented by the management
and the Board.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with
their written consent to be appointed as Directors and to the
public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to
provide additional information and documents, if considered
necessary.

Nomination Procedures

(@)

34

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration
and approval. For proposing candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee
shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration
and recommendation. The Board shall have the ultimate
responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out in selection
criteria to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee shall rank them by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable).

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the Company
pursuant to its constitutional documents, the Nomination
Committee shall evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out in selection criteria to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship and where appropriate,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed
election of director at the general meeting.

Re-election of Directors at General Meetings

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring director including his/
her attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable, general
meetings, and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review and determine
whether the retiring director continues to meet the selection criteria
aforementioned.

Implementation of Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee of the Company shall nominate
suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as directors of the
Company at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual
vacancies.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Nomination Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy on a
regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness, will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions
to the Board for consideration and approval.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

The Company will disclose details of the Nomination Policy together
with any measurable objectives it has set itself in this regard and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives, in the corporate
governance report set out in its Annual Report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 28
December 2018. A summary of the Dividend Policy, together with
the implementation are disclosed as below.

Summary of Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to its
shareholders of the Company to be its goal. The Company’s
Dividend Policy aims to allow shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profit and for the Company to retain adequate reserves
for future growth. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board
would consider the following factors:

° general business conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Company;

° the financial condition and results of operations of the Group;

° the expected capital requirements and future expansion plans
of the Group;

° future prospects of the Group;

° statutory and regulatory restrictions;

° contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Group to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the
Company to the Company;

° taxation considerations;

° shareholders’ interests; and

° other factors the Board may deem relevant.

Implementation of Dividend Policy

The Board may pay out half-yearly or at other suitable intervals to be

settled by it any dividend which may be payable at a fixed rate if the

Board is of the opinion that the financial conditions and the profits

of the Company justify the payment.

The payment of dividend is also governed by the applicable laws
and regulations and the Company’s constitutional documents.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Monitoring and Reporting

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time
and there can be no assurance that dividend will be recommended
or declared in any particular amount for any given period. The
declaration of or recommendation of declaration of dividend is
subject to the absolute discretion of the Board. Even if the Board
decides to recommend and declare dividend, the form, frequency
and amount will depend upon the operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions and other factors of and affecting the Group.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Chairman leads the Board to formulate corporate mission,
visions and policies of the Group and to ensure that all Directors are
properly briefed on issues.

All executive Directors take an active interest in the affairs of the
Company with a good understanding of the business, and play
important roles in the daily operations and management of the
Company, the non-executive Directors advise the Company on
the corporate development, strategic planning and accounts
and financial activities of the Group, whilst all independent non-
executive Directors participate in the Board meetings and bring their
independent views and judgments on various issues.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed with a formal letter of appointment setting out the terms
and conditions of their respective appointment. Prior to their
respective appointment, each of the independent non-executive
Directors has submitted a written confirmation to the Company
and the Stock Exchange confirming their independence and has
undertaken to inform the Company and the Stock Exchange
as soon as practicable if there is any subsequent change of
circumstances which may affect their independence.

Independent non-executive Directors provide the Group with a wide
range of skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications
through their regular attendance at various committee meetings
and to provide operations on the affairs of the Company. They bring
independent opinion and judgment on the strategy and policies to
ensure that the interests of all shareholders are taken into account.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

The Company reviews annually and obtains confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors during their respective terms of appointment. During the
Year, the Company received written confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors his independence with
reference to Rule 5.09 of the regarding GEM Listing Rules. Based
on the confirmations, the Company considers that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent, in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules requirements.

Directors and Officers’ Indemnity

The Company subscribes for an insurance policy to cover for the
Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities in respect of potential legal actions
against the Directors and officers of the Company.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and to make appropriate recommendations
to the Board;

2. toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules; and

6. to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistle blowing policy.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and
monitoring the operations of the Group, the Board delegated certain
responsibilities to the senior management team of the Company,
including the day-to-day operations of the Group. Such senior
management team is accounted for their performance to the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (Contlnued)

During the Year, the executive Directors frequently met and
discussed with the senior management team in order to maintain
an effective feedback system and enable the Group to react to
changes or problems quickly and efficiently. The Board shall review
its arrangement on delegation of responsibilities and authority
regularly to ensure that such delegations are appropriate in view
of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that appropriate
reporting system is in place.

Each Directors is free to seek advice from and has access to the
Company’s senior management team independently.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board currently has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. All the committees are empowered by the Board
under their own terms of reference which have been posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and are available
for inspection by the shareholders of the Company upon request
made to the Company Secretary.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 14 August 2018 and at
the date of this Annual Report comprises three members. All of
them are independent non-executive Directors, namely:

Mr. Ng Kam Tsun (Chairman)
Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has
extensive commercial experience and the Audit Committee has
a suitable mix of expertise in various businesses, financial and
legal sectors and that the composition and establishment of the
Committee complies with the requirements under Rules 5.28 to
5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and CG Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are
not limited to (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;
(i) monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and reviewing the annual reports and accounts, half-year report
and quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them; and (iii) reviewing the financial
reporting, financial controls, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

During the Year, the Audit Committee met five times, including a
meeting with external auditor for audit planning. The attendance of
individual Directors at the Audit Committee meetings is set out on
page 42 of this Annual Report.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

1. Reviewed annual financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020, interim financial statements for the period ended
30 September 2020 and the quarterly financial statements
for the period ended 30 June 2020 and 31 December 2020
before submission to the Board for approval;

2.  Reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the
appointment of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as the external
auditor of the Company;

3. Reviewed the external auditor’s engagement letter and fee;

4.  Reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the
appointment of an Internal Control Review Adviser (the

“Adviser”) to perform internal audit for the Group;

5. Reviewed the effectiveness of internal control and risk
management systems of the Group;

6. Reviewed the annual audit plan for the Year; and

7.  Reviewed the updated internal control manual of the Group.
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 14 August 2018
and at the date of this Annual Report comprises three members, all
are independent non-executive Directors, namely:

Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron (Chairman)

Mr. Ng Kam Tsun
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation): (a) making recommendations to the Directors
regarding the policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policies; (b) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management;
(c) reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to Board’s corporate goals and objectives;
and (d) considering and approving the grant of share options to
eligible participants pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee met five times and
the attendance of each individual Director is set out on page 42 of
this Annual Report. The Remuneration Committee reviewed and
approved the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management.

The following table lists out in bands the remuneration of the
executive Directors and senior management whose names appear
in the “Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies” section
for the Year:

EERKRE (F)

FMZE eI ZREBFEETER : ()
REBEENSRETEABOFIMBER R
B RBLRIIER M ABEREORF R #H
BBR - MEFRLZZ  OREFERE
EENEREBABNTFMGE  OFEE
EEMRIEETH KRB R kit g E 8
EBHF MRS © R(d)Z B R ERIRIBRE
RS ERSEERNBRE -

RAFERN  FTHEZEERRTRREH
MEEMNESHEFCHEANRAFRFE42
H-#FHZEemi ItEEERSRER
ABRFEFE -

TRIEBI [EERSRERERERE |4
BWMITEE RS RETEABRANFE B B
EW

HK$ Number of persons
BT AE
1,000,001 - 2,000,000 2
1 - 1,000,000 9
Total

e 11

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members at the date
of this Annual Report, including one executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely:

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Kam Tsun
Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee is to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select, or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships.

REEEE

REZEGNAFHANH=RMEHEK
EREE-—RRITESTRMEBUIIFNTE
=Ny

AREEE(EE)
thifE k4t
FRRE L

REZEENIERE/VEABAEER
ARRESFENEMNAL  THERELEH
ATHEESSRERNETSRHER -

BEEEREARAT —O0-0-—O0-——&4®% 41




Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

During the Year, the Nomination Committee met four times and the WAFEERN @ RELEE@LHBITNAEGEH
attendance of each individual Director is set out on page 42 of this T & ER|E S LB LSRN R ERFE42
Annual Report. The Nomination Committee reviewed and approved B - {22 EE @t RIERTES KRBT
the appointment of executive Directors and independent non-  JEHITEEHNET

executive Director.

Attendance at Board meetings, Board Committee EZ=e &% 2EZESEE€ER
Meetings and Annual General Meeting REBFEARENLHERLSE

Individual attendance records of the relevant Directors during the HHEEZESZENAFEERNN@ERH BN T ¢
Year are as follows:

Number of Meetings attended

HESRXH
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Directors Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting
ERZEE yMzse REZEE
Es EZges 2E 2E E BRRBFEAS
Executive Directors:
HITEE
Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas 18 N/A N/A 4 1
BRELE TEH TEA
Mr. Loy Hak Moon ote? 12 N/A N/A N/A 1
= 5, 5T A () TNEA NE A NEH
Mr. Zhang Pangfei Mote? 5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
3 5B ok 2 e i T ER Taf el
Ms. Wu Yushan Meteii 1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
BRRR 42 2 £ () TEA TNE A NiE A NiE
Non-executive Director:
FHITESE :
Mr. Lo Wing Sang et 18 N/A N/A N/A 1
WA e A (i) TiE TiEA A
Independent Non-executive
Directors:
BUFHITESE :
Mr. Ng Kam Tsun 18 5 5 4 1
higEEE
Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy ®ote 18 5 5 4 1
ﬂ%%f@iuﬁ&v‘
Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron 18 5 5 N/A 1
ERRE L4 TERA
Notes: (i) Mr. Loy Hak Moon resigned on 16 November 2020. M () %gﬁ%iﬁ’:\:?:?i‘f‘—ﬁ +XH
B °
(i) Mr. Zhang Pangfei was appointed on 31 December 2020. (i) REREER-_Z_TF+-_A=+—
HEZE -
(i) Ms. Wu Yushan was appointed on 23 March 2021. (i) BRELXTR=_TE=_—F=A=+=H
BEE -
(iv) Mr. Lo Wing Sang was redesignated from an executive Director to a (v) BKEEER T -_FTFMA=-+=H
non-executive Director on 22 April 2020. RATESATAIERNTES -
(v) Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy resigned on 31 March 2021. (v) E}Eé%ﬁiﬁ@:?:—izﬂ =+—A
B °
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Besides the above Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board,
Mr. Thomas Loy held one Directors’ meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the Year.

Apart from said meetings, matters requiring Board’s approval were
also arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions of all
Board members.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Directors’ responsibilities in financial reporting

The Board is committed to providing a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the financial performance, position
and prospects of the Group. The Board, assisted by the Audit
Committee, oversees the financial reporting process of the
Group. The Audit Committee monitors the integrity of the financial
statements and quarterly, interim and annual reports and accounts
of the Group.

All Directors acknowledges their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group, which shall give a true
and fair view of the financial status of the Group. During the Year,
the Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to event or condition that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis.

The Company commits to announce its quarterly, interim and
annual results as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of
the relevant period and the financial year respectively as required
by the GEM Listing Rules and discloses all such information as
would enable the shareholders of the Company to assess the
performance, financial position and prospects of the Group.

Auditor’s responsibilities
The responsibilities of external auditor with respect to financial

reporting are set out in the Independent Auditor’s report on pages
98 to 104 of this Annual Report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

Auditor’s remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (retired on 21 August 2020), and £ e
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (appointed on 21 August 2020)

during the Year is set out as follows:

BB BN =

RAFEEN BN ARRINEZEE R
BMERSSMIT(R_ZE_FF)/\A
—t+—BEE) REXFM(ER)ETEE
BRARAR(R_T-_FF\A=-1+—H
EZE)mMeEImT

Fees paid/payable

et ENER
Services rendered HK$’000
Fr i 5 1Y BR 75 TET
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited EKAM(HD) SFMEBAER AR
Audit services Z BRI 800
Non-audit services' IEZERTE 95
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu =2 o BAEFR S ETAITT
Non-audit services? IEZE RS 162

The Audit Committee reflected their views to the Board that the
remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors
was reasonable and fair in all circumstances and there had been
no major disagreement between the external auditors and the
management of the Company during the Year.

Notes:

1

The fee paid for non-audit services was tax compliance services which
performed by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited's affiliated firms.

The fee paid for non-audit services included acting as internal control
review adviser for the Company in relation to, provision of internal controls
assessment and environmental, social and governance reporting services.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring
the risk management and internal control systems maintain sound
and effective. The Board also recognises internal audit assists
the Company to protect its assets. The Audit Committee assisted
the Board to fulfill its responsibility. The management provided a
confirmation to the Board that the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company maintains sound and effective
throughout the Year. The Board has adopted a risk assessment
policy on 8 March 2019.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The task of annual review of the internal audit of the Company
during the Year has been commissioned to an external professional
firm as its internal control review adviser (the “Adviser”). Such review
is conducted annually and cycles reviewed are under rotation basis.
The Adviser is not an affiliate with the Directors and the employees
of the Group and regards as an independent third party.

The scope of the internal control review carried out during the Year
includes:

1. Review of the design and internal control structure and
procedure for financial reporting and disclosure controls; and

2.  Review of the design and internal control structure and
procedure for information technology general control.

The Adviser conducted the annual review of the effectiveness of
the internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2021.
The aforementioned scope of review was previously determined
and approved by the Audit Committee. The Adviser has reported
major findings and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee.
All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed up by
the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board and Audit Committee are of the view
that there are no material internal control defeats noted. The Board
considered that the internal audit control system are effective and
adequate.

The Group has yet to establish its internal audit function during
the Year as required under CG Code C.2.5. The Audit Committee
and the Board, has considered the internal control review report
prepared by the Adviser and communications with the Company’s
external auditor in respect of any material control deficiencies
identified during the course of the financial statement audit to
form the basis to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee and the Board will continue to review the need for an
internal audit function on an annual basis.

Main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

The Board has the following responsibilities towards the risk
management and internal control systems:

° review and approve risk management policy, with the risk
management the framework and program on an ongoing
basis, including the design, implementation, monitoring,
maintenance and changes;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

LREARE ()

° evaluate and provide direction to the Group on the nature and
extent of the risks that shall be taken in achieving its strategic
objectives (i.e. setting the risk appetite);

° ensure review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems is conducted at least annually,
including changes and nature and extent of significant risks
from last annual review and the Group’s ability to respond
to changes in its business and external environment, the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of
risks, extent and frequency of communication of monitoring
results to the Board, significant control failings or weaknesses
identified during the period; and

° discuss the risk management framework and program with
the risk management taskforce and senior management to
ensure that operation management has fulfilled their duties
in establishing and maintaining an effective risk management
program.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
role in the Group’s financial reporting, financial controls, risk
management and internal controls systems. The Audit Committee
also discusses the risk management and internal control systems
with the Company’s management to ensure that the management
has performed its duty to have effective systems. Such discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting functions. The Audit Committee
considers major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings.

The management assists the Board in the implementation of the
Group’s policies, procedures and limits within the Board’s approved
risk appetite by identifying and assessing the risks faced, and in
the design, operation and monitoring of suitable internal controls to
mitigate and control these risks.

Risk assessment process
Risk assessment approach

A risk management program was carried out during the Year
to ensure all material risks to which the Company exposed are
properly identified, assessed, managed, monitored and reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board. To facilitate the risk
management process, the Group set up a risk management
taskforce which is comprised of senior management. The risk
management taskforce provides assistance to the department
heads in performing the annual risk assessment process.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Risk identification

Risks identification is based on questionnaire with department
heads from different departments. Risks are preliminary identified
by senior management from the risk inventory which is a collection
of risks built on industrial analysis and external benchmarking that
can impact the Group at the entity or specific business process
level. The risk inventory covers both internal and external risks in
four major areas, namely strategic risks, operational risks, financial
risks and regulatory risks. Key risk factors are then identified by
integrating the results of the questionnaire.

Risk evaluation and risk prioritisation

Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact
and likelihood of the identified key risk factors. These identified key
risk factors are further assessed by a scale rating process by the
department heads to evaluate their impact and likelihood. The scale
rating process is further supported by face-to-face meeting with the
department heads to assess the rationales of these identified key
risk factors behind.

Risk prioritisation is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to
prioritise the identified key risk factors according to their impact and
likelihood.

Risk reporting, managing and monitoring

Risk reporting and risk monitoring are essential and integral parts
of risk management. A risk assessment report was submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board. Department heads reviewed
and assessed the adequacy of existing controls in accordance
with the Board’s advice and suggestions, and determined and
implemented treatment plans where risks mitigate are actionable
and continuously monitored the development of current risks and
the emergence of new risks. The risk inventory report update is a
continuous work and the Group will update the risk inventory after
each annual review.

Handling and dissemination of inside
information

The handling and dissemination of inside information of the
Company is strictly controlled and remains confidential including
but not limited by the following ways:

1. Restrict access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis;

2. Reminder to employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

3.  Ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are in place
when the Company enters into significant negotiations or
dealings with third party; and

4, Inside information is handled and communicated by
designated persons to outside third party.

The Board and the senior management review the safety measures
regularly to ensure inside information is properly handled and
disseminated.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Recognising the importance of maintaining on-going
communication with shareholders, the Board establishes a
shareholders’ communication policy on 24 August 2018 and
reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. To
facilitate the timely, transparent and effective communication with
shareholders, the Board provides different communication channels
for shareholders and investors as follows:

o Corporate communications such as annual reports, quarterly
reports, interim reports, circulars, annual general meeting
and other general meeting that may be convened are issued
printed form and are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website
www.wanleader.com;

° A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on the
Company’s website. Information on the Company’s website is
updated on a regular basis;

° Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange
is also posted on the Company’s website immediately
thereafter;

° All presentation materials provided in conjunction with
the Company’s annual general meeting and results
announcement each year will be made available on the
Company’s website as soon as practicable after their release;

° All press release, newsletter, market consultations,
submissions and tender notices etc. issued by the Company
or its subsidiaries will be made available on the Company’s
website;

° Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the
meetings;

° Appropriate arrangements for the annual general meetings
shall be in place to encourage shareholders’ participation;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

° The process of the Company’s general meeting will be
monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary,
changes will be made to ensure that shareholders’ needs are
best served;

° Board members, in particular, either the chairmen or deputy
chairmen of Board committees or their delegates, appropriate
management executives and external auditors will attend
annual general meetings to answer shareholders’ questions;
and

° Shareholders are encouraged to attend shareholders’
activities organised by the Company, where information about
the Company, including its latest strategic plan, products and
services etc. will be communicated.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing
communication with the existing shareholders and potential
investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders
and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the Company may be sent
by post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meeting

Shareholders holdings, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If the Directors do
not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may themselves convene a meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company, and may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors to duly convene a meeting shall be
repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
repaid shall be retained by the Company out of any sums due
or to become due from the Company by way of fees or other
remuneration in respect of their services to such Directors as were
in default.

EERKRE (F)

s HEHEFERRIARTABRERAEH
B YERERETENR - AER
REHHERROFR

e EXEgNB(FHREFZREEERA
BIEFSEREK) BENEEABR
SNEERZ BN R R RIBFE ARG AR
BERERHER : R

s TEMBRHOFEARTBRHBEE
B WRZFEHTAREFEERR
ARBHER (BIEE KRS
B MRS ) -

ARRAB N (R I EHRRIER - Lo &
BEBRRMBEREENER - ARRRM
BEE FBNERABRALTRHER - AE
EEXARAELENERATHTEARARARN
BN T BERUE -

R RAE R
AHEREGHIARERRRRRE

FRZE=E

EARNE2ZREMFE N PRARANE
RARBBERAGREENHAERA+DZ
—HERR  ARNEAREREBENEST SN
NREMEBRREME R BREZTSAHRK
RERRE @ AREEBELPEANER
2 BRASENEEZZEREMEAR
BT - WNEZERKBABE21BAR - EFK
BEABRAAE  AIE2ERALTHEEHR
REMALT(ERERBZERERE—FIA
EE)AETTARAR -

BRARZLAIASEEN  YWERRZE
RALTRZBLRREARRARNGEMHER - B
ABEEZNH - AXNZREEZERALES
ERB LS A -

EEERALTHRESRELABRAGME
EZEREGERY  $HARREETERES
ZRAL - MBI EEERRBEGHAR
ARERN RGN EREETNRFBEX
Hir B (RE -

BEERRERAT —O0=Z0-—O0=—%F®% 49




Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

During the Year, there has been no extraordinary general meeting
convened, nor any relevant proposal received by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available in the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the board

Enquiries can be put to the Board through the Company Secretary
of the Company at Office Tower Units 901-902, Hutchison Logistics
Centre, Terminal 4, Kwai Chung Container Port, 18 Container Port
Road South, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong or email to
irwl@wanleader.com.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company
Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
From time to time, the Company Secretary advises the Board on
governance matters and ensures the board procedures, applicable
law, rules and regulations are followed.

The Company has appointed Ms. Fung Nga Fong (“Ms. Fung”) as
the Company Secretary. Ms. Fung has undertaken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training during the Year. The
biographical details of Ms. Fung are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies” of this Annual
Report.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Lo Wing Sang is the compliance officer of the Company. His
biographical details are set out in the section headed “Directors’
and Senior Management’s Biographies” of this Annual Report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Since 1 April 2020, there was no change in the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association. The memorandum and
articles of association of the Company is available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

LANGUAGE

If there is any inconsistency between the English version of this
Annual Report and the Chinese translation of this Annual Report,
the English version of this Annual Report shall prevail.
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The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ Report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principle activities of its subsidiaries include provision
of freight forwarding and related logistics services. Details of
activities of these principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements. During the Year, the Group
disposed Fu Yo Warehouse Logistics Company Limited. As such,
the Group discontinued the provision of warehousing and related
value-added services, which included labelling services, packaging
services and security screening services on 31 March 2021.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating
segment is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant to
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Company, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the Previous Year as
well as indication of likely future development in the business of the
Group are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis”of this Annual
Report respectively. An analysis using financial key performance
indicators, a discussion of the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, and its compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group as well as an
account of the key relationships with its stakeholders are contained
in “Five Year Financial Summary” on page 197 to 198, “Segment
Information” on pages 158 to 160, “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 64 to 97, “Environmental Polices and
Performance” on page 16, “Major Customers and Suppliers” of this
Directors’ report respectively. The above discussions form part of
this Directors’ Report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEREE)

Principal risks and uncertainties

There are certain risks involved in the Group’s operations and many
of which are beyond the Group’s control. Some of the relatively
material risks include (i) economic downturns or political disruptions
in the business activities of the Group’s customers may lead to
a corresponding plunge in demand for cargo space and related
logistics services from the Group, which may affect the Group’s
ability to execute its strategies; (i) cash flow may deteriorate due to
potential mismatch in time between receipt of payments from the
customers and payment to the suppliers, the Group’s cash flow
position may result in a material adverse position; (i) the Group is
exposed to risk related to exchange rate fluctuations, particularly
with respect to the USD; (iv) loss of major customers; and (v) market
sharing erosion and diminishing profit margin. The freight forwarding
industry that the Group is operating in is highly sensitive to market
competition, global and local economic conditions, market demands
for the services, the fuel prices and other cost of services. The Group
may suffer a low or even negative net profit margin due to decrease
in turnover and/or relatively high operating costs, should the global
economy deteriorate and/or become more unstable.

In addition, various financial risks have been disclosed in note 6 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 105 to 106 of this Annual Report.

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend final dividend for the Year.
SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out in the section headed “Five Year
Financial Summary” on page 197 to 198 of this Annual Report.
This summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DONATION

Charitable donation made by the Group during the Year amounted
to approximately HK$22,000 (during the year ended 31 March 2020
(“Previous Year”): nil).
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the Year are set out in page 108 of this Annual
Report and note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2021, there is no reserve of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders under the Companies Law of Cayman
Islands (at 31 March 2020: nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman lIslands, being
the jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who held office during the Year and
up to the date of this Annual Report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 16 November 2020)

Mr. Loy Hak Moon (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 16 November 2020)
Mr. Zhang Pangfei (appointed on 31 December 2020)

Ms. Wu Yushan (appointed on 23 March 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Wing Sang (an executive Director during the Year and was
redesignated as a non-executive Director on 22 April 2020)
Mr. Liao Daichun (appointed on 23 April 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Kam Tsun

Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy (resigned on 31 March 2021)
Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (appointed on 31 March 2021)
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEEREE)

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and will be eligible for re-election and
re-appointment at every annual general meeting, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
every three years. In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles,
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting after his appointment and
any Director appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold office
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
after his appointment, and each of them shall then be eligible for re-
election.

Accordingly, Mr. Zhang Pangfei, Ms. Wu Yushan and Mr. Ho Yuk
Ming Hugo will hold office as the Directors until the AGM and will
offer themselves for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies” of this Annual
Report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company received annual confirmation from all independent
non-executive Directors of their independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considered all the
independent non-executive Directors as independent at the date of
this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The remuneration packages of all executive Directors, non-
executive Director and senior management are determined by the
Remuneration Committee. Also, the remuneration of independent
non-executive Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board. The remuneration packages are subject
to comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid

individuals of the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Directors’ Report (Contlnued)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in
Hong Kong.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operate in the
People’s Republic of China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.

The employees of the Group’s branch in Taipei are required to
participate in the national pension program.

Other than the above, the Group has not operated any other
retirement benefit schemes for its employees. Particulars of the
retirement benefit schemes are set out in notes 12, 13, 14 and 29
to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Directors has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial
term of three years and continuing thereafter until terminated by
either party by giving a written’s notice in writing to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date or appointment date.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Company’s business were entered into or existed during the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director of the Company had a material interests, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the Year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or the controlling shareholders or their
respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of
the Company is or was interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business, that competes or competed or is or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business
at any time during the Year and up to the date of this Directors’
Report.

A deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-competition”) was
executed in favour of the Company by Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas
and Mr. Loy Hak Moon (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”)
regarding certain non-competition undertakings. The details
of the Deed of Non-competition have been disclosed in the
Prospectus under the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders”.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has given an annual
declaration to the Company confirming that they have complied with
the non-compete undertakings to the Company under the Deed of
Non-competition. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the compliance with the Deed of Non-competition and are
satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the
provisions of the Deed of Non-Competition during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Directors and other officers of the Company shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all losses or liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office
or otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Company’s Articles
of Association.

The Group has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability

insurance coverage for the Directors and officers throughout the
Year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

At 31 March 2021, the following Director and chief executive of the
Company (the “Chief Executive”) had the following interests and
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and/or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the GEM Listing Rules:

() Long positions in shares of the Company:
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Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Capacity/ Interest in issued share

Name of Director Nature of interests Shares capital

HAERATE BITRAE

EEHE B EntE R 2 #Ezd 2N DL

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas Interest in a controlled corporation, 253,302,000 30.16%
(“Mr. Thomas Loy”) parties acting in concert (Note 1)
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- Directors’ Report (Continued)
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(i)

Long positions in shares of associated corporations:

MBEZERD 2FR

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Name of associated Capacity/ Interest in issued share

Name of Director corporation Nature of interests shares capital
S

ERITRE

EEnE ML B BB 5/ REtE RNRG 2 & ZBRBED
Mr. Thomas Loy Ho Tat Limited Beneficial owner, 253,302,000 30.16%

(“Ho Tat”) (Note 1)
ARELE FEBRAA
(T=E D) (K1)

Note:

Ho Tat is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Thomas Loy. By virtue of
the SFO, Mr. Thomas Loy is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held
by Ho Tat.

Save as disclosed above and below under the section headed
“Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures”, at 31
March 2021, none of the Directors or the Chief Executive and/
or any of their respective associates had any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and/or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in the Company or any other body
corporate.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the Year
the Directors and the Chief Executive (including their spouses and
children under 18 years of age) had any interest in, or been granted
or exercised, any rights to subscribe for the shares (or warrants or
debentures, as applicable) of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

To the best knowledge of the Directors, at 31 March 2021, the
substantial shareholders of the Company had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would be required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO as follows:
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Shares held/ Approximate
Capacity/ interested percentage of
Name nature of interests (Note 5) shareholding
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Ho Tat Beneficial owner, parties acting in concert 253,302,000 (L) 30.16%

(Note 1)
RiE EmlAA > —BuT8 AT (FiEE1)

Mr. Thomas Loy Interest in a controlled corporation, 253,302,000 (L) 30.16%
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEEHE(E)

Number of
Shares held/ Approximate
Capacity/ interested percentage of
Name nature of interests (Note 5) shareholding
Fi¥s HAERER
KRB R
wE S EB 5 ntE (BfEE5) REMAOE DL
Mr. HM Loy Interest in a controlled corporation, 253,302,000 (L) 30.16%
parties acting in concert (Note 1)
=R bt FEAEER - —BUTBA L (M)
Ms. Kong Sau Ming Interest of spouse (Note 2) 253,302,000 (L) 30.16%
IFRZ L fo B4 s (P EE2)
Ms. Siu Pui Sum Interest of spouse (Note 3) 253,302,000 (L) 30.16%
BB 22+ B4 as (PHEE3)
Mr. Liao Daichun Beneficial owner (Note 4) 187,320,000 (L) 22.30%
BRESE EmEAa A(KMEa)
Notes: i

1.

Ho Tat is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Thomas Loy. By virtue of
the SFO, Mr. Thomas Loy is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Ho Tat. Mr. Thomas Loy and Mr. HM Loy are parties acting in
concert pursuant to the Acting in Concert Confirmation (as defined in the
Prospectus) upon the Share Offer becoming unconditional.

Ms. Kong Sau Ming is the spouse of Mr. Thomas Loy, and is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which are interested by Mr. Thomas Loy under the
SFO.

Ms. Siu Pui Sum is the spouse of Mr. HM Loy, and is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which are interested by Mr. HM Loy under the
SFO.

Mr. Liao Daichun was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 23 April
2021.

The letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2021, the Directors are
not aware of any interests and short positions owned by the chief
executive of the Company, or any other parties. No person, other
than the Directors, whose interests are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company and Any Associated Corporations” above, had registered
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a Share Option Scheme on 14 August 2018.
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise the
contribution of, and to provide an incentive to, key staff of the Group
who have contributed or will contribute to the Group in order to
motivate and retain them for the operation and development of the
Group. Further details of the Share Option Scheme are disclosed in
the section headed “Statutory and General Information — D. Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the Prospectus.

Up to the date of this Directors’ Report, no share option has been
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option
Scheme and there were no outstanding share options under the
Share Option Scheme at 31 March 2021 and at the date of this
Directors’ Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The “related party transactions” as disclosed in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements for the Year do not constitute a
connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group did not enter into any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions that are not
exempted under the GEM Listing Rules. The Board confirms
that the Company has complied with the applicable disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

The Company appointed Glory Sun Securities Limited (“Glory Sun”)
as the compliance adviser of the Company on 30 May 2019.

As notified by Glory Sun, at 31 March 2021, save for the compliance
adviser agreement entered into between the Company and Glory
Sun dated 30 May 2019, none of Glory Sun or its directors,
employees or close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
has had any interest in the Group which is required to be notified to
the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Mr. Lo Wing Sang, a non-executive Director, being the executive
director, company secretary and authorised representative of China
Trustful Group Limited (stock code: 8265) has resigned from the
aforesaid positions on 30 July 2020.

He also resigned as the company secretary and authorised
representative of Century Group International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 2113) on 28 May 2021.

Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron, an independent non-executive director,
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Grand
Brilliance Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8372) on 18 June
2021.

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo, an independent non-executive director,
retired as independent non-executive director of Wuxi Sunlit
Science and Technology Company Limited* (stock code: 1289) with
effect from 18 June 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 55.9% (Previous Year: 40.2%) of the total turnover
(including continuing and discontinued operations) during the Year
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to
approximately 19.0% (Previous Year: 14.7%).

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 40.5% (Previous Year: 42.3%) of the total purchases
(including continuing and discontinued operations) during the Year
and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted
to approximately 12.4% (Previous Year: 15.8%).

*

For identification purpose
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders,
which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital, had any beneficial interest
in the share capital of any of the first five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company at the date of this
Directors’ Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the GEM Listing Rules from 1 April 2020 to the
date of this Directors’ Report.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2021

Details of the significant event of the Group took place subsequent
to 31 March 2021 are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2021 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of SHINEWING
(HK) CPA Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Loy Hak Yu Thomas
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERER®RE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report
(the “ESG Report”) summarises the ESG strategies, policies
and accomplishments of Wan Leader International Limited (the
“Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, collectively the
“Group”, “we”, “us” or “our”). It demonstrates our long-term
commitment to generate sustainable economic, social and
environmental values to the community through responsible
business practices. The ESG Report has been reviewed and

confirmed by the Board of Directors (the “Board”).

Reporting Standard

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 20
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) of the rules governing the listing of securities on
GEM (“GEM Listing Rules”) issued by the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited.

Reporting Scope

This ESG Report covers the principal operating activities of the
Group, which are (i) freight forwarding and related logistics services;
and (ii) warehousing and related value-added services in Hong
Kong, mainland China and Taiwan, spanning over the period from
1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting Period”). The scope
of the ESG Report has been covered our operations in Hong Kong,
mainland China and Taiwan, including continuing and discontinued
operations during the Reporting Period. The entities subject to
reporting are determined by considering their ESG significance
as well as influence to the Group’s operations, and they shall
collectively constitute a fair picture of the Group’s overall ESG
performance.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - HERERKRSE(E)

Reporting Principles

With the objective to provide relevant contents and quality
information for decision making by stakeholders, the following
reporting principles have been applied in the preparation of this
ESG Report.

Materiality: relevant and important ESG information to
stakeholders is covered. A materiality assessment has been
conducted to determine the relative importance of different ESG
issues, with results approved by the Board.

Quantitative: quantitative information is provided, and where
possible, with comparative figures and narrative to enable fair
evaluation on the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG policies.

Consistency: unless otherwise specified, consistent
methodologies are used in the preparation and presentation of
ESG data to allow for meaningful comparison over time.

Balance: unbiased information is provided, without selections,
omissions and presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence the readers.

Contact details

To continuously refine the Group’s sustainability strategy, we
welcome any feedback concerning this report and the Group’s
sustainability performance. If you have any questions regarding the
report, please contact the Group and its contact details are set out
as below:

Wan Leader International Limited

Address: Office Tower Units 901-902
Hutchison Logistics Centre, Terminal 4
Kwai Chung Container Port
18 Container Port Road South,
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3741 2025
Email: irwl@wanleader.com
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - HERERKRSE(E)

ESG Governance RIE-HERERFTHEHMNER

The Group recognises the increasing emphasis on sustainable AREBESHIAFERENTERZEAZD
development, and considers related issues at enterprise level. The %41 - WIAS ¥ EmEEHABLEE - A&EH
Group is committed to upholding its corporate social responsibility  E hi@iE TEFRERERE - $@NRERT
and fulfilling stakeholders’ expectations through a solid ESG EHIEBEETA&EE  UEBH XM EE
governance structure as illustrated in the chart below: £ REBFOHENHE

The Board
BExg
Evaluates ESG risks and opportunities, sets strategic directions and targets, ensures effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems are in place and reviews progress
FHERE g REREAREKES FITRBETMRER  BRETARNERE e hERARERERANEE
THIE AR FREE

The Management
EEE
Monitors ESG risks and provides confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of
ESG risk management and internal control systems

ERRE HeghERRER UYNEFSHIRE HELhERARERENANEE
= & B AR

ESG Working Group
B #8RERIEERK
Executes ESG strategies, implements ESG policies and initiatives, monitors ESG risks and impacts and
sustainability trends, evaluates existing ESG policies and reports to the Board on progress made
MITHRIR - A RERRR  BlERR HeREOBERKNE - BEERE  HghEAREARRTZENRATFHE
ERBY  AARTRE g REREE  MMDEBRNEERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

The Board has overall responsibility for ESG strategy and
reporting of the Group. It evaluates and determines ESG risks and
opportunities, subsequently setting strategic directions and targets
for the Group in relation to business and operation needs. The
Board is also responsible for ensuring that appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place.
Meanwhile, the management of the Company (the “Management”)
monitors ESG risks and provides confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems.
Comprised of key managerial personnel including the CEO and CFO
of the Company, as well as representatives of different business
operation teams, the ESG working group is responsible for assisting
the Board and the Management in managing ESG issues. It
executes the ESG strategies set by the Board through implementing
different ESG policies and initiatives into business operations.
Besides, the ESG working group assists the management in
constantly monitoring the ESG risks and impacts of the Group,
as well as recent trends in sustainability. It holds meeting at least
twice a year to evaluate the effectiveness of existing ESG policies
and identify improvement opportunities, while coordinating follow
up actions needed. The ESG working group reports to the Board
directly and regularly on ESG progress made for review and
approval.

In addition, within the Group’s integral enterprise risk management
framework that covers ESG risks, an independent professional
consultant has been engaged to perform annual assessment on
internal control systems of the Group to identify any potential
deficiencies and make appropriate recommendations for
improvement. A risk management task force has been set up to
perform the annual risk assessment process.

ESG Strategy

With the objective to facilitate development of policies and initiatives
for achieving the goal of sustainable business operations, the Group
has established its ESG strategy with 3 main focuses relating to
value chain, employees and the environment.

Care Our Talents

EEALT

Improve Our Value Chain
HEEEHE
To generate long-term values
to customers, suppliers and the
local communities
REF - HERE A EFE
KEEE

development

TR

To attract talents, enhance their
wellbeing and support their

BRI ES - RBEBEAL L

RIR - HERERERE(A)

oK

PHAEASENRE L@ lE)
HE - WHEREERR HERE
AR EKE  BREARENERNEE
FEHNERBIALER -EFGNBERE
RIETTEE RARHRE - @8 REGRR
EENARBEIEHE o BRI - ARAE
BEE(EEEDESRRE HakERrA
B - WM E S AR E R TR N A B B A
EERRR - ]RIE - @ RERTEER BT
ZEEASEK  BREARAWITHRAR -
MHBREARTREHZEEBZFNRE - A
AEmpEFENEEEEERE - HEME
AEH HATHEESFIUMERE - HE
REQRRE REXRBEENERTRMNER
% e RERBEKLETE - 1o RE -
HekEaTFERHpEREREERAN
SENRE HERERRARIZEART
FERRNOHNBE  EEFRTELMA
S WRHERTRR - 4@ RERBRERN
R BRI E RS - WETHARORET
- RE - L@ MNEATFERER LEB
PERE HENREANEREREZER -
AR AR R it

i

BE  AEEEBERNCERAREEERAY
ERE  -HehERER  YCREBYE
KRR BAKENAMEEFEETFE
FHE - ABBIEMEEN TR 2B - AR
BEENNERER - ARBECRIRARERE
B/ - DUETTFERBRFERER -

RiR - HERERRE

RIERR LA BIMBIE - AERAHEE
BEENRE  ARECERIEERE  HE
NEVARE - REMNEERE  BEMRE
W=KEH -

Protect Our Earth
5 3 2R
To reduce impact on surrounding
environment and conserve natural

resources
MO EERFNTERRE X
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HEREREE(A)

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands that sustainable development cannot be
attained without considering the interests of stakeholders, who
have an impact on, or are impacted by our business operations.
As such, major stakeholder groups with considerable influence
and dependency on the Group have been carefully identified by
the Management. Various communication channels are in place to
gauge their expectations and feedback, which are essential for the
continuous improvement of our operations. The table below depicts
our major stakeholder groups and our key communication channels
with them:

Stakeholder Groups Engagement Channels

&SR

AREBRE - FHHEBRANEEEELN
TE B AEBNENENNG  TERER
AR ERR - It - ERESFAEN YA
EEERBEAFTENKBAEEN TR

nEMR  IRESEBBRERGERS
MHE R MEERESCEXBE RS

2 o MR FIE B0 E AR KR
RENTEBRRE

B E AR SERE
Employees e Email Communication
=] BEBR
o Internal Meetings
W*E = niﬁz
e Employee Trainings and Activities
B EEI RIEE
e Performance Appraisal
BB AT
Customers e Corporate Website
B NaEl4duh
e Customer Hotline and Emails
B AGR B
e Customer Feedback
BPRE
Suppliers e Quotation and Tendering
YA B MABIR
e Site-visit and Supplier Evaluation
B AR 5= R AT (4
Shareholders and Investors e Press Releases
IRR B EE Em
e Annual Report, Interim Report and Quarterly Reports
F - FERERFERE
e Announcements and Circulars
NS N
e Annual General Meeting
RERBERSG
o Comgany Website
Local Communities e Donation and Community Investment
Ahit @ BEEtEREE
Government e (Consultation
B e
Media e Press Releases
wEe hEm

The Group will continue to engage both internal and external
stakeholders, listen to them and provide updates to them on our
ESG policies and progress.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
R -HERERRE(E)

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To identify key ESG issues that are related to the Group’s
operations, and prioritise them for reporting and policy formulation
purposes, a materiality assessment was conducted during the
Reporting Period. The assessment consisted of 4 stages as
demonstrated in the chart below:

1. Issue Identification
EFEE

EEMFE

AEBNHRE AR ETEZETE - UER

HAKBELEFENETERE g hER

’%L CWRLERE RBRHIE B B EEE
EITEXF - TERRF(AR4ERE

|dentify relevant ESG issues and establish a preliminary issue list by the ESG working group, with reference
to stakeholders’ feedbacks gathered, peers benchmarking and the ESG Reporting Guide

R HeRELTEEK2EMEENFNERE  RREEARRE

BRNERE  HeRkehzd  LHIEMSHEYIR

—~————

2. Stakeholders Questionnaire

FhEREHAE

e RERRERES - #AlH

Invite key internal and external stakeholders to assess the relative importance of ESG issues identified in

stage 1 and provide further feedbacks via questionnaire

HMFEEERNBRNEEZBREHEFHFIERABMAILERE @ REARENAYERE - WIRHE

— ¥ RE

—~———

3. Materiality Ranking
EEMHR

Review and analyse the questionnaire results from stage 2 by the ESG working group to prepare the

materiality ranking

R HEkELIEFERBERLUOMEMEERNESHERR - WREEEEHF

—~————

4. Confirmation

R

Confirm the final results of the materiality ranking from stage 3 by the Board

EXeRAEEREZFFNZEER

A total of 20 issues were identified by our ESG working group and
subsequently ranked by our key stakeholders. The final results are
mapped into a materiality matrix as shown below. Out of which 4
issues are classified as highly important, 13 issues are classified as
important and the remaining 3 issues are classified as moderately
important.

S8

iﬁi\Z:I:A&E/EIIME.E%E;%EUD/\
EHEE BERATIEFOHERIEEENERN

/Af RRE

AT S

1%

RETNEZUHERRTR - &

SREAIFFEED - 13HZHE

REAEE R 3ERE/EHER -

ZEERERAT
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T B HEREREE(H)

Materiality Matrix

o Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

EEMERE
Highly Important
FEREZ
2
1
4 4
kS °
© o 11
=
8
[}
f‘g Al 16 ® B
%‘ﬂ ‘7 Important 120 o ©
& i E o
gﬁ 17 °,
H 64 ® 10
=K 19 15
8 m 20 14
s 18
]
o
E
Moderately Important
HYEE 13 @
Importance to Internal Stakeholders
HABKOHEBER
@ !mprove Our Value Chain @ Grow Our Talents Protect Our Earth
HEBERE EEANT REIR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - HERERKRSE(E)

Material Issues

Improve Our Value Chain

REEER

EEHE

Care Our Talents

EEAT

Protect Our Earth
R #h IR

1 Supply Chain Management
HERER

2 Service Quality
PR mE

3 Value Chain Standards
BEEKF

4 Data Privacy
BRFLE

5 Anti-Corruption
RES

9 Human Rights
AR

10 Equal Opportunity and Diversity
FEKERETTE

11 Workplace Health and Safety
TYEsSMiERER S

12 Training and Development
Bl R

13 Anti-Child and Forced Labour
PrIlEET RagH| % T

14 Air Pollution
=I5 R

15 Waste Management
FEEYER

16 Climate Change

L 4=4

RIRE

17 Use of Energy
BERE A

18 Use of Water
KR8

6 Fair Competition
N FEF

7 Community Investment and
Involvement
HERRE RS2 H

8 Compliance
am

IMPROVE OUR VALUE CHAIN

The Group aims to generate long-term value to customers,
suppliers and the local communities. Therefore, the Group is
committed to offering high quality services to customers, engaging
qualified suppliers through responsible selection process and
managing them with fair practices, and contributing to local
communities through ethical operations and social investments.

The Group strictly abides by applicable product responsibility and
anti-corruption-related laws and regulations. During the Reporting
Period, we did not notice any non-compliance cases related to
applicable product responsibility and corruption-related laws and
regulations.

19 Noise Pollution

R 5 R

20 Greenhouse Gas and
Air Emissions
BAEREN RN

REEEE

AEEBEEARP « HER R R HE
REEE - At - AEEB AR FREE
ER% ZRARETNREREZEGER
HEm  WARFFEEBEEY Rk
AR BENEERMSIRE BEAR T
E -

AEEBRERTEANEREENEARES
MHEEEEAR AR - RS IR - B E
EXEMERNEREMETRESHEBER
MOERN T EREM -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HEREREE(A)

Service Quality

The Group is dedicated to providing the best quality services to
our customers. Internally, we constantly review our operational
practices to explore ways for improving operating efficiency and
effectiveness. For instance, to minimise the loading time of the
aircraft, we optimise the utilization of cargo space by combining
goods with different weights. Furthermore, to enhance control over
freight mobility, we apply real-time tracking on logistics. These
measures help to maintain the timeliness of our freight forwarding
and related logistics services.

Externally, we actively seek comments and feedbacks from our
customers, which are valuable information to enhancing service
quality thus increasing customer satisfaction. All customers’
feedbacks are handled by our Operations Department and the
responsible operations staff directly in a timely manner. We are
particularly concerned with the complaints received from customers
and we take them seriously. Formal enquiry and complaint handling
procedures have been established which require our customer
facing staff to provide prompt responses and follow-up actions,
ensuring that the complaints are resolved properly. During the
Reporting Period, the number of customer complaints received was
approximately 84.

Product and Service Health and Safety

Despite the Group’s principal businesses in freight forwarding and
warehousing services do not involve direct sales and production of
physical products, we take responsibility in ensuring the safety of
goods we handle during our business processes. With a specific
concern over the safety of our freight forwarding and logistics
operations, as well as the goods we help transport in due course,
we introduced the security screening services to help us identify
goods (especially dangerous goods) that are not allowed for
transportation by our internal policy and other relevant laws and
regulations, where external subcontractors are engaged to assist
in performing the screening work. It involves the use of high-tech
x-ray screening facilities to ensure effective and efficient screening,
supplemented by hand search or physical check at piece level
under exceptional circumstances such as oversized or loose
cargos. We follow the requirements of the Civil Aviation Department
of Hong Kong in identifying, classifying, packing, marking, labelling
and documenting dangerous goods. In case of any abnormalities
discovered, we will notify our customers and will not approve
their cargo for boarding. Meanwhile, we clearly communicate our
policy in handling false declaration of goods to our customers
and business partners, alert them about the importance of truthful
declaration.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Advertising and Labelling

The Group is committed to treating our customers fairly and
protecting their interests. We believe mutual trust is the basis
of long-term relationship with our customers. Therefore, when
promoting our services through different means, we make sure
we are providing customers with all necessary information for
understanding our service provision clearly and accurately. We
constantly review the standard terms and conditions of our service
offering to ensure they are appropriate and effective in safeguarding
the interests of the Group and our customers.

Data Privacy

The Group emphasizes data privacy. We apply all necessary
internal controls to safeguard the data security of our stakeholders
in accordance with local applicable laws and regulations. We pay
additional attention in handling sensitive customers’ data, such as
Octopus and bank account information, and maintain complete
confidentiality to protect customers’ interests. In particular,
we strictly govern the process of collecting, using, storing and
transferring data to ensure compliance with relevant laws and
regulations including the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.
486 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Personal Data Protection
Act of Taiwan. For instance, we only collect personal data that are
relevant and required for the purpose of business operations, and
we maintain appropriate security systems to prevent unauthorized
access. Meanwhile, we provide clear guidelines regarding data
privacy in our Human Resources Management Polices, in which all
confidential information are strictly prohibited from unauthorized
disclosure or private manipulation. Failure to adhere to this rule may
lead to immediate dismissal by the Group.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group respects intellectual property rights. We remind our staff
to be cautious when using materials, pictures, contents or any other
forms of intellectual property that are not produced by themselves
or owned by the Group to avoid any breach of intellectual property
rights. We do not allow our staff to use intellectual properties of
our suppliers or customers without obtaining their consent. As
part of the Group’s management of intellectual property rights,
our Directors have signed up in their service agreements that all
intellectual properties developed during their course of employment
are the properties of the Group. Also, the Group has registered our
trademark and patents properly to protect our intellectual property
rights. We regularly review our policies and control measures in
this regard to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations
such as the Patents Ordinance (Cap. 514 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Patent Act of Taiwan.

RIR - HERERERE(A)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HEREREE(A)

Supply Chain Management

The Group aims to work with quality suppliers who can support
the Group in delivering quality products and services to customers.
Therefore, a stringent supplier selection and management
mechanism is in place. All of our newly approved suppliers have
to score high during our quality checks and possess certain
certifications, if appropriate, to ensure that their goods provided
or services rendered are up to the Group’s standards. For the
same reason, their reputation and track record are also taken
as references in the selection process. For suppliers that we are
currently engaging, we regularly evaluate them in various aspects,
such as quality of materials or products, price competitiveness
and delivery timeliness, to ensure they perform satisfactorily and
consistently over time. Suppliers that fail to meet our standards are
required to take remedial actions or they will no longer be one of our
approved suppliers.

On top of the quality aspect, the Group values the importance
of sustainable business practices and expects our suppliers
to uphold the same philosophy. Consequently, environmental
and social performance are also considered during the supplier
selection process, those with proven achievements in this regard
will be viewed more favourably. We also constantly monitor
the environmental and social risks along our supply chain, and
promote the concept of sustainability to our existing suppliers. For
example, recognising the significance of energy consumption and
air emissions of land transportation, we encourage our truck fleet
subcontractors to upgrade their vehicles to be more energy efficient
with lower emission models. Continuing our efforts, we believe we
can attain a greener supply chain in the long run.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a total of 244 (2020: 218)
major suppliers that were directly related to our principal business
operations.

HEEEE
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244(ZE-TF 218) R EHERH A KA
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Number of Suppliers

Location i 2h HrEmEE
Hong Kong &5 163
Mainland China AR A 21
Taiwan ae 34*
North America JEZEM 9
Europe BN 6
Southeast Asia 4 7
Australia SEIM 2
Middle East R 1
South Asia ] ;

The number of suppliers located in Taiwan increase by 20 to 34 during the
Reporting Period and therefore contribute the overall increment in number
of total suppliers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Anti-corruption and Whistle-blowing Channel

The Group upholds the highest standard of integrity throughout
our business operations and adopts a zero tolerance policy with
respect to bribery, extortion, money laundering, corruption and
other fraudulent activities. Guidelines on anti-corruption have been
established and set out in our Human Resources Management
Polices. Our Staff Handbook also provides guidance to employees
on acting with integrity and communicates clearly with them on the
proper behaviours and prohibited acts when performing duties. In
particular, staff are prohibited from any accepting or soliciting of
advantages to or from suppliers, business partners and customers.
Furthermore, during the Reporting Period, the Board members have
received ongoing training included anti-corruption to raise their
awareness and strengthen their updated knowledge on the issue.

In addition, to enable the reporting of suspected misconducts,
we have set up a whistle-blowing channel for our employees in
which all reported cases will be handled with strict confidentiality
to safeguard the interests of the reporters. We will regularly review
our policies and procedures to ensure they remain effective in
detecting and preventing corrupt practices, while complying with
relevant laws and regulations including the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Cap. 615
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Anti-money Laundering Law of the
People’s Republic of China, and the Anti-corruption Act of Taiwan.
During the Reporting Period, we did not notice any concluded legal
cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or our
employees.

Community Investment and Involvement

Acting as a responsible corporate citizen, we understand the
importance of giving back to society. Our management cares about
those in need in the communities and continue to support the
people by providing the necessary assistance. For instance, during
the year 2020/21, the Group made donations of HK$21,800 to Po
Leung Kuk, Friends of Caritas and Care-on-Call Service, to help
those who are protected by local social welfare in Hong Kong. To
better fulfil our social responsibility, we will continue to pay attention
to social affairs in order to identify community needs and provide
necessary support accordingly.

CARE OUR TALENTS

The Group understands that our employees are the cornerstone to
our business success, therefore we always care for our employees’
wellbeing and strike to provide them with a fair and friendly working
environment. From time to time, we recruit new employees who
share our values in order to further develop our business. We
provide adequate trainings to them to equip them with the skills
and knowledge necessary for discharging their duties, meanwhile
offering various opportunities for career development.

RIR - HERERERE(A)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HEREREE(A)

The Group strictly abides by applicable employment, health and
safety, labour-related laws and regulations. During the Reporting
Period, we did not notice any non-compliance cases related to
applicable employment, health and safety, labour-related laws and
regulations.

Recruitment, Compensation, Promotion and
Termination

The Group is committed to responsible employment practices,
with the belief that they are necessary for attracting and retaining
the suitable talents. Comprising various means of assessment, our
recruitment process is effective in identifying candidates that suit
the Group’s business needs. To attract these potential employees,
as well as to retain existing employees, we provide competitive
remuneration packages to our employees based on their
performance and contribution. Meanwhile, we also offer them other
benefits and protection such as medical insurance, Employees’
Compensation Insurance and Mandatory Provident Fund
(applicable to Hong Kong staff). Where staff have specific concerns
over job expectation and remuneration packages, our directors
and senior management always welcome discussion. The Group
acknowledges the importance of career progression to employees,
and is committed to maintaining a fair promotion mechanism. As
such, consistent performance assessment principles are applied
to our annual employee performance evaluation to ensure that
every employee is assessed fairly according to their capabilities. All
our employment practices in relation to recruitment, employment
contract signing, probation, termination, promotion, working
hours, rest periods, remunerations, other benefits and welfare,
as stipulated in our Human Resources Management Policy and
Staff Handbook, are compliant with relevant employment-related
laws including the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Labor Standard Acts
of Taiwan. Besides, our Staff Handbook also clearly states the
rights and obligations of our employees. The management has
deployed proper internal controls in its operating procedures so as
to ensure compliance with the requirements as set out in the Human
Resources Management Policy. Meanwhile, it will monitor the latest
updates in relevant laws and regulations regularly, and update the
policy accordingly to ensure continuous compliance.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Contlnued)

BRIR - HEREREE(R)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a total workforce of 30%, all HZE-—Z-_—F=FA=+—0  ~x&EFEAE
of which are permanent full-time employees. Details of employee & H30*ZE T HAZBEE - BREHNH
distribution are shown below: BT
Total Workforce
EEHAH
Gender Age
5 Ep
7%
27%
50% 50%
66%
Male @ Female Below 30
S M 30BRE AR
| 30-49
30E495%
| 50 above
50mR s BA |
Employee Category Geographcial Region
a5 ihE
7%
23%
; 30%
7% - 70%
63%
B General Staff B Hong Kong
—RREE BE
B Intermediate staff and management B Taiwan
FARBERERRE =
Senior Management PRC
SRERE R A
One of the subsidiaries (“the Disposal Company”) of the Group has been REBEHEEHFR—BEHBAR(TEER

disposed of and the completion took place on 31 March 2021. The
workforce of the Disposal Company would no longer be accounted for in
the Group’ staff list.

S8

Al) ]IBC_EZ*E,H*-T— HZEmM o
HERRIZETIHEITBHINAEBZETH
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - HERERKRSE(E)

During the Reporting Period, total employee turnover was 56*/**  RIREHIR - 4E 8 nk 2 A56*/ (BIE36
including 36 headcounts from discontinued operation. Details of ZRIFEEEKZET) - AEEREE R
employee turnover of the Group are shown below: EICEOENE
Employee Turnover
EER%
Gender Age
5 E
o)
2Q8e 16%
25% \
75%
64%
Male ® Female = BGEW\SO
B 27t 30BRk AT
| 30-49
3024957,
50 above
50% 3 A
Geographcial Region
hE
1% 2%
87%

o

78

m Hong Kong
BB

B Taiwan
N
PRC
R A

One of the subsidiaries (“the Disposal Company”) of the Group has been
disposed and taken place on 31 March 2021. The workforce of the
Disposal Company would no longer be accounted for in the Group’s staff
list.

Higher staff turnover rate in continuing operation during the Reporting
Period at 20 compared with 6 in year 2019/20 was due to the fact that new
employees failed to cope with the new services launched by the Group
during the Reporting Period.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Workplace Health and Safety

The health and safety of employees is always the top priority of
the Group. We strive to provide a safe and healthy environment
for our employees and continuously place strong emphasis on
occupational safety of staff. Policies related to the health and safety
management have been set up and relevant safety guidelines are
well communicated to the relevant staff since Day 1 of work. During
our normal business operations, warehouse staff are required to
lift heavy objects and handle heavy mechanical equipment from
time to time. In view of this, we pay special attention to warehouse
staff operations and our Staff Manual provides details of the
operating procedures at warehouses covering (a) inspection; (b)
documentation; (c) labelling; (d) electronic data recording; (e)
handling motor vehicles and forklifts; and (f) work safety. These
operating procedures and safety guidelines of the warehouse
are reviewed by our management regularly to ensure they remain
effective in preventing health and safety incidents over time.

To further mitigate the health and safety risks in the workplace, we

RIR - HERERERE(A)

TREMERERZE

BENREEZEZ-—E/AKENEEL
% RABN REEBRFELZ2ERNORE
WisEETEREINRERS - AEER
BRI EBERELE2EENEER  UNEH
BETARBEARARSEEZRBELEES -
ERRBXEBEEBRETD  REETATHR
EBBERYMHENBRFERRERB AR
It R EEE THEERINE - M
MOBTFMAERERELERFHOFA
B BPRHE  @RE b)XEER ()
BRE (EFEERHE  (e))TEMNER
tE: ROTIEZ 2 - HEREEERF MK
2HESIEHHBMNEIRE T AR - AR
REERGILRERLZEFMHEE -

RE— T RETESANRENRZT 2R

have adopted the following measures:

Providing on-site supervision to
warehouse staff
mEEE LRHERGEE

Setting up a First-Aid station in
our warehouse and checking
First-Aid Kit on a monthly basis
MREBERIZRIE - W& ARE=
BUG]

LA
i)
ZON

Performing safety check for
visitors or staff entering the
warehouse
REARBENDNEHETHETLSE
&

Prohibiting smoking in offices and
warehouse, to eliminate potential
fire hazards
REERAERBEERRE © LAt
RIBENE

C HPIE A T

Performing regular maintenance
to machinery such as forklifts and
scales

Hes (WMXERT) ET7EHR
=

Assigning a safety officer to
monitor the work process and the
working environment
ZRZrFEERTERERIE
B

Offering safety equipment such as reflective jackets, safety helmets as well as safety harnesses when working at

height to our staff

Rtz 2RE  PINARSETENE TREREIHNE Z2BUALLES
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HEREREE(A)

In addition to implementing precautionary measures, the Group
makes every effort to strengthen safety awareness and culture of
our people. For instance, we have installed an electronic display
board in the warehouse to broadcast health and safety related
information. Forklift Safety Guidelines and Safety Manual are also
posted on wall in the warehouse to remind our staff of proper
operating procedures. We encourage our employees to report any
potential safety hazards noticed during our business operations
with no hesitation, so that we can develop risk mitigation plan
accordingly. Our employees are required to strictly adhere to all
applicable safety measures and immediately inform their direct
supervisor in the event of any accidents or injuries. Meanwhile,
we take the same caution in managing the health and safety risks
faced by our subcontractors. We pass on safety instruction to our
subcontractors and require them to sign off the instruction. All
of our workplace health and safety policies and practices are in
compliance with applicable workplace health and safety-related
laws and regulations including the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Work Safety
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Occupational Safety
and Health Act of Taiwan.

There were no cases of work-related fatalities occurred over past
four years. During the Reporting Period, we did not record any lost
day due to work injury.

BRETEBERN AREZE-UENES
BEANZEEBELEXE - flan - HAADR
REZKETHEIRR  BHERER2M
MEM - AEBETREERELRTNER
2HESIERRE2TM RESTEBEE ZE
B HFISBRES MERLBREERD
LEBETIBINETMAEELERSE &
HAPIsE B RT AR B R AR AR 5T 81 - (B BZA R
RETHREEBNRZ2ER - YR HREMR
BIKREEEBNEEBEE - EitF
B RATEEERES EREYNREREY
2RE - ZMADEBAEELBERKBERE
ZEHE5| - A TIESMEREL2EE R
BRNAER TIESMEREZ2AEEM
KRG - BREBEVFE09B(RELEN
RGP PEARAMBEKZZEER)
RCEBBEZZRHEER)

ERENF » NEERBBELERNTERERN
SETHEM - REHHE - RA\ESEAT
BMEXZIERE -

Summary of occupational health and safety performance BERENZEREHME

Matters 2020/21
=15 —EC-® ——fF
Work-related accidents BT ERE AR E A1 0
Injuiries suffered by employees BI%E

Sick leave due to work injury A& R

Work-related fatalities BT {EMRBN A TS

Confirmed cases of COVID-19

80 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2020 — 2021

COVID-19tE 2 fZ




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - HERERKRSE(E)

In response to the outbreak of COVID-19 since early 2020, which caused significant health risks to people
globally, the Group had taken various measures to safeguard the physical wellbeing of our employees and other
stakeholders. The following cautious measures have been put in place to better protect the employees as well
as the local community:

HE—_Z_ZTFYRECOVID-19 - H2HRARBREANRERAR - AEEDERRZIERLE - REES REMS
MENRE - AP ZEREREENAMMLE  AEEDEHEIL N EEBE

Implemented work from home arrangement
EERLIE
Sterilized the common areas with diluted household bleach frequently

KERBEBERAZAKESHAZER
Intensified online meeting and teleworking for social distancing

RRFEE IR IBINETAR LSRR ERT

Provided epidemic prevention supplies such as hand sanitizer and surgical masks for employees
REEREHEYE - fIESAFREINEAE

Required employees to wear mask at the office and warehouse
EREEERAENRERBAS

Arranged COVID-19 testing for employees after extended public holidays
RIERARZREIL - REE ZHBECOVID-19%2 8

The Group requested all visitors to wear surgical masks and required to have their body temperature checked
when they enter and stay in the office premises and warehouse, so as to minimise the risk of COVID-19
transmitting through respiratory droplets. Furthermore, reminders were also posted in the Hong Kong office and
warehouse to communicate good personal hygiene practices to employees.
AEECEXAANTEEIIBOSE  THREARFEBRAZHEREEANRKE %EJM&ﬁmwuwﬁﬂ
REFEZ AR o AN BTN BEERREREERUERET HRESERITFNEAGE o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HEREREE(A)

Staff Training

We acknowledge the importance of empowering our people at
work and are devoted to helping our people to fully reach their
potentials. Therefore, we offer different trainings to our staff to
enhance their professional knowledge and skills. For instance,
orientation is provided to new employees to help them familiarise
with their job duties and smoothly adapt to the new environment.
Regular refresher trainings are also offered to our staff, both
internally and externally, covering various aspects such as
professional knowledge, dangerous goods regulations, aviation
safety requirements updates, accounting standards updates and
corporate governance. Through these comprehensive trainings,
staff can enhance their competencies and perform job duties
more effectively. Besides, to encourage our employees to further
develop their expertise and gain exposure, we offer subsidies
to eligible staff on taking certain relevant external professional
courses. We believe it is mutually beneficial to the personal as
well as career development of our employees, and the Group’s
business development. Below shows the details of employee
training, including continuing and discontinued operation, during
the Reporting Period:

g T 153

BFIRARTELBNETHERNE - W
NEBETI RO HEFEHER - Bt - B
B THRHZIAE - BB REERAEK
e o flan - HPIRFEERHEIR - %8
15 5 I i ELB TS N B M8 PR IR AR © AT IR
[ 8 TRHEEHAERINGFEN - RS
BB - REEIREFENZ - BRE
MEE MELZE2RENRHER - GrE
ANRMENREXE RS Z T EER - 3
BzErEEIN - BT AR RS IE
BRREITRI - wH - SEEREREE ¥
LRAFXNBENEDRLR  RARAER
B TRV MES THAIMEEERRIE -
HPRE HWBESAEMNNEENEEER -
R REMESARENERRRE  ERH

ZRIEREEABE D
FHEIE &
(BEEXEIRE)

Percentage of Total Employees Trained:
Average Training Hours
(per Trained Employees):
Training Subsidies Granted to
Employees (HK$):

Compared to the year of 2019/20, average training hours per
trained employees remained unchanged at 16 hours and training
subsidies granted to employees decreased by HK$59,643
(equivalent to 65%) due to public health measures and restrictions
imposed on social distancing for limitation on face-to-face training.
Alternatively some of the trainings had been conducted through
webinars. Majority courses offered through webinars were free-of-
charge. As such, the training expenses decreased.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued) %Jﬂ
RE - HERERRSE(E) <~

—

Details of percentage of employees trained and average training HBREZMERIREEMEBEIS»HNZIIEE A D
hours (per trained employee) by gender and employment category  ELIA R FHIEIIEES(ILEBELIIES ) FEIE
are shown below: N

Employees Trained

ZIEE
Gender** Employee Category
Bl EEEH
S _
BREEE oo
st i
©
Middle Management 0% ***
PREERE
Female
25%
e T >
@37)*
e Average training hours per trained employee in bracket. N ZollE B FH 50| A EIRNEE R ©

o Suspension of particular training courses for female employees in majority ~ ** HEEE KB LM REE 2B EEIIREE
mainly due to COVID-19 during the Reporting Period and therefore training iz BEEFCOVID-19R B ZE - Al
courses for female employees decreased significantly. BEEEERM Y EIIREgEEERD -

**  No suitable training course for middle management due to COVID-19  **  3REHAR - B COVID-195% 15 IR %I f7 4h 2B A

which limited the variety of courses offered by external parties during the TREMNRIEEE A EATPREEERE
Reporting Period. HE MR ©
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HEREREE(A)

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Group advocates diversity and strives to provide a working
environment where individual differences are valued and respected.
We apply fair employment practices and are committed to offering
equal opportunities to employees regardless of their gender, marital
status, age, etc. Equal opportunity-related requirements have been
included in the Human Resources Management Policy to set out the
proper procedures. No harassment and discrimination of any forms
are allowed at the workplace, employees found to have engaged
in such misconducts could face disciplinary action including
termination of employment. Periodic review of Human Resources
Policy is performed to ensure they fully comply with applicable
laws and regulation including the Sex Discrimination Ordinance
(Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 487 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Employment Services Act of Taiwan.

Anti-child and Forced Labour

The Group recognises the potential threats of child and forced
labour posed to sustainable development of society and strictly
prohibits child and forced labour of any kinds in our business
operations. During our recruitment process, age, nationalities and
resident status of job applicants will be checked to ensure they are
lawfully employable. lllegal workers will not be employed. To better
protect the rights and obligations of the Group and our employees,
we enter into employment contract or offer letter with each of
our employees in accordance with local laws and regulations. In
addition, the Group will not engage suppliers who are known to use
child labour or forced labour in their operations. The Group strictly
abides by applicable forced labour-related laws and regulations
including the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Labour Standards Act of Taiwan.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

PROTECT OUR EARTH

The Group places high emphasis on protecting the environment.
We actively monitor our business activities and improve our
operations to minimise impact to the surrounding environment and
better conserve natural resources. Certain initiatives have been
implemented to reduce air and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission,
waste production as well as energy consumption during our
business operations, which will be further demonstrated in sections
below.

The Group strictly abides by applicable environmental laws and
regulations regarding air emissions and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste. During the Reporting Period, we
did not notice any non-compliance cases related to applicable
environmental laws and regulations.

Climate Change

The Group understands that climate change is a global issue that
affects everyone around the world. As a responsible corporate
citizen, we are committed to reducing our GHG emissions as an
effort to relieve climate change. At the same time, we are aware
of the potential risk climate change may pose to our business
operations, through the more frequent extreme weather conditions
resulted. For instance, violent typhoon may lead to disruption to
transportation (different modes of transport such as land, water
and air are all affected) and thus our freight forwarding and related
logistics services. In severe case, it may cause damage to our
warehouses and other physical properties, and even threaten the
health and safety of our employees. As a control measure, we
closely monitor the local weather conditions of the places where we
operate. An emergency plan is also in place providing guidance to
our employees in response to extreme weather arose, which allows
us to limit the potential damages.

RIR - HERERERE(A)

15 & th 2R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - HERERKRSE(E)

Air Emissions SRS BER

Considering the business nature of freight forwarding and ZEISEREBERETHNEBUELEARAUL
warehousing, and the fact that logistic operations of the Group have  ZK£E B Zn ¥im S EINH T E = R R
been partially outsourced to third party logistic service providers, {tfER @ REENBEZERER LS = RSN
the Group has limited direct air and GHG emissions. The major FfE - KREBNHEERERO 25
types of direct air emissions of the Group are nitrogen oxides, @&t - ALY RENY) - BEPEKE
sulphur oxides and particulate matter, which are generated from the (&L EBREPFEANERULREBREE
use of forklifts and commuting with private cars during our course 4 o AREER KA EREHN - HEEE
of business operations. To reduce air as well as GHG emissions, we ~ &ER T LA T

have implemented the following measures in our operations:

Air and Greenhouse Gases Emissions Reduction Initiatives

e Performing regular repair and maintenance on forklifts and private cars to ensure their operating efficiency;

e  Complying with the “Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (“NRMM”) (Emission) Regulation (Cap.
311, section 43 of the Laws of Hong Kong)” and obtained NRMM labels for all of the LPG powered forklifts;
and

e Passing annual vehicle examination for all vehicles to ensure their emission standards comply with the
emission standards of the Transport Department in Hong Kong and Taiwan.

BRRAZEREREBEERE

o HREBRIMKEEITERRERRE - ABRELEERE

o BFEBAMIEINEFASGERGAE R GEBEBEEM) (BERORO - WRMA R AR X EIRGIE
BRBBHENEE &

s FIEEMBAFEEREER BRENMNEENSEBERE RS ENTITE

Details of direct air emissions generated by the Group, including AR EARAEE (BFEFFE MKIEKEESE
continuing and discontinued operations, during the Reporting 1§)E4XMEZERIEWAIRAT ¢
Period are shown below:

2020/21 2019/20
Air Emissions’ (in kg) BEREEHY (T=) B /T8 —E—hEE
Nitrogen oxides (NOx)’ Raw 7.88
Sulphur oxides (SOx) ety 0.16
Particulate matter (PM) bR 0.36
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Besides, details of GHG emissions generated by the Group during
the Reporting Period are shown below:

RIR - HERERBE(R)

BAN - RBEREAREELFREREEE
AR

EEREERYA(FRr_E{ 2020/21 2019/20
GHG Emissions? (in kg CO:ze) HBES) e /=" —F —T—h/TF
Scope 1 (Direct emissions)* SIS (B 118,313 74,638
Intensity® per (HK$’000) revenue BT BETRENZRES 0.31 0.35
Scope 2 (Energy indirect emissions) 2 (BeREEHERR) 116,762 108,471
Intensity per (HK$’000) revenue BTETRENEE 0.31 0.51
Scope 3 (Other indirect emissions s 3 (b A A
— mainly from paper waste and —EFEBRABRED K
water consumption) FK) 20,128
Intensity per (HK$’000) revenue B TRENEE 0.10

The Group continuously monitors our business activities that will
generate air emissions to ensure they are fully compliant with
applicable laws and regulations including the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Air Pollution Control Act of Taiwan.

Significant variance was mainly due to (1) more warehouse space in Hong
Kong has been occupied during the year 2020/21 and consumed more
electricity, (2) the whole year effect of electricity and petrol consumption
in Shenzhen and Taipei offices during the Reporting Period instead of only
eleven months and six months in year 2019/20 respectively.

! The direct air emissions are calculated with reference to the “Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited. Adoption of KPIs remains unchanged for the
Reporting period.

2 The GHG emissions are calculated with reference to the “Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, the “2019 China Regional Power Grid Baseline
Emission Factors For Emission Reduction Project” issued by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment of the PRC and the “Year-108 Electricity Carbon
Emission Factors” issued by the Bureau of Energy, Ministry of Economic
Affairs of Taiwan. Adoption of KPIs remains unchanged for the Reporting
Period.

N Unless otherwise specified, intensity in this ESG Report is calculated as
the average air emissions/waste generation/resource consumption per
(HK$’000) revenue earned.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HEREREE(A)

Waste Management

The Group recognises the importance of proper waste
management. Due to our business nature, we do not generate
significant amount of hazardous wastes, therefore, disclosure of
hazardous wastes is considered inapplicable. Non-hazardous
wastes directly generated by the Group are mainly from our
warehouse operations and office administrative work, in which
paper is the major type of such waste. In light of that, we have
adopted various measures to reduce the generation of paper waste
as follows:

Digitalising documentation work through the use of

electronic copies as possible

ERTER MEREF XA - #XXfF TIEHB(E

R AR

Sending electronic invoices and
monthly statements to customers

NEFHARNEFPRZRERRAKLE

Besides, we are planning to further negotiate with our local
customers to send our invoices, receipts and statements by
electronic means. Along the process to building a paperless
workplace, the Group believes there are not only environmental
benefits but also economic benefits. To further reduce overall waste
generation, we opt for second hand equipment (e.g. second hand
forklifts, fans and furniture and fixture) where applicable. With the
abovementioned endeavours, we expect gradual reduction in our
waste generate. Details of non-hazardous wastes generated during
the Reporting Period are shown below:

Reduce Paper Waste

Non-hazardous Wastes (in kg) BEBEEY(TR)
Paper Disposed BERERR
Intensity per (HK$’000) revenue FTATWRENEE
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BERYEE

AEBERAZEEEBERYNERN - AR
BPMEBHEEER  HPILEELEAER
EEEY  RAEZEERVNEBERESTE
B AREERELNBEEENEIRRE
BELEMIAETRIE  F2EEMER
RRME - BERY - RIS HRAZAEE
U E BRI T

Promoting the use of duplex printing and

recycled paper

HEEEAEmER L BLER

Requesting the financial printer of the Group to
produce limited copies of annual,

interim and quarterly reports
ZSRAN G B 1 B AR BNl 7 7 PR 2 A B
FR - PHRFERE

AN - B IERF BB A MR F# — B35 A
BTAABREE  WEREE  -EEVE
MIIERER - ARBEREHENEERER
BRI BN - BE— T RIOEE
BEYELS  RMCEABRTEAZFR
B FIN—FXE - BEARRAREFEE
B -BZRLEMET]  BRMERESREERE
MEL - RS EEENESEZYF
BARIAR

2020/21 2019/20
—B-%/ -9 —T—h/-FTF
4,830 4,163

0.01 0.02




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Where most of our general wastes are handled by our building
management office, we take responsibility to regularly review our
policies on waste management, and ensure our own waste handling
and disposal practices are in full compliance with applicable laws
and regulations including the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Environment Pollution
Caused by Solid Wastes and the Waste Disposal Act of Taiwan.

Energy Conservation

The Group understands that energy consumption is a major source
of GHG emissions. With the aim to contribute to relieving climate
change, we are committed to reducing our energy consumption.
Knowing that electricity used for air-conditioning and lightings
as well as fuels for forklifts and motor vehicles contribute to the
majority of our energy consumption, we have taken different steps
to reduce the use of electricity and fuel. During the Reporting
Period, we install LED lights which are more energy efficient in our
warehouse and offices. Besides, we perform regular repair and
maintenance on our forklifts and motor vehicles to maintain their
operating efficiency, which in turn brings us better fuel economy.

Some of our other initiatives for energy use efficiency include:

Turning off idle office equipment to save electricity
AFEENRAEREASNEE T

RIR - HERERERE(A)

BAPIRE D 89 —pRIL T TT R R AFIHO K E & 32
BRE - HMBAEERRTEZDEER
R AEEREMANERVERENEERR
EENABERAGIRARE - BREFEENE
BLAB(BEEMBEKH) - hEARKME
(EIRBREEYISARREIEE) R BC(ERY
BIRIE) o

B4 RETR

AEBRALRERTDEERBY RN EE
KR o RREERIEE - BABDBDEER
HAE - ERAEENTERRBRRANZE
N BREARE ) AT X E KT B H R -
B 1k 3R P ERER S [B) 46 it DA AR B8 70 B R Y
ERE - XNWMERE - RATERELRA
EMMEEAERAEOLEDE - LEHh - F A
HNEREETERRENRE - LR
HABRGETT - {E AR I R EIRBE M

~

W\/
S o
I

Curbing the usage of less energy efficient air conditioners, lightings and other equipment

A E KRR S = - RAAKE R EMEKRE

Using more energy efficient LED lighting when carrying out renovations of office and warehouse

KRB RE

Details of the amount of energy directly consumed by the Group,
including continuing and discontinued operations, during the
Reporting Period are shown below:

RER  RARSERAANLEDRAXKE

RBESHEASE(BREFELERBRE
IHEERG) BRERBRENROT

2020/21 2019/20
Energy Consumption BEIRUHEAE g /=& —E—f—BE
Petrol (litre) R (AF) 13,994 9,664
Intensity per (HK$’'000) revenue FBTAETKSINEE 0.04 0.05
Electricity (kWh) BEH(FRE) 300,356 214,909
Intensity per (HK$’000) revenue FFETRENEE 0.80 1.02
LPG (kg) BitAHR(F) 26,655 16,065
Intensity per (HK$’000) revenue BTFATRENRE 0.07 0.08

BEEREEREAR —O0-0-—O0—-——4%4%#% §9

=




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HEREREE(A)

Water Consumption

Despite the fact that the Group does not operate in a highly water
intensive industry, we strive to conserve water resource during our
daily operations. Different water conservation initiatives have been
implemented at our workplace, such as regular check of faucet
water pipes to prevent leakage and random inspection to avoid
unused running taps. Meanwhile, we also constantly monitor and
record our water usage at our offices in mainland China and Taiwan
for efficiency review purpose. For our operations in Hong Kong,
water supply and drainage are managed by the landlord for the
whole buildings and no individual water consumption data for our
Hong Kong offices are available. The Group uses municipal water
and therefore there is no difficulty in sourcing water. Details of water
consumption by the Group, including continuing and discontinued
operations, during the Reporting Period are shown below:

Water Consumption (in cubic meter) /K& (32 5 3XK)

FEKE

BEAEELFRAKERSNITELE
RPN AOERELEPELMK - M
EAETESMERIZ AL MKER - a0
IR EKBESR RUKE A2 - WETTH
BUART IEFHEARH R DM KEESE © AN - 3
PTG EERMHETEAN RS ENHA
ENAKER - UETHERES - EMHE
BEMNEEMS ARNEETEEERETH
HoKRBEK - JPLEFER L EHERI A
IKEBHIE - ARBEERBMTHK - Et R
KREASBERE - ARE(BRFELE
EBREIERERB)RNBERHENOEKE
FHIEHIRIMT

Water K
Intensity per (HK$’000) revenue BTAETHRENERE

Packaging Materials

The provision of freight forwarding and logistic services, as well as
warehousing and related value-added services by the Group often
incurs the use of packaging materials of different types. We are fully
aware that these materials can be potential wastes once they are
disposed. Therefore, we pay attention to managing and minimising
the use of packaging materials. On top of using packaging materials
which could be recycled in our operations, we also encourage our
staff to reuse card board, wooden pallets and other packaging
materials where possible. Details of the amount of packaging
materials used by the Group, including continuing and discontinued
operation, during the Reporting Period are shown below:

2020/21 2019/20
—B-%8/——% -—TN/-FTF
141

0.0007

BRI

AEBREEERELRYRRE - B KLA
BMIZERGHEEEEATRAALNEEY
e BTN ERLENH —KREREA
RERNRERY  FIARMEZEEERELE
EYHONERE - REREZETE RS
AHBEMASN - HPITREE B8 TERTIE
ATEEEAER  AERREEMBEY
e AEBE(BRFELEEBRRILEE
EB)RBESHEEANBEYHBEHS
FIZREATR ¢

Packaging Materials (in kg) BEDH(DT)
Plastic BRE

Paper & Board 4ok K AR AR
Metal' B

Others H

! Special metallic material requested from a customer during year 2019/20
but no more such request happened during year 2020/21.
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2020/21 2019/20
—B-® /- T/ -FTF
45,627 48,246

147,870 94,184

5 750

29,606 29,369

! RZE—N/—ZEFEE-ZBETEREAE
HeEBYH  BR-ZZ-T = —FEITER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Environmental Impact Management

The Group places great emphasis on reducing our impacts on the
environment and natural resources. To achieve this, we pursue the
best practices in our business operations while always keeping the
importance of environmental protection in our mind. We regularly
monitor, assess and evaluate the environmental risks faced by the
Group and execute risk mitigation plans through our integrated
risk management system. At the same time, our ESG working
group (comprised of the CEO, CFO and representatives of different
business operation teams of the Company) continues to monitor
any environmental and social issues relating to our business
operations on a daily basis. In case any significant environmental
risks identified, the ESG working group will develop appropriate
mitigation plan and follow up with its implementation. Our Hong
Kong premises have been relocated to the Hutchison Logistics
Centre which offers customised facilities for truck loading and
uploading, minimising noise pollution and blockade of roads during
our business operations. While our operations in mainland China
and Taiwan do not involvement management of warehouses, they
pose limited noise pollution to neighbouring environment.

RIR - HERERERE(A)

REFEETE

AEEBESFHIERERBARAERNTE o
REJWEE  RMRAETRRRENSE
T WREREE LERINGRENBE - &
MecieER  FHETIEAESEEBRDY
RIERR - WERBHEMNESREREERS
RBITRE R AEREE S - R - RPIHIRIE -
e kEBTERK(BITHRAR - e
EERARRANRIEREEE KN R KRAK)
NeGEFEERREMEFSLERENIER
REAEHE -  WREBFEMERAIRFE
B IRIE - g REBITIEEREHIESE
WEMRTEIWRELEREE - RMEDS
MEFEBEMEMRF L EZEF'/[ﬁ%f &
REHERERME  FRMOEZ S ERER
EERRESE &@Eﬁﬁﬂﬁ%:ﬁ?ﬁ A
THEAREENEBE I I REEESR -
EHL EHFERRIBENNREISRER -

Content Index for HKEX ESG Reporting Guide FHEBIHMBIE HE2RERR
R %I AR ]

General Disclosures Reference

and KPls Description (Page Number) Remarks

—RIEBERBRERES #Hik 2E(EH) By =t

Environmental
RIB

Aspect A1: Emissions
EHEAT : HER

General Disclosure

— R EE

Protect Our Earth
(Pages 85-91)

IREHIR(FE85E1H)

KPI A1.1
RASEAE WIS IZAT A

The types of emissions and
respective emissions data

e R AR R BUR

Protect Our Earth (Page 86-87)
REHIK(FEB6EEZE87H)

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in Protect Our Earth (Page 87)
RASEAE WIBIEAT .2 total and, where appropriate, (R IR ($E87H)
intensity
mE RS EEE N E R (@A)
HE
BEERBRERAT —O0=0-—O0=—%F®% 91




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - HERERKRSE(E)

General Disclosures Reference

and KPIs Description (Page Number) Remarks
—REBERBRERES #HiL 2Z(H8) Bt =

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced N/A Immaterial amount of
RASRAE RUIEIZA1.3 (in tonnes) and, where TiER hazardous wastes

KPI A1.4
RABHIAUIEIRAT 4

KPI A1.5
RABHEMIRIRATE

KPI A1.6
FABIAUIETIRAT.6

appropriate, intensity
FELAEBRRNEE
(AREETE) R (2@ R ) 7 &2

Total non-hazardous waste
produced and, where
appropriate, intensity

FFEEREEEMRER
(@R =mE

Description of measures to
mitigate emissions and results
achieved

RAUR R HE P B0 HE 3
PSR

Description of how hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved

iR EERBEEREEDN
o RIEEAEREER
ZIECIE S

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

[EHEA2 : BIR{FE A
General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI A2.1
RSB MUIRIRAL 1

KPI A2.2

RAR 48 IS 1RA2.2

KPI A2.3
RRSHAAUIETIRA2.3

Direct and/or indirect energy
consumption by type in total
and intensity

REDEIDMERE R, HEERE
REHEEREE

Water consumption in total and
intensity
RFEKEREE

Description of energy use
efficiency initiatives and
results achieved

Ha il gE IR AR A8 )
FTiSAR
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generated by the
Group’s business

operations
REBEXBEEEEN
BEEMEEL T
BX
Protect Our Earth
(Page 88)
REMIR(FE88EH)

Protect Our Earth
(Pages 86-87)
RFEMIK(F86E87E)

Protect Our Earth
(Pages 88-89)
REHIK(F88F89H )

Protect Our Earth
(Pages 89-90)
REMIK(FB89EQ0E )

Protect Our Earth
(Page 89)
RAEMIK(F89E )

Protect Our Earth
(Page 90)
REMIK(FE08E)

Protect Our Earth (Page 89)
REMIR(FE89H)




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Contlnued)

General Disclosures
and KPIs Description

—REERBRERISE #il

R - HERERKRSE(E)
Reference
(Page Number) Remarks
2E(HEH) Bt =

KPI A2.4
RABEMIERA2.4

Description of whether there is
any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water

efficiency initiatives and results

achieved

s \ZJiHXiﬁH AR _E R (A

- ARARTT K ER
Pﬁ SIE S

et 8 &

KPI A2.5
RABEARIEIRA2.5

Total packaging material used
for finished products (in

tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced

Sk mPTABEM R EE (U
W E)R(NER)BLEES
(Rl

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
EBHA3 : BERARABIR
General Disclosure

— R EE

KPI A3.1
RABHE IR IRAS. 1

Description of the significant
impacts of activities on the
environment and natural
resources and the actions
taken to manage them

R IR B ERFRRRER

WERTERDHENEREE#
T BT

Social

HE

Aspect B1: Employment

EmEB1 : EfE

General Disclosure

—MREE

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender,

RABEAE I IZEB .1 employment type (full-time
or part-time), age group and
geographical region

IR - ERAR (2B
B - FEER K= E 5
B4agr

D H R

Protect Our Earth
(Page 90)
REHIK(F0H)

Protect Our Earth
(Page 90)

REEMIR(5E90R)

Protect Our Earth
(Pages 85-91)
RIEHIR(F85E918)

Protect Our Earth
(Pages 86-91)
RFEMIK(F86E915)

Care Our Talents
(Pages 75-76, 84)
Z2EANA(F75276 - 848)

Care Our Talents (Page 77)

EZEANS(FB77H)
BEEREEREAR —O0-0-—O0—-——4%%#% 03




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE -HERE

General Disclosures
and KPIs

BHE (&)

Description

—REERBRERISE #iL

Reference
(Page Number) Remarks
2Z(H8) My =t

KPI B1.2
FASAUIEIRB.2

Employee turnover rate by
gender, age group and
geographical region

RMER - FheER K@ S5 A
BERKL X

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

BEB2 : @RELXE

General Disclosure
— MR EE

KPI B2.1
BRI R IRB2.1

KPI B2.2
FABIAUIEIRB2.2

KPI B2.3
RSB MIEIRB2.3

Number and rate of work-related
fatalities in each of the
past three years (including
reporting year)
BE=F5F(PRREFE)A
TERRER ML T M A B LL 3R

Lost days due to work injury

AIBHEATIERH

Description of occupational
health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored

A PTERANBR R E 25
i ARAEBRIT RERTTE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

BEB3 : & NIE

General Disclosure
— MR EE

KPI B3.1
RS AR I 1RBS 1

KPI B3.2
RAB AR UIEIRBS.2

The percentage of employees

trained by gender and
employee category

RIRIRIEEEMES X IE
EEN

The average training hours

completed per employee

by gender and employee

category
ZHRIRESEMNES

BHREETHRZIE TR
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Care Our Talents (Page 78)
EEAT(F78E)

Care Our Talents (Pages 75-
76, 79-81)

EEANS(F75E76 - 798
81H)

Care Our Talents (Page 80)
EEAA(F80H)

Care Our Talents (Page 80)
EEAS(FB0H)

Care Our Talents (Page 79-81)
EBAS(E79E81H)

Care Our Talents (Page 82)
EEAS(F82H)

Care Our Talents (Page 83)
EEAT(F83E)

Care Our Talents (Page 83)
EEAS(F83H)




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Contlnued)

General Disclosures
and KPIs
—RIFERBERENIEE Hl

Description

RIE -HERE
Reference
(Page Number) Remarks
2E(HEH) Bt =

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EHEB4 : &5 T 48|
General Disclosure

— R EE

KPI B4.1
RS AE B 1EB4 .1

KPI B4.2
RASEIRIETRBA.2

Description of measures to review
employment practices to avoid
child and forced labour

i A 5 R B 18 ) B9 45 B LA B
ETRAHESET

Description of steps taken to
eliminate such practices when
discovered

HIMBERZEFB AR EREAE
LR EREX B 2 5%

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EMHB5 : fhEEEE
General Disclosure

— R EE

KPI B5.1
RS AE IR IEBS. 1

KPI B5.2
AR A BB 1EB5.2

Number of suppliers by
geographical region

mitRE DR EREE

Description of practices relating
to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where
the practices are being
implemented, and how
they are implemented and
monitored

G AR A HEEEED
MEFNITHE BEAIR RS
B UREHEENHNHITRE
B’AE

Care Our Talents
(Pages 75-76, 84)
EEANA(F75E76H ~ 84H)

Care Our Talents (Page 84)
EEAS(F84H)

Care Our Talents (Page 84)
EBEAT(F84H)

Improve Our Value Chain
(Page 74)
WEBEE(FET4H)

Improve Our Value Chain
(Page 74)
WEEEE(FT48)

Improve Our Value Chain

(Page 74)
WEEEE(FET4R)

ERERRERAT

—0-0-=-—0=-—%%w% 0j

yﬁ%




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIR - HEREREE(A)

General Disclosures Reference
and KPIs Description (Page Number) Remarks
—REBERBRERES #HiL 2E(HEH) Bt =
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmAMF
General Disclosure Improve Our Value Chain
—MH R (Pages 74)
HEEBEE(FE748H)
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products N/A The Group’s
RS AE B 1EB6.1 sold or shipped subject to A businesses do not
recalls for safety and health involve product
reasons recall
EENCDEXEMRETRL R REBEEB TP KEm
BfRFRIEAMARKNE DL [EIF¢
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service Improve Our Value Chain
RS E 513862 related complaints received (Page 72)
and how they are dealt with WEEEE(ET728)
BN Em KRR FEE
LA M FE 5 7 0%
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating Improve Our Value Chain
RASRAE IR 1RB6.3 to observing and protecting (Page 73)
intellectual property rights WEBEE(FE73H)
B R RE AR ER G
e 1 1l
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance Improve Our Value Chain
AR AR 1EB6.4 process and recall procedures  (Page 72)
F I E S0 AR M E an B HEEBEE(ET2H)
2
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer Improve Our Value Chain
RASRAE IR 1EB6.5 data protection and privacy (Page 73)
policies, how they are WEEEE(F73R)

implemented and monitored
R UOE B & ERHMRIE ALK
F o ARBERITRERFE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE - HERERKRSE(E)

General Disclosures

and KPIs

Description

—REERBRERISE #il

Reference
(Page Number) Remarks
2Z(H8) By £

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

[EBmEB7 : R&JS
General Disclosure

— R EE

KPI B7.1
BRI R 1RBT 1

KPI B7.2
RABEMIEIRBT.2

Number of concluded legal
cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the
issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases

RERARNEZHITASEEER
HP B AR BT AR A SR HY
L QEDS N

Description of preventive
measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored

Aty e R B WmER - AR
HERTRERETE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EMEBS : @A
General Disclosure

—RWEE

KPI B8.1
AR I 1RBS. 1

KPI B8.2
RASEIRIEIRBS.2

Focus areas of contribution
HrERERE

Resources contributed

FRENAE IR

Improve Our Value Chain
(Pages 71,75)
HEBEHE(ETT - 758)

Improve Our Value Chain
(Page 75)
HEEEE(F75H)

Improve Our Value Chain
(Page 75)
HEBEE(FT5H)

Improve Our Value Chain
(Page 75)
HEEEE(ET5H)

Improve Our Value Chain
(Page 75)
HEEBEE(FET5H)

Improve Our Value Chain
(Page 75)
HEBEE(FET5H)

BEERRERAT —O0=Z0-=—O0=—%F®% 97




7

- INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
| BUBBEEE

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

fekspda

Shine‘ZOing

To the Shareholders of Wan Leader International Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wan
Leader International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
105 to 196, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are the matters that, in our professional
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. The matter was
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

B ZBET RS (&)

RREXE

AZBETERBE S AGRMNE
BZBER ([ BB RBCER ) £1TER -
AZBETEZFLEN THEED RARE
[ BB B A M MR ARENEE]
—EFE—TEA - RIEFE G ASHE
O FEXESTEEETR([TRI]) - A
RbfTIE Y BB - WO EITTRIR A EM
BXRBEEME - ARBENTTARE - NZHED
TR SNETREEREREE /A
BENTTH B R HLER

BT I

MRBFTZESRBEAZBMITOEEH
B - REHAPEGEE Y HRERNEBARD
BE2MEE - REFFARANBETE B
BRAMBHRRIAHABRFREIE - MAK
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B ZBET RS (&)

Provision of expected credit loss (the “ECL”) for trade

receivables

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 131 to 135.

The key audit matter
HRBEZSBR

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
trade receivable was approximately HK$65,782,000 (net off
allowance for impairment loss of HK$918,000).
RZEZ—F=A=+—H ERABZERFERRELY
65,782,000/ 7T (KRR (B 518 # 5918,000%8 7T ) °

We have identified provision of the ECL for trade receivables
as a key audit matter because the total carrying amount of
trade receivables are significant to the consolidated financial
statements and the provision of ECL involves significant
judgements and estimations.

BN E S EUCRIEREABEHGE M HREAT S BER Y
TREEEERBE I RERAE KA  HESEEESHEK
RERACEBHEREY AR EZENRE -
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BEZRURERMGERR(AYNGEES
B e

BLHGRATBRRME20REIZBTIESE
1358 2 &FHEUR o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EBERTNERETE

We have understood the key controls on how the
management estimates the loss allowance for trade
receivables;

EECD THREREMTEHERIGIEEIERE 2 Ei
ZHEE

We have testing the integrity of information used by
management for collective assessment on a sample
basis; and
EECDHEAREREEARNEAMAERNEERL
P53

We have assessed management’s bias and
judgement in determining loss allowance on
trade receivables at end of the reporting period,
including their identification of credit-impaired trade
receivables, the reasonableness of management’s
grouping of the remaining trade debtors into different
categories for collective assessment, and the basis
of estimated loss rates applied (with reference
to historical default rates and forward-looking
information).
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors of the Company
and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B ZBET RS (&)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B ZBET RS (&)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 29 June
2020.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Hon Kei, Anthony.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Hon Kei, Anthony

Practising Certificate Number: P05591

Hong Kong
25 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBRmkHMEEKER

BT - —F=A=1+—HIFE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2021
B —F
HK$°000
FHET

332,804
(302,047)

30,757
1,069
(1,004)
(4,814)
(24,413)

(355)
(188)

(129)

Notes
B 5T
Continuing operation BERSEEL
Revenue Wz 7
Cost of services Pl 7% A S
Gross profit EX
Other income HA A 8
Other gains and losses H i ugas & EsiE 9
Sales and marketing expenses SHE R H X
Administrative expenses THHAX
Impairment losses recognised on trade FLE S EWGIEERARE
receivables, net B8 %A
Impairment losses recognised on BIE S N E A R GR IR FE R
deposits and other receivables, net B R E B R E
Other expenses HEMfx
Finance costs Bh& B AR 10
Profit (loss) before taxation BB AR A (BE)
Income tax (expense) credit SR (AR 11
Profit (loss) for the year from FRIFELSEEL
continuing operation A (EE) 12
Discontinued operation RIEREER
Profit (loss) for the year from F R I TS
discontinued operation & ) (E518) 13

Profit (loss) for the year

FREF (&)

2020
—TFF
HK$’000
T
(Restated)
(F£5E51)

177,959
(165,867)
12,092
95

(68)
(4,095)
(25,642)

(239)

(1,600)
(97)

(19,554)
272

(19,282)

(3,558)

(22,840)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

GEEERAEMZEWER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HzE—T

——F=A=+—ALFE

2021 2020
—B——fF —T_FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Note (Restated)
B 5E (& E5))
Other comprehensive income FREMEEmRE(BX)
(expense) for the year
Item that may be subsequently PE1E I BEEFT D AE Z 187 1)
reclassified to profit or loss HH
Exchange differences arising on TINETE IS V(B AR
translating of foreign operations (104)
Other comprehensive income (expense) R E M2 E Wz (FI)
for the year (104)
Total comprehensive income (expense) FREEKE(FY )@
for the year
Profit (loss) for the year THALELEFERGEF
attributable to: (E518) -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIESZEDN
— from continuing operation —REFBBEELER (18,439)
— from discontinued operation —RERIEEEER (3,558)
(21,997)
Non-controlling interests ES g
- from continuing operation —REEBLEER (843)
(22,840)
Total comprehensive income THATEGEFERZEER R
(expenses) for the year (B )45 .
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIES ZEDN
- from continuing operation —REBBKEER (18,515)
— from discontinued operation —RE R IR (3,558)
(22,073)
Non-controlling interests eI
— from continuing operation —REFELCEER (871)
Earnings (loss) per share BREF(EHE) 16
From continuing and discontinued KEFFB RASIFAS S TS
operations
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR #5E (B)

From continuing operation
Basic and diluted (HK cents)

KB R
EAREEGEIL)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 March 2021

Notes
B et
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ERL BB 17
Intangible asset BVEE 18
Rental deposits HEEe 19
Pledged bank deposit EERRTER 21
Deferred tax assets BERBEE 27
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade and other receivables SR EMmEKA 20
Tax recoverable A eI IR
Pledged bank deposits BBRITER 21
Bank balances and cash RITEREE S 21
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTE 22
Lease liabilities HERRE 23
Tax payable TR
Contract liabilities ANakE 24
Provisions BE 25
Bank borrowings BITER 26
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBERE
Lease liabilities HEGRE 23
Provisions BE 25
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEBE 27
NET ASSETS BERE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRG#E
Share capital B 28
Other reserves H it A
Accumulated losses Sy e
Equity attributable to owners of the Company &2 B#H A ELEz
Non-controlling interest FEPER
TOTAL EQUITY aER

e PRI R

R-ZE-—4F=A=+—H

2021 2020
—E--F —Z-Z
HK$’000 HK$'000
ThR TAT
16,656
4,166
769
1,695
23,186
48,362
594
2,042
15,856
109,542 66,854
29,225
6,527
221
2,000
37,973
28,881
4,106
526
4,631
47,436
8,400 8,400
64,982 64,562
(20,946) (25,799)

47,167
269

47,436

The consolidated financial statements on pages 105 to 196 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25
June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Loy Hak Yu Thomas
BRELE
DIRECTOR

g

FI6EEFI16EZHEANBRRN _-F
——ERATHRKEEeMERRET
T AR THEEREESE

Lo Wing Sang
DIRECTOR
EF
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—’~_ CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
U RARBEBR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE—T-—F=A=+—HILFE
Other ~ Merger Non-
Share Share  reserve  reserve  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium (note ) (noted)  reserve losses Total interests Total
BfbdE  AORE
Rx  ReEE (M) () AERE  BHES B FBRER @it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEr TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr TR
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEMA-A 8,400 49,429 14,118 1,091 - (3,798) 69,240 69,240
Loss for the year ERER = = S = -9 1997) (43 (22,840)
- Exchange differences arising on - HRECER R
tranglating of foreign operations - - - - (76) - (76) (28 (104)
Total comprehensive expense ERRERAR
for the year - - - - (1) (21997 (22,073 @71)  (22,944)
Contribution fomanon-controling ~~ ~EH AR UMBAT
interest of a newly incorporated FrRERLE
subsidlary - - - - - - - 1,140 1,140
At 31 March 2020 R-E-EE=B=1-R 8,400 49429 14,118 1,091 (76)  (25,79) 47,167 269 47,436

At 1 Apri 2020

Profit (loss) for the year

- Exchange differences arising on
translating of foreign operations

R-Z-TEMA-H

- #EZE 128

Total comprehensive income ER2ENE ()48

(expense) for the year
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE--E=B=1-R 14,118
Notes:

(i)

(if)

Other reserve represents the (i) deemed contribution by a non-controlling
shareholder through acquisition of Orient Zen Logistics Services Limited
(“Orient Zen”), (ii) acquisition of additional interest of Orient Zen and (iii)
allotment of shares of Ever Metro International Limited (“Ever Metro”) to
strategic investors.

Amount represents difference between the par value of the shares issued
by Ever Metro for the combination of the entire equity interests in Union
Air Cargo Limited (“Union Air”) and Fu Yo Warehouse Logistics Company
Limited (“Fu Yo”) and the amount of share capital of Union Air and Fu Yo.

The combination of Union Air and Fu Yo by Ever Metro have been
accounted for using the principles of merger accounting as Union Air,
Fu Yo and Ever Metro are under the common control of Mr. Loy Hak Yu
Thomas both before and after the combination and the control is not
transitory.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE=ZZT=—F=A=+—HIEFE

2021
—E-—F
HK$°000
FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Profit (loss) before taxation BRAZAT R A (EE) 4,988
Adjustments for: THIVEL A% -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BENMERETE 10,465
(Reversal of) provision for compensation (B E)ES(ERHE (1,227)
Gain on disposals/write off of property, plant and  H& s E - KE X
equipment HE W (101)
Government grants T AT 48 B (2,592)
Impairment losses recognised on ME Z FEYIE R IR
trade receivables, net R EE1E 5 402
Impairment losses recognised on deposits and Fire - EfhfEWRIERER
other receivables, net B R E B 18 EE 188
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMBARNKE (2,092)
Amortisation of intangible asset E B =
Interest income EWA (104)
Finance costs BhE AR 431
Operating cash flows before LEESEERIN
movements in working capital KERPRE 10,358
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 R HAth fE Y SR IE I A0 (41,338)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N E b E A FIEE N 35,627
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities SHBEEMCRD) 3,550

CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN)
OPERATIONS
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded

REmB(MARE

BB F B MG

NET CASH FROM (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

REFHME(FTAN
REFH

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and

equipment
Bank interest received

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

REEH

HEMBRRRMFAERE

RIS HMRITER

HEME - BE MEEN
PS8

EUERITHI R

BEYE  BEMRE

Payment of rental deposits TNHEEZRS

Placement of pledged bank deposits FHEBERFIEITFR

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) REZBHFREB(FTAH
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFE

2020
—E-TF

—= —=

HK$’000
TAT

(12,333)
(15,620)
10,142

(199)

(18,010)
1,913

(16,097)

500

225
42
(4,887)
(113)
(764)

(4,997)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
mERERERE)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE—T-—F=A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EToFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEEE
Repayment of principal element of lease liabilities (E2HE & EA S 1D (6,751) (6,460)
Repayment of interest element of lease liabilities £ E & &5 2 &5 (382) (559)
Interest paid ERFE (49) -
New loans obtained from bank RERITHFER 3,630 -
Government grants received L B B A 4 B 2,592 -
Payment of deferred listing costs XARIE £ AR = (803)
Capital contribution from a non-controlling — A B A R AT
interest of a newly incorporated subsidiary JEFE R B 1,140
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES Bi&EE fr A aY
REFHE (6,682)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and RERIRSFEYFIEMN
cash equivalents CR ) (27,776)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of FURe MBS EEY
the year 43,632
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERGFEELIVE -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FRIEE RIRSEEY 15,856
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

GENERAL

Wan Leader International Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares were listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 5 September 2018. The immediate and
ultimate holding company is Ho Tat Limited (“Ho Tat”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).
Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (“Mr.
Thomas Loy”), who is also the Chairman of the Company.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the section headed
“Corporate Information” to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”), are principally engaged in freight forwarding
and related logistics services. Before the disposal of a
subsidiary mentioned below, the Group was also engaged in
warehousing and related value-added services.

On 31 March 2021, the Group has completed a disposal of
a subsidiary related to the whole warehousing and related
value-added services segment. The financial results of the
warehousing and related value-added services for the year
ended 31 March 2021 were presented as discontinued
operation and comparative figures for the year ended 31
March 2020 have been restated accordingly.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”) which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRSs and the following amendments to HKFRSs and
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) which are effective for the Group’s financial year
beginning 1 April 2020:
Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

Definition of Material

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs and the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect on the
Group’s financial performance and positions for the current
and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HIIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKASs and HKFRSs and Interpretation that
have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKAS 16
Amendments to
HKAS 37
Amendments to

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4

and HKFRS 16

Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKFRS B REER R
Practice Statement 2 EPEACHES!
Amendment to Annual Improvements to BB REER - \#2-%-%
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018 - 2020 cycle® (BZTK) BEE AR R L
EEMe
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and EReERE12% HEBERFELNEER
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single (B3TK) BEEERNELHIE
Transaction*
Amendment to COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions® AU REERE16% COVID-19ABR SR
HKFRS 16 (B3TA)
Amendment to COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions ERUBREERFEI6Y —T--FSA=1H
HKFRS 16 beyond 30 June 2021¢ SCHES) Z1%COVID-19
BAEeERe
BEERRERAT —O0=0-=—0=—%F®% 113

Insurance Contracts and related
Amendments*

Reference to Conceptual
Framework?®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and the related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5(2020)
Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause*

Definition of Accounting Estimates*

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use®

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract®

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2!

Disclosure of Accounting Policies*
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; - Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

U RAMBRENE(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

N Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

N Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, the application
of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting date.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date under current market
conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in
the accounting policies set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Group:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income of
subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
or expense of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

| BARBHRRME(R)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i)
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary at
their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interests in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost (including any components of other comprehensive
income attributable to them), and (iii) recognises the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest, with any resulting difference being
recognised as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to the
Group. When assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are carried
at revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative
gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets and liabilities (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings
as specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographic
area of operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale. When an operation is classified as
discontinued, a single amount is presented in the consolidated
income statement, which comprises the post-tax profit or
loss of the discontinued operation and the post-tax gain or
loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs
to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.

1 1 6 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2020 — 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Contlnued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

(Continued)
Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

° The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o The Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created
and enhanced; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

S8

ZEERERAT

e MR M ()

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAE:HEw@m

L 25 B RT

REBTTRBERQE ER (SRt ) #ER
W EREROEEABOE®
SRR [12FE | BR 2R -

BHEEEATRS
2k AR ek —
BEARER -

ZE—(H—H)E
51| A] [ 2 1 7 am 3k R

5/ 2 T 50 E R — THAR 2 - R 4%
E-BEBAEE mMikaERes
Z-BEHEABTKEMENRIN
HEEHETT

s RAKBETELH FEFRK
BEREAAREROMEHRD
ik

s AEBENBHEERRENEFPE
BRERIRTTEERENNEE
Bl

s AKEMEHYTEREAEE
BERRENEE  BAKES
S EEKEORNNKAA R B
FIEATTRORER) ©

—0Z0—z—0=——%%F% 117




; - Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

U RAMBRENE(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

The Group’s revenue from freight forwarding and related
logistics services and warehousing and related value
added services is recognised over time when the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the Group performs, using
output method.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration from the customer. A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised.

1 1 8 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2020 — 2021

BEASHEE @

U =R ®)

BEEERRE  FTEXTEZEITEY
BEREZEE

B%

EXKEBEHNEEINEEZRZERLR
BEEmIRG 2 EHEEAEER
BB At E  BHOEDRRES
BlEREPFPEBNE ARG EEGE
HRIBE A NAENBR T ERKRS)
Z BT EEAERERKE

BEEFPRAEBERENRREEX RE
RAKBRAOMERZNE  A&E
XEEEREREBEYRRSE KA
Ko AR B 5 (B AR 745 0 Mk 28 A Bl EDRFERR, -

ARRE

BRNABREARBERERMEP KRR
B MERTPEERRBNEL - i
AEEAEGEENRASERRME
BAU R AT BB - R ERE MR
& - LB T - A RERAREEK

TRIE ©




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

e MR M ()

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAE:HEE @)

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation (Continued)

Contract liabilities (Continued)

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Leasing
Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as leasee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect
to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option) and leases of low value assets. For
these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

| BARBHRRME(R)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Contlnued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant
and equipment”, which is the same line item within the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to
determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

ERERRERAT

e MR M ()

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

HE @)
EREEE

EREEESTHEEESEEE N
B HR AR R E N AR
M EEMRANTZETE - BAER
HEES -

EREEERRERANRBRTNER
HEBRE  URHERENTHE
EMAEFELRE EREEETR
70 HA K AR B A EE A AL 6 AR AR IO BOR
EWE - TENMAERE ARG
o

AEER D% - BER&EHIZ5E
REEE  HWHEEHEEBHEBEE &
RE—]EEZ7 -

AEBEATEGTEUFEICREE
HMEEBEEREEESGORE I
LRI B AR EE R AR

P

iR EBEE5R
%’M?Eﬁmm
K BEERRZ TiRRZ 5% BRE X
XXEWQEE%(EH BEEmTErE
ERBRR2EE)ER - RIEH
R AINEIENEBIEREEZAN
WITEXREHMHBE  BINEFE L KK
FrEREEIEE BAENRE -

[m[? )ﬂﬂill}

BHMBEHEER
= B LASNEHE (O

>Cﬂ\

}

—Z0Z0—z—0=——%%F® 121




; - Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

U RAMBRENE(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HIIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit scheme
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense (credit) represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit (loss) before taxation”
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either (i) the same
taxable entity; or (i) different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ-ZT - —4=A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost or fair
value of items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Right-of-use assets for offices and motor vehicle are
depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis
as owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable
certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the
lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Intangible asset
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash in the consolidated statement of financial position
comprise cash at banks and on hand with a maturity of three
months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash as defined above.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value, except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.
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; - Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

U RAMBRENE(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAE:HEw@m

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets
are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cashflow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HIIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

()  Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit impaired on initial recognition), the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding expected credit losses (“ECL"),
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition. For purchased or originated credit impaired
financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate
is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash
flows, including ECL, to the amortised cost of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for
any loss allowance.
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; - Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently
at amortised cost. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, the Group recognises interest income by
applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial
recognition. The calculation does not revert to the
gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset
subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “other income” (note 8).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated
collectively based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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; - Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

U RAMBRENE(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes
the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that
relate to the Group’s operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ-ZT - —4=A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAE:HEw@m

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liguidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any subsequent recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risk of default occurring as the weights.

The ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held for-trading, or
3) designated as at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”),
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is
material).

Provision for the costs to restore leased assets to their original
condition, as required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, are recognised at the directors’ best estimate of the
expenditure that would be required to restore the assets.
Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted as appropriate
for new circumstances.

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash generating unit, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Contlnued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the assets in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics
of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level inputs that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets or liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3 above, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets)

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2)
if there is impairment indicator, whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the
case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used
in the impairment test.

4.

ERERRERAT

e MR M ()

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

EEF R REMN EERIR

REMEAR E X3 AN EE &t
BRE  NARESZAHLREMEER
REBRRPBENEE BFE  Wak
P S FIEL HE - At REBR - &
Fhat MAREEBRIIREEERLR &
AR BRENEMEARMIEL - BER
ERYEEZF[ET TR -

ZEAE RAREBRE SR AR o
HAEZE A BIELMERTSE
FZEMFTETHR(ELFEITERY
EZHE) HEERTHE R R KA
(BEZEEIZERERARRMSE) T
VATERR o

HET T REMENEZRR

UTAERRNERBR LN REH
RIEFTNEE N EMBEZRIR - &
ERRER T —EAMRFENEER
BERAEAFHERFHENEAR

4 o
N

¥ BERRB(BECAEEE)
ZhEETRE

ME - BEMRE(BREREEE)
AR R AT E RORE (B ) B
Ro-RETEETLRER  A5E
AELHE RS LEFENE -
MWREBRLEAREZEEEBENSH
HEMPBR : QBEEBRETRBERE
7 F B T (B DA ) K [e] < B8 (i 75 68 1
EBE MREBEFEEMEEMTHOR
KESREZREFE) XHF  REO)
et @ e EEMRAONEE T2
B& - BRASRERB S EERRR
o WA REfSETER EE (BB ERE
BE) AR E ¢ R - REBEBIEE
ZBEEMBzREELEM 2RO
2H - BRREGHAZEY  BHERE
METRR 2 BB IR RRIG @ HR
BRARMAFREBRNEATE -

—0Z0—z—0=——%%F® 141




; - Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

U RAMBRENE(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4, FFTHEEMENETERR

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying values of property,
plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) were
approximately HK$3,916,000 (2020: HK$16,656,000). No
impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020.

Income taxes

As at 31 March 2021, a deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$156,000 (2020: HK$1,685,000) in relation to unused
tax losses and deductible temporary difference have been
recorded in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
on deductible temporary differences and tax losses of
approximately HK$158,000 and HK$14,477,000 (2020:
HK$927,000 and HK$14,862,000) respectively due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams for certain subsidiaries.
The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than expected,
a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
such a reversal takes place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The impairment provisions for trade receivables are based
on assumptions about ECL. The Group assesses ECL for
the trade receivables on a collective basis. The provision
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The collective
assessment is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration default rates by external credit
agency and forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the estimated loss rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered. Changes in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the result of the assessment and it
may be necessary to make additional impairment charge
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately HK$65,782,000 (2020: HK$44,389,000),
net of allowance of impairment loss of approximately
HK$918,000 (2020: HK$610,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
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. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B 5 AR B AL (4

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. ZZ[E M EE @)
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which REBMNEAREHBBIEESE 8468
includes lease liabilities disclosed in note 23 and equity HWF23BEENHERBELAA
attributable to owners of the Company. The management A AEERERS A RRIETEET
of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly. As part B st B NS - BRI mETE —3F
of this review, the management considers the cost and the D BEBEEEEANKANESEHE
risks associates with each class of the capital. Based on the BARMBENER - KEEREBEETEE
recommendations of the management, the Group will balance ERSAERERTFEHEREELE AL
its overall capital structure through raising of borrowings. I# o
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. TRIEREEEEREX
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
a. Categories of financial instruments a. @I BEEH
2021 2020
—E-— —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Financial assets TRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REE S AN ET 2/
S REE 108,776 70,173
Financial liabilities TRaE
At amortised cost bi7g: £ )i 29,098
b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, rental deposits, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables and bank borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

mE

6. TRAREEREEREE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ()
b. Financial risk management objectives b. ERlEAREEEERK
and policies (Continued) ¢ )
(i)  Currency risk (i) EERK
The Group’s operational activities are mainly REBMELEHEEL
denominated in HK$. The Group is exposed to BILEE AEBETFTER
foreign currency risk primarily arising from services MEPFPRHEAHERR
to customers and services provided from suppliers M AN ST E /9 AR 7% i T
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group FaoNERBE - AN E B Al
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging A 4 5T ONPE ST R R o
policy. However, the management closely monitors A AEBFBEEEBER
foreign exchange exposure and will consider ESIMNERR - WAEREA
hedging significant foreign currency exposure WB R Z EE R E KINE
should the need arise. [Zfx o
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign AEBP RS HH R A
currency denominated monetary assets and BIAENEREERE
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting BEZEREENT !
period are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE BfE
2021 2020 2021 2020
B —T-TF B —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T FET T
United States Er(lErx])
Dollars (“USD”)
RMB AR
Euro (“EUR”) BT (BT )

Sensitivity analysis

Under the pegged exchange rate system, the
financial impact arising from changes in exchange
rates between HK$ and USD is not expected to
be significant and therefore, the corresponding
sensitivity analysis is not prepared.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. TRIEMREEEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. ERlEAREEEERK
and policies (Continued) ¢ )

(i)  Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risks
of USD and RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2020: 5%) increase and decrease in New
Taiwan Dollar against USD and RMB, and HK$
against RMB. The 5% are the sensitivity rates used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items, and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% (2020: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates.

Effect on post-tax profit (loss):

() EBERE(E)
BRE ST (4E)

AEEXZEHBARE R
XL BB

TRFME A S EH
AEEETRARE - 1L
RAETHAREER EF
NMTHs%(ZE_TF
5%) 2 BRKE - 5% 2 &
MEEZEEABEIER
8 1A 3P BB R B R B 2 SRR
EF & - REREZEEEHN
MIERA RS EEH 2T
o BREIMTRBIENU
INETHEZ RENEKIE
B WAREHREINE
ER5%H(ZBE_FF : 5%)
2 EBEMEEL AR -

BRI (BB M E

usD RMB

ETT AR
2021 2020 2021 2020
—EB--F =—ZE-TF B CZT=THF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T FET FETT

i ) 25 1R

Profit or loss

The above EUR denominated assets and liabilities
are insignificant to the Group. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis is presented for EUR against
the functional currencies of respective Group’s
entities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to the fixed-rate pledged bank deposits,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. However,
management considers the fair value interest rate
risk is insignificant.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
risk arising from the volatility of interest rate
in the market as bank balances are at market
rates. Management of the Group considers that
the impact to profit or loss is insignificant for a
reasonable change in the market rate. Accordingly,
no sensitivity analysis is prepared.

Credit risk

At 831 March 2021 and 2020, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
trade receivables. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets.

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

6. TRAREEREEREE

(#8)

b. SREKERABERK
R (48)
(i)  FI=E

(iii)

ERERRERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has taken follow-up
action to ensure overdue debts are able to recover.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on an collective basis by using
a provision matrix, estimated based on historical
credit loss experience, as well as the general
economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

For other non-traded related receivables, the
Group has assessed whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group will measure the loss
allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month
ECL (“12m ECL").

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 22%
(2020: 13%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest customer. The Group’s
concentration of credit risk on the top five largest
customers accounted for 67% (2020: 58%) of the
total trade receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Contlnued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

6.

e MR M ()

HE—T—

TREREER

(%)

b. ERlEMREIEEE

xR @)

(iii)

—F=A=+—AILFE

EEmE(E)

N5 5] 7 [ g 15 B R

AEBEAIEER

AHE BRI TR -

=N BUR

=N

A/\-’vi
»/\ﬂ’r

rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
ABEESE  HE B 5 ERSE HiteREE
Group A The counterparties have a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - not credit-  12m ECL - not credit-
based on good historical repayment records impaired impaired
and are mainly multinational companies or listed companies
AR RPUFEERBEARALTAR  BERFEHRY - 2HEHEEER REAEREERS
EOERRIE —JHEERE —JHEERE
Group B The counterparties have a medium risk of default Lifetime ECL - not credit-  12m ECL - not credit-
based on good historical impaired impaired
repayment records and are mainly
unlisted entities or small to medium entities
Bi REUFIZRFITERID TR THESHCERE 12AAESHEERR
BERFEHRA  BOERETE —JHEERE —JHEERE
Group C The counterparties usually settle after due Lifetime ECL - not credit-  12m ECL - not credit-
dates with a higher risk of default impaired impaired
CH REUFRERIBALET  BOERRS 2HRREEHE 12AARBEERR
-FEERE —FHEERE
Group D There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - not credit-  Lifetime ECL - not credit-
credit risk since initial recognition impaired impaired
DE BMREAUR - FERRAAEELR rHRSEERE rHESEERE
-FEERE -FEERE
Group E There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL - credit- Lifetime ECL - credit-
impaired impaired
Ef RRBETERELREEAE THEHEERE THESEERR
-EERE -FERE
Group F There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off
debtor is in sever financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
Fi BRBTERAERENHEE - HEEEeR HEERLE
s RN
BEERRERAT —O0=Z0-—0=—%F®% 149
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~~_ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Q 4o B RS SR 3 BT EE (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #Z=Z=-—F=A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. TRIEREERERIE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ()
b. Financial risk management objectives b. ERlEAREEEERK
and policies (Continued) ¢ )
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) (i) EERKGE)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposure of TREIINAEEEREE
the Group’s financial assets and trade receivables, LB ZREEZHIENEER
which are subject to ECL assessment. RO RS ZEemE

EAKEMEEEENG

External Internal ~ 12-month Gross carrying
At 31 March 2021 Notes creditrating creditrating or lifetime ECL amount
RZB=-§=B=1-H B HMBEETE APRETR 12EAAREEEEEES BEAE
HK'000
TR
Trade recelvables BHMRIFE 20 N/A Notei  Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired
(collective basis)
TR i 2ERHEEEE-HEEHE
(HFEE)
Other receivables Eft I 20 N/A Noteii  12m ECL (indlvidually
NaR Wit 12EARBEEER(ER)
Deposits Ve 20 N/A Note i 12m ECL (individually)
R Wi 12EARBEESAER)
Rental deposits fgiks 19820 N/A Noteii  12m ECL (individually)
HER Wi 12EARBEEFE(ER)
Pledged bank deposits BEBRAER 2 AA- N/A - 1omECL
AR AER  12ERRBRERE
Bank balance RiTaR 21 A- AA- N/A 12mECL
AZAA-B MR 12[EREEEERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Contlnued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii)

HEZTZ

6. TRIAEREER

—F=A=+—AILFE

=N BUR

(%)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. SREAREEBEEZERNK
and policies (Continued) R ()

Credit risk (Continued) (i) EERE(E)

External Internal ~ 12-month Gross

At 31 March 2020 Notes  creditrating  creditrating  or lifetime ECL carrying amount

RZEZFE=A=T-H Mt HBEETR MPEETR  12ERIZEREBEESE ErsE

HK'000
AL
Trade receivables BRUITR 2 N/A Notei  Lifetime ECL - not credit- 44,999
impaired (collective basis)
TR it 2HBEEEER
-FEERE(RRAEE)
Deposits &e 20 N/A Noteii ~ 12m ECL (individually) 2,827
TER Fiski 12ERREBEEEE(ER)
Rental deposits RERe 19820 N/A Noteii ~ 12m ECL (individually) 4,290
TER Fiski 12ERRBEEEE(ER)
Pledged bank deposits BERRITER 21 AA- N/A - 12mECL 2,811
AA-HR MER  12BARHREER
Bank balance BT 21 A-AA- N/A  12mECL 15,856
AZAA-BR NER  12EREREEER

Notes: MisT
For trade receivables, the Group has applied the RESHEWHIEMS © &
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss SECEATEVBHRE
allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines ERIFIFREEFFESR
the expected credit losses on a collective basis, HEHEEBENEBER
using internal credit rating as groupings of various o AEEFERANIEE
debtors that have similar nature and loss patterns. AR(EEEEEMTER
The collective assessment is based on the Group’s EEEX e EWRTRDE
historical default rates taking into consideration default B ERETESEER
rates by external credit agency and forward-looking B8 o KEFHEDHIERR
information. EEBATENXR  KEE

INEPEEMBRELOER
RTBE &R -

i For the purposes of internal credit risk management, ii. TR EERREEM
the Group uses past due information to assess T AKBEFERAHESR
whether credit risk has increased significantly since EEMLERAKREE
initial recognition. R R TEEIL M o
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_ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE—-Z-—F=A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed based on collective assessment
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

At 31 March 2021
R=F=-—-%=A=+—-H

TREREEAERBX

(%)

b. REREEERRK
R ()

(iii)

Average
loss rate

FHERE

=ERE(E)

TRIEHBBE S E UK
HEERBRNER  &F

BERTDIRBELHBHEE
EE(TEEERE) L
B FF G A o
Gross Loss
amount allowance
B EERE
HK$’000 HK$’000

BT AT T

Group A AZB 0.71%
Group B B8 1.94%
Group C C¥8 3.28%
Group D D#E 6.76%
66,700 918
Average Gross Loss
At 31 March 2020 loss rate amount allowance
R-ZE-ZTF=A=+—H FHEEE #aza [EEiEa ]
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Group A k3| 0.15% 26,170 39
Group B B%g 1.50% 7,005 105
Group C Cta 2.80% 5,682 159
Group D D& 5.00% 6,142 307
44,999 610
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HIIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. TREAREEBEEZEREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. TREREEEEZERK

and policies (Continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach.

¢ )
(iiiy EERMRE(E)
TRETRBEEILESH

BEH5RUKECER LB
BHEEEREZE -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime
not credit- ECL credit-
impaired impaired Total

2HEMEE 2HERHEH
BE-#FE  HE-FE

& HE M@t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TR FHT FHT
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEFENA—H 348 1,218 1,561
Reversal of impairment loss RBAFEERAZME
recognised in previous year EEEE (348) - (348)
Written off gz - (1,213) (1,213)
New financial assets originated RENTSREE 610 - 610
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-ZEF=A=1—H 610 - 610
Reversal of impairment loss RBEFEERAZRE
recognised in previous year BEEE (610) - (610)
New financial assets originated BERFEMEE 1,012 - 1,012
Disposal of a subsidiary HENHBERR 97) = (97)
Exchange realignment [E 5 a0 B 3 - 3
At 31 March 2021 R-E-_—F=A=+—H 918 - 918
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, credit risk for deposits
and other receivables (excluded prepayment) are
assessed individually within 12m ECL at stage 1.
The average loss rates applied to determine the
loss allowance for them are ranged from 0.71%
to 1.94%. During the year ended 31 March 2021,
amount of approximately HK$188,000 (2020: nil) is
recognised in profit or loss.

The movement in the allowance for impairment of
deposits and other receivables is set out below:

6.

7. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

TREAREERBTEREE

(%)

b. RAREEHERK
R(%&E)

(iiiy EERME(E)

RZBE-_—F=ZA=+—
B &R REMERKIE
(TEREEMNZE)ZEZE
[B B A5 & Bl 712 {8 A 78
HEEEBEE —BERNE
T - FH BB XRER
REETZENTF01%E
1.94% 7 B5 1B B - RN E
2E-E - —F=ZA=+—
HIEFE - #188,000/% T
—ETF E)BERE
AR o

W R H it B UKIR 2R
BEREESHHIIWT :

Total

et
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
THT

At 1 April 2020

R-ZE-_FFMYA—H

Impairment loss recognised EHRRRBEERE
RZEZ—F
At 31 March 2021 =A=+—H 188

No accumulated impairment balance for deposits
and other receivables existed as at 1 April 2019
and 31 March 2020 as the Group considered
that the balances of rental deposits and other
receivables are insignificant to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iv)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of
the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows.

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

6. TRAREEREEREE

(%)

b. SEAKREREERK
R (E)
(iv) REBESEK

ERERRERAT

REEBRDESRARE
AEBERASMRES
EWHKE YHFEE
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2 FEREERRITER
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BRI -
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_ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

U RAMBERRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #Z=Z=-—F=A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. CRIEMEEBEERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ()
b. Financial risk management objectives b. EREAREEEERK
and policies (Continued) ¢ )
(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued) (ivy "EBEEREE(E)
Liquidity tables B EZFK

More than More than

On demand 1 year 2 years Total
or within but less but less  undiscounted Carrying
At 31 March 2021 1year than2years than5 years cash flows amount
ESE BE-£ BEmE AER
R=B=-¥=fA=+-H —ER BIRWE  BOREE  REREER BHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TRT TR TR

Non-derivative financial liabilities FELRaRE

Trade payables EUGEY
Other payables EfERZA
Bank borrowings RITEE
Lease liabilties HEGR
More than More than
On demand 1 year 2 years Total

or within but less butless  undiscounted Carrying
At 31 March 2020 fyear  than2years  thanb years cash flows amount

e Bh—F BRmE RER
R-BZEF-f=1-H —ER BIRWE  BORLE  RERSER KHE

HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TATL TAL TATL

Non-derivative financial liabilities FTEERER

Trade payables EHRRZA 26,868 & - 26,868 26,868
Other payables ElERTE 2,230 - - 2,230 2,230

29,008 - - 29,008 29,008
Lease liabilities HESRE 6,871 2,787 1,536 11,144 10,632
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Contlnued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iv)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables (Continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “on demand or less than 1
month” time band in the above maturity analysis.
As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate undiscounted
principal amounts of these bank loans amounted
to HK$3,630,000 (2020: N/A). Taking into account
the Group’s financial position, the directors of the
Company do not believe that it is probable that
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights
to demand immediate repayment. The directors
of the Company believe that such bank loans
will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
At that time, the aggregate principal and interest
cash outflows will amount to approximately
HK$3,839,000.

Fair values of financial instruments

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values due to their
short-term maturities.

S8

6. TRIEAREER

(%)

b.

HEZTZ

—F=A=+—AILFE

=N BUR

SREREEBEERK
R ()

(iv)

RBE S mEE (&)

MBELHR(E)

WMEZEREEKAD
8817 FT?ALLU%
DT R E ke D — (@
Hjﬁ%om:g:—i
—AZ+—8  ZER1T
BRHARBBE R REL
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F:NEA) c EEEIAE
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FFEERBEERE - RZ
H‘Iﬂ% $EE&3W§£E%//\L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ-ZT - —4=A=+—HIFE

7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Revenue represents provision of (i) freight forwarding and
related logistics services and (ii) warehousing and related
value-added services. Revenue is recognised when or as the
service is transferred to customers.

The Group’s revenue from freight forwarding and related
logistics services and warehousing and related value-
added services is recognised over time when the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the Group performs, using
output method.

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker
(the “CODM?”) of the Group, being Mr. Thomas Loy, for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment
focuses on the different types of services. The directors of
the Company regularly review revenue and results analysis
by (i) freight forwarding and related logistics services and (ii)
warehousing and related value-added services. No analysis of
segment assets and segment liabilities is presented as such
information is not regularly provided to the CODM in current or
prior year.

An operating segment regarding the warehousing and related
value-added services was discontinued in the current year
after the disposal of a subsidiary which was detailed in note 13
of the consolidated financial statements. As such, no analysis
of the remaining single operating segment is presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 7.
INFORMATION (Continued)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from continuing operation

e MR M ()

for the year is as follows:

HE-Z--—F=-A=+—HIEE
Wz & 7 EBE R )
AEBAFEREFELEERHI
wmAOMWT

2021 2020
—T-—F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHETT
(Restated)

(& &=5)

Revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15

Freight forwarding and related logistics
services
— Air freight
— Sea freight

BBV BHREERFE 155
BEANNZTFE A DR

5IE R M ABRR DI AR5

\
H
fin e

\
&

299,940 169,599
32,864 8,360
332,804 177,959

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, all
performance obligations for freight forwarding and related
logistics services are for period of less than one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to unsatisfied/partially unsatisfied performance obligations as
at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 are not disclosed.

@E****E&_y_yi A
=+t HLEE BEREREED
MR EBREROETH /Y —Fk

Geographic information

The Group’s revenue from continuing operation by
geographical market based on the location of operations:

T o BN 3 85 £ R 159
Firth R-_E-—&E=FA=+—8
R-E-_TEE-A=+—APEEX
BT/ Mo RBTRAONEINRS
B ERE -

i & & R

AEEREZEMIHILIMENSE D

REFHELEE AU

2021 2020
e e
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET T

Hong Kong (place of domicile) S (M) 236,144 156,921
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) w2 A RAFE ([ HE |) 891 1,245
Taiwan =y 95,769 19,793
Total @t 332,804 177,959
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_ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

| BAMBREME (R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 7. WERDBER @)
INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographic information (Continued)
Information about the Group’s non-current assets by
geographical market based on location of assets:

& &R (#)

FRASEREBEEEMH LR TS

ENMIERBEEEF -

2021 2020
—E-—F TETE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) EE GG H)
The PRC h
Taiwan o
Total 4=

Note: Non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax

assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue (including
continuing and discontinued operations) of the Group is as

Wi : IERBEETREemM T A REERE
BEE -

ETBEFHNEHR

WARMERE © R A E S AR 1E A E
Bl s 04 (DR S TS BRI
A ETE)10% A FEERIT -

follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F —EZTHF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FABTT
Customer A’ ZEA N/A RE 2 30,919
Customer B! ZFB N/A I3 2

Customer C! EFEC!

! Revenue from freight forwarding and related logistics

services.

B There is no contribution over 10% of the total revenue to

the Group for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BT —49=—A=1+—HI&E

Ht A

8. OTHER INCOME 8.

Continuing operation B E T

Interest income FLEBA

- Bank deposits _SRITEX
- Rental deposits (note 1) _MAERS ()

Government grants (note 2) BT (MFE2)

Sundry income I

Notes: BT

1. During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the amount 1.
represents the imputed interest income arises from the deposits
placed in respect of the lease entered which is over one year.

2 During the year ended 31 March 2021, government grants are 2.
related to Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) provided by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(“HKSAR”) under the Anti-Epidemic Fund. There are no unfulfilled
conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts of
those subsidies.

9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9.

2021 2020
—E-—F —EFTHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
(Restated)

(£ 5&3%)

HE_Z-_—FRkR=-_ZT_FTF=H
=+—HILFE  @FERCTLFH
BE—FNHEEFHNESEENESE
FIEUA -

HE—_Z-_—F=A=+—HLFE -
ERAT B R B R RITT IR & ([ B85
& DBFERREES TH#E LR
¥R BI([RHETE B - Wz E
BRBE A M A RO SRR IR R H A Sk A E
A o

Hib W K &8

Continuing operation
Exchange loss

Gain on disposals of property, plant

and equipment

IR
HEWE - BEK
R W s

2021 2020
—EZ-fF —E_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT THBT
(Restated)

(f£5E5)

(1,097) (100)

93 32

(1,004) (68)
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~~_ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Q 4o B RS SR 3 BT EE (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #Z=Z=-—F=A=+—HIFE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. B & KA
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
(Restated)

(REE5)

Continuing operation B ST
Interests on: T3 SEFE
— bank borrowings —RITIEK -
- lease liabilities —HEBE 97
97
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) 1. FiBHAX(ER)
2021 2020
—E-—= TR T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FH&TT
(Restated)
(gL &)
Continuing operation FRELEET
The charge (credit) comprises: SRR BE
Current tax: BNEARR IE -
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBNER -
— Taiwan Corporate Income Tax —REETEEFREH -
Under provision in prior year BEFERETIE 116
Deferred taxation (note 27) EERTE (MI5E27) (388)
(272)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HIIFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)

(Continued)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was
gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of qualifying
corporation will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. For the years ended 31 March
2021 and 31 March 2020, Hong Kong Profits Tax of the
qualified entity of the Group is calculated in accordance with
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The profits of other
Group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at the flat rate
of 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
provided as there was no assessable profit arose in 2020.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from
1 January 2008 onwards. No provision for PRC Enterprise
Income Tax has been provided as there was no assessable
profit arose in 2020 and 2021.

Under the Income Tax Act of the Taiwan area, the corporate
income tax rate of the Group’s Taiwan branch is 20%. No
provision for the Taiwan Corporate Income Tax has been
provided as there was no assessable profit arose in 2020.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the
Cayman Islands and the BVI.

1. FIEHAXZ(EKR) @

RZE—NFE=F=-+—8 FB
BB T —EFHBEUEET)(F7
FOBRPER([EFIESR]) - H5AM
BAFEHESE - GOERNR=F
—N\FZRA-TN\BEZERELEZ
WREBHTIEEBR - BRIBMKH FE
MEHE  AERTCENE2BEES
TC % 15 42 8.25% MY TR R L - 1 AR
B2 BT RN 51£16.5% K Fi &
BB oBE-_E-—E=A=+—H
F—E-EFE-A=+—BHItFE
REBEAEERZERBNBEBFEM
HIEMEGFIESHEREFTE - TF
AMPHFEREHEER 2 Eb BT
BEBER G GEEIRE =X
16.5%BMNIRTE - HR =BT F W
MELERRTAET - WAL TR FEEF
ISHIFTIREE -

BIEREAREMBOERSH A
(IEMBBE]) RDEMSHEE
WAER > B—ETNF—A—A# -
FEKBARZHEA25% c AR =
TR FER B —FWEELEER
FmA o P B EEHET
s -

BiEEEME ZIEBRE  KEE
BENDYMEENDCEMSHREA
20% c N T -_TFEWEELED
FOEMN » M ER S EENEERSE
FRaTIR s -

REFAEHERRBRELEENHRA
KBGO REBAZRNEMFSE
ENEBRZEFEHASH
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

(Continued)

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) 11.

The income tax expense (credit) can be reconciled to the
profit (loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

~~_ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Q 4o B RS SR 3 BT EE (48)

BE-_Z-—F=-A=+—HIFE

Fre®ipi< (BR) @

FEREY (Ee) R ABaEREM
2 EzER OB AR (B18) 8
o -

Profit (loss) before tax from continuing
operation

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax
rate of 16.5%

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purpose

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose

Under provision in respect of prior year

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised

Tax effect of deductible temporary
difference not recognised

Tax concession (note)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions

Tax effect of two-tiered profits tax
rates regime

Others

Income tax expense (credit)

2021 2020
—F=—F s
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
(Restated)
($&E5)
REFELEET
BRELRT R A (BIE) (19,554)
REBNGHTE16.5%
STEMTIE (3,226)
BLELIE S A B AR U AR
Wi (23)
MRMBEAE T ENFEZ A
Mg 779
BEFENRETR 116
RERREBENRBTE 2,104
B SRR TR BIEHEE
RERAI TG R EZ5ER
M2 117
MsEE (L) -
REMBERER S ENIE
RNEN TR RN E (70)
SRR O E &
) (69)
Frgtim s (ER) (272)

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 27.

Note: A tax concession of 100%, subject to a ceiling of HK$10,000 (2020: Mizx: BHE_ZT—
N/A) per company, for the Group’s subsidiaries under Hong Kong
jurisdiction for the year ended 31 March 2021.

ERETIR 2 HBEHIN N 27 ©

—F=ZRA=+—HLF
B AEBERBEREAERZEM

BARMBIERSE A100% © & Q7]
HE M EEA10,0008T(ZE =%

F EA) e
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12. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

12.

e MR M ()

BT —49=—A=1+—HI&E

FREN(EE)

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
TERT

2020
—ETF
HK$’000
FAT
(Restated)
(£ 5&3%)

Continuing operation
Profit (loss) for the year has been
arrived at after charging:

Staff cost, excluding directors’
emoluments (note 14):
— Salaries, bonus and other benefits
— Contributions to retirement benefits
scheme

FERERD

FRaEN (BB ESHERAT

SEBH -

BIKA  BEXME
(FifEE14)

—¥E  EAREMERN

—RRRE NI BIHE R

8,730

394

Total staff costs excluding directors’
emoluments

BITRAAREBRESHNE)

9,124

Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Legal and professional fees
(included in other expenses)

Amortisation of intangible assets

Z e =
ME - BERREFTE

ZRENEE S
(FFAEMF)
B EERE

1,156

1,801

1,600
316

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

13.

On 22 March 2021, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party (the
“Purchaser”), to dispose of a subsidiary, Fu Yo with total
consideration of approximately HK$13,310,000. Fu Yo carried
out all of the Group’s warehousing and related value-added
services operations. The disposal was effected in order to
generate cash flows for the expansion of the Group’s other
businesses. The disposal was completed on 31 March 2021,
on which date control of Fu Yo passed to the Purchaser.
This disposal transaction resulted gain on disposal with
approximately of HK$2,092,000, which has been recognised
in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2021. Details
are set out in announcement of the Company dated on 22

March 2021.

ERERRERAT

RIEREXT

RZZEZ—F=ZA=+=H ' A5H
BEBVE=ZA(EFDRITEE®H
% EREA413,310,000/% T
ENBRAAIER - B RATALRE
Ere@MAEREGERE 22 © %
HEZEMNAELERSRENUNERAE
EEEMER ZHEER_ZT=_—F
ZA=+—H%K ' 8kMOZHER
EHBRER - WHEXSHHBEE
Wi A 4%)2,002,0008 7T * WEREZE
—CE-_—F=ZRA=+—RHIFEEH
KPR - FBHRAARBHAT
T F=-A-F+ZHzZzAE -

—0-0-=-—0=-—%%% 165




~~_ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Q 4o B RS SR 3 BT EE (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #Z=Z=-—F=A=+—HIFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)  13. #& 1F K& 7% (@)

The profit (loss) for the year from discontinued warehousing ARFEEERIEAFMBBIZEREE
and related value-added services operation is analysed as SEREZEN(ER)OMNT -
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —TFF
HK$’000 HK$’000

TR TAET

Profit (loss) for the year FRm A (EE)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 30)  HEKIEA A H U (M3E30)

The results of the warehousing and related value-added THBEEEFHNLBBEERSED D
services segment for the years were as follows: CEE
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEZTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Revenue g 33,052
Cost of services BR 75 A AR (35,870) (28,560)
Gross profit EAH 7,151 4,492
Other income HAn A 1,629 67
Other gains and losses HA iz & &5 18 8 7
Sales and marketing expenses SHE R SR (412) (164)
Administrative expenses TEAX (7,281) (6,730)
Impairment losses recognised on trade BE 5 W GRERR A
receivables, net 8 %A (47) (23)
Reversal of (provision for) compensation e (BE) B E 1,227 (2,000)
Finance costs BhE KA (302) (462)
Profit (loss) before taxation bR A s A (&818) (4,813)
Income tax (expense) credit Fref (A )& L 1,255
Profit (loss) for the year Frm A (EBHE) (3,558)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

13.

Profit (loss) for the year from discontinued operation includes

the following:

e MR M ()

BT —49=—A=1+—HI&E

RIERE R @)

R ST Y E R T (BE) B
TH &I -

Profit (loss) for the year has been
arrived at after charging (crediting):

Staff cost, excluding directors’
emoluments (note 14a):
— Salaries, bonus and other benefits
— Contributions to retirement benefits
scheme

Total staff costs excluding directors’
emoluments

Auditors’ remuneration

Government grants (note)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

(Reversal of) provision for compensation

Interest income on bank deposits

Interest income on rental deposits

Gain on disposal/write off of property,
plant and equipment

Interest on bank borrowings

Interest on lease liabilities

2021 2020
—F=—F g 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH T T
FREMN (BB K2 Nk
GIAUTIRIEBER
BIRAIIBRESIE)
(MfzE14a) :
— %4 EAMEMER 7,222
—RRE M ET B R
346
BETRANBRESHE)
7,568
ZE RN & 195 282
BB (B 5E) (1,566) -
W - BEREETE
8,094 7,284
B E R () (1,227) 2,000
IRITF A BUA - ()
fAgkef BlA (61) (59)
e M mE -
PSS ol (8) (6)
IRITIEFF B 23 -
HEBGEFE 279 462

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2021, government grants are

related to the ESS provided by The Government of the HKSAR
under the Anti-Epidemic Fund. There are no unfulfilled conditions
and other contingencies attached to the receipts of those

subsidies.

During the year, the warehousing and related value-added
services segment operations used HK$2,595,000 (2020:
contributed HK$6,348,000) to the Group’s net operating
cash flows, used HK$40,000 (2020: used HK$3,845,000) in
respect of investing activities and contributed HK$2,501,000
(2020: used HK$553,000) in respect of financing activities.

ERERRERAT

Mz : REBEE-T-—F=A=+—HILF
[Z - BUT BB RITT R BT
RRESEE TRENRMEE
B o ZEHIE 2 B YCER R RS I B
5 i ARG R E M SR EIR -

RAFE  ERAEBEEERSE S
HEBERAEBFEERESRTE
2,505,000 T (=T F : & A
6,348,000 L) + RIEEEE R E
BA0000B T (ZEFF : £ 8
3,845,000/ L) MR B E R B &
A2,501,0008 L (ZE_FF : &
553,000/ 7T) ©

—0=-0-—0-——#%% 167
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

J P S EUELY

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE=—ZT-—F=FA=+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration paid or
payable disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM
Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,

is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2021

HK$' 000
TR

Emoluments paid or receivable in -~ SEARAREMBAT
respect of director's other services ERERFEES
in connection with the management  E BB 2 242K
of affairs of the Company and its EWE S

subsidiary undertakings
Executive directors: HrEs:
Mr. Thomas Loy (Note 1) ARETA(NE
Mr. Loy Hak Moon (Note 2) BRmAE( Fﬁﬁz)
Mr. Zhang Pangfei (Note 3) RERLE (M)
Ms. Wu Yushan (Note 4) SEYLL(HE4)

Emoluments paid or receivable in }g NGB
respect of a person’s senvicesasa  AREEZEARKZ
director, whether of the Company 21 S EU S
and its subsidiary undertakings

Non-executive Director: FuTES:

Mr. Lo Wing Sang (Note 5) SXERE (M)

Independent non-executive BUFHfES:
directors:

Mr. Ng Kam Tum iy

Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy (Note 6) HREB L)

Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron (Note 8) B8R E 5 4 (JifE8)

Total emoluments aps
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14. EEREEMNS

(a) ELME
BiZEANGEM E TR B R &

NEGPIRBEE N IENESER
RETTHRABOHMIDT :

BHE-ZE-_-F=A=1t—-HL

FE

Contributions

to retirement

Salaries, and  Discretionary benefits
other benefits bonus scheme Total

HeR BHET
AR BERA HE 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TRAT TET TR TR




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Contlnued) ?%
mEMBHRRME(E) =2

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &#&Z T - —F=A=+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 14. EEREEM S @)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (@) EEME @)
Year ended 31 March 2020 HE—_Z-_ZE=FA=+—H1
FE
Contributions
to retirement
Salaries, and  Discretionary benefits
Fees  other benefits bonus scheme Total
ek RIKEH
we EfEH HEEL AR @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL T T T T

Emoluments paid or receivable in -~ BEAARREMEAR]
respect of director's other sevices EXEREE/ES
in connection with the management Bt iR 2 213
of affairs of the Company and its [k

subsidiary undertakings
Executive directors: HITEES .
Mr. Thomas Loy (Note 1) aRERE (1) - 1,725 135 18 1878
Mr. Loy Hak Moon (Note 2) BRETAE (H3E2) - 1,390 10 18 1518
Mr. Lo Wing Sang (Note 5) S ERE (MiEs) - 554 30 17 601

Emoluments paid or receivablein  BLEEAATHENE
respect of a person’s senvicesasa  AREZEZEARKZ
director, whether of the Company B ffZifElii4
and its subsidiary undertakings

Independent non-executive BUHMES:

directors:
Mr. Ng Kam Tum ke 150 - - - 150
Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy (Note 6) BEREEL (Mi6) 120 - - - 120
Dr. Chow Ho Wan Owen (Note 7)  ESEEL (MfiE7) 30 - - - 30
Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron (Note 8)  EIFIE %4 (Hifite) 9 - - - 9
Total emoluments ame 392 3,669 275 53 4,389
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ-ZT - —4=A=+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Thomas Loy was appointed as chief executive officer on

16 November 2020.

2. Mr. Loy Hak Moon resigned as an executive director and
chief executive officer on 16 November 2020.

3. Mr. Zhang Pangfei was appointed as an executive director on
31 December 2020 and effective from 1 January 2021.

4. Ms. Wu Yushan was appointed as an executive director on

23 March 2021.

5. Mr. Lo Wing Sang was redesignated from an executive
director to a non-executive director on 22 April 2020.

6. Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy resigned as an independent non-

executive director on 31 March 2021.

7. Dr. Chow Ho Wan Owen resigned as an independent non-

executive director on 30 June 2019.

8. Mr. Chow Ming Po Aaron was appointed as an independent

non-executive director on 24 June 2019.

9. Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 31 March 2021 and effective from

1 April 2021.

10.  Mr. Liao Daichun was appointed as a non-executive director

on 23 April 2021.
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14. EEREEME @)

(a) EFEME @)

BAE

10.

BREAENR T _TF+—
+RNBEZTAEITHRBE -

BRMEER_TE_TF+—A
TAREBBINITEERITEE
ﬁo

REREER T _TF+-A
=+ BEZERNTEE U
R-F-_—F—A—H4%ERK-

BRELLETR T -_—F=A
ZH=AEZERNTES -

BXAERER T _ZFEMNA
T HERTEERRTIRIER
TES -

MREBLIR_T=_—F=A
=+ RABEBLIFNTES -

AEEEITR =T —NAFRA
=+ HBEBLIERITES -

FARBEEER=_T—NAFRA
T+ BEERERBIUIENITE
=

MBEREENR_ZS-_—F=H
=+ AEZTABIIERTE
£ VYR TE-_—4FNA—B4E
R e

BEREXER - - —FMNUA
T REZAAERITES -




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Performance related incentive payments are
recommended by the management of the Group, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The discretionary bonus is reviewed and approved
by remuneration committee having regard to his
performance and the Company’s performance and
profitability and the prevailing market conditions.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, during the years ended 31 March 2021, two
(2020: three) were directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the note 14(a) above.
The emoluments of the remaining three (2020: two)
individuals were as follows:

e MR M ()

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

14. EEREEM S @)

(@) EEME @)

HRBEEENRESHAEEEE
EBREERAEENKEEE B
TEARRE RO LB MIZHAETE
BiEEERT -

BISEATBHTMEEGLER
Rz =I "R R EIFRER KB
MRIBITHORE R R EE
F o

(b) EEME

BE-ZT-_—F=ZA=t—HL
FEAEERZRSFMALE
BRARBIMA(ZT_FF : =

Salaries and other benefits
Performance related
incentive payments (note)
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

e REAEF
HEXRBAENES (M)

AR RARF R &I R

Note: Performance related incentive payments are recommended
by the management of the Group, having regard to the
Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

S8

ZEERERAT

FIEE BEZHEHN EX
BT 14@ - T =R (ZE=F
FMEB)RAFE RS HMNE
ERFMFBOT ¢

2021 2020
. s
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHBTT
1,385
108
38
1,531
Bist: BEREUNELEAEEE
TP E AT E N W R AT
B BIEARBRALED

SR B ERET -
—0=0-=—0=—%%% 171

=




> Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

T BAUBERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 14. EEREEME @)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued) (b) EEME &)
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEHSHIR TS ERA
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTHF
No. of No. of
Employees Employees
EEAH EEAE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T
During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no HE_Z-_—FR_T_FTF=
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest A=+—BLEMEFE r ~&E
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining BERAEERFMNATZINE
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. A& e ARSI K MB =k mnE
NEE R A E (E AR
18 -
15. DIVIDENDS 15. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 RBE_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HIEF
March 2021, nor has any dividend been proposed since the B BERMSBEREMESE B8
end of the reporting period (2020: nil). HSHTERNEREREARE(ZZEZ
TEE)o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021

16. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

For continuing operation

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on
the following data:

16. #RER (F8)

BT —49=—A=1+—HI&E

FRC RN DN RS E- N
SEEN (BRI ER A T 8UE

(a) Basic (a) &R
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FERT
Profit (loss) for the year attributable ARARER ABIEERN
to the owners of the Company s A (&) 4,849

(Less) add: (profit) loss for the year from  (Ji{) A0 : RIS 2

discontinued operation FROEN)EE (3,693)

Profit (loss) for the purpose of basic MIFELCEE 2 FRER
earnings (loss) per share from AT (E518) 2 mF (EE)

continuing operation

2020
—E-EF
HK$’000
FHET
(Restated)
(s E7)

(21,997)

3,558

(18,439)
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Q HEPIBMRM ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BHE_Z-_—F=A=1T—HILFE

16. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Basic (Continued)

7. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16. EREF (EE) @)

(a)

Number of shares SR 4=

Weighted average number of ordinary it E G EREF|
shares for the purpose of calculating (EE)m=s Lk
basic earnings (loss) per share hnkE 9 EL

Diluted

Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. There were no potential
ordinary shares in issue for the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020.

For discontinued operation

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the
discontinued operation is HK0.44 cents per share (2020:
HK(0.42) cents per share), based on the profit for the
year from the discontinued operation of approximately
HK$3,693,000 (2020: loss for the year of approximately
HK$3,558,000) and the denominators detailed above for
both basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share.
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(b)

B @)

2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-TF
'000 '000

1%

840,000
g

FhEERA(EE) HRREE
BT EBEBE LB - M
TR ATEINE AR AN AE
HHE - HE-_E-—FR-F
—EF-A=Zt—HULEFE I
BEEDBITERR -

AR IE R E RS

BERAFRERIEEEEBE 2 ETF
A #13,693,0008 TL(ZE=F
F - FREIEH3,558,000%87T)
FRHFER EX 2 BREARR#E
AFN(EE) ZOEHE  KRIEKE
EERZ BRAEARREEE T
(F1ER) AFR044B (===
T FHR(0.42)781L) -




For the year ended 31 March 2021

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Contlnued)

e MR M ()

HE—T—

17. % - BMERRE

—F=A=+—AILFE

Leased Furniture and Office  Leasehold Motor
properties  Machineries fixtures  equipment improvements vehicles Total
BAR
HENE HE BE#E HOERE MREUEEE RE Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T i T T T T
COST A
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NERA-A 12,768 - 236 1,315 1,756 1,885 17,960
Additions RE 1,461 3,232 - 1,929 3,838 - 10,460
Disposal/write-off HE /i - - - - (619) (619)
Exchange realignment i A% 10 - - 1 6 - 17
At 31 March 2020 and R-E-EE=f=1-H
1 April 2020 RZE-ZEMA-H 14,239 3,232 236 3,245 5,600 1,266 27,818
Additions RE 466 - - 23 162 902 1,553
Disposal HE - - - - - (784) (784)
Disposal of a subsidiary HENBAR - (3,232) (232) (2,941) (3,954) - (10,359)
Exchange realignment ek 101 - - il 59 - 171
At 31 March 2021 R_E-FZf=1-H 4,806 - 4 338 1,867 1,434 18,449
ACCUMULATED ZitE
DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NENA-H 57 - 54 705 368 322 2,506
Charged for the year Epfik 6,005 588 68 651 1538 235 9,085
Eliminated on disposaliwrite-off  H& /M - - - - - (432) (432)
Exchange realignment ERGE 2 - - - 1 - 3
At 31 March 2020 and R-E-EE=F=1+-H
1 April 2020 R=2-5FMA-H 6,064 588 122 1,356 1,907 1125 11,162
Charged for the year Epfik 6,261 646 62 534 2,648 314 10,465
Eliminated on disposal HEREH - - - - - (726) (726)
Disposal of a subsidiary S - (1,234) (181) (1,690) (3,315) - (6,420)
Exchange realignment i A% 32 - - 3 17 - 52
At 31 March 2021 O St el 2,357 - 3 203 1,257 713 14,533
CARRYING VALUES )
At 31 March 2021 R-Z--F=F=1+-H 2,449 - 1 135 610 721 3916
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-EFZF=1+-H 8,175 2,644 14 1,889 3,693 141 16,696
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_ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

| BAMBREME (R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ-ZT - —4=A=+—HIFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% - BERZHE @)

(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are it E  BMEREBREEBIRATE
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per RPABEREWE -
annum:
Furniture and fixtures 20% RMNMETFEEE  20%
Office equipment 20% to 33% MWMAERAME 20%%£33%
Leasehold improvements 20% or over lease term, HEMERE 20%skHH HA
whichever is shorter (A HAE)
Motor vehicles 20% RE 20%
Right-of-use assets Over term of the lease EREEE THER
Right-of-use assets included in the above comprise: AR ERE
2021 2020
—E-F —E-THF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F&T T
Leased properties HEMZE
Machineries 2R
Motor vehicle B
The Group has lease arrangements for leased properties AEEREHEME(BEEAER
(including offices and warehouse), machineries and motor B) - #eSNaE 2 HEWZ - fﬁ,ﬁﬁ
vehicle. The lease terms are generally ranged from one to five BHE—E2RF
years.
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 EEB’\f)J#“ﬁ AEREE  BEC
March 2021 amounted to approximately HK$1,368,000 T —F=-A=+—RHLFEZFEHR
(2020: HK$4,693,000), due to new leases of office and motor %éﬁ%mgi’%%m,368,000‘}%7_1(:2
vehicle. ZZT4F : 4,603,0007T) °
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18.

19.

20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HIIFE

INTANGIBLE ASSET 18.

The intangible asset represented the customer relationship
and fully amortised in prior year.

RENTAL DEPOSITS 19.

These balances represent rental deposits placed by the Group
in connection with its rented premises. The relevant leases will
expire after one year from the end of the reporting period, or if
the remaining lease term is less than one year, the Group has
intention to renew the leases upon expiry. Therefore, these
balances are classified as non-current.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20.

BVEE

BVEERBERE ARNBEFE

HERE

RZEEBEAEERAREEEYE
PrEmmEERS - AEAEAERRKE
AREHR—FRENIMG TEE
HRAIN—F  NEBERIAERE®
BREEMEE - Fit - ZFEBIER
FERE ©

B2 R HEHtERRIER

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Receivables at amortised cost comprise: R SH K AN ET 2 < B WGRIE
B
Trade receivables =) e e 44,999
Less: allowances for impairment of W BB REWERIE R ERE
trade receivables (610)
44,389
Prepayment, deposits and TERTFIA -~ e KA M EBGK
other receivables comprise: HETE :
- Rental deposits —HE%Se 124
- Deposits and prepayment (note i) — & RFEMFIE (W) 3,849
— Other receivables (note ii) — H b EUE A (M 5Eii) -
Less: allowances for impairment of B ke REMERFUEZ
deposits and other receivables BB -
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables T8 218 - &4 & B th JE U
RIH 3,973
48,362

Notes:

(i) Included in deposits and prepayment, carrying amount of
HK$2,000,000 represented the refundable deposits for securing
the transactions with airlines as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$1,950,000).

(if) Included in other receivables, gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$8,810,000 represented the consideration
receivables in relation to the disposal of a subsidiary as at 31 March
2021 (2020: N/A). The balance is expected to be collected within
one year from the end of the reporting date.

ERER

0] R-TE-—F=A=+—H8 L&k
~FEH BRE {H2,000,0008 T ( —ZE =
T4 ¢ 1,950,000/ 70 ) X 3R I 45 £ i 2=
NAIR P RERS -

(ii) BT H b 8 U 5K T /9 49 8,810,000 7
THREAAEREREE T - —F=A
St HUEFEEERBARGHANE
WRE(ZZ=ZZF : T@EA) - BHZ
BREEE N RS BEIRAE —FAKE -
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7. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

U RAISm R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

20. EG R EMEWRIE @)

The Group’s trade receivables that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

UHEBEEER ZNEEBIAINEHR
FHEZAKREE ZRUGIEHINET ¢

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-FTHF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET T

Denominated in USD UETTEHE 39,494 10,024

The Group allows credit periods ranging from O to 90 days to
its customers.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of

AEEREZPEENFOE0AME
B8

TREHINHE AN E 5 EUFR

(MEEEERRE) REERAHE

allowance for credit losses, presented based on the invoice

date at the reporting date: PR RRER DA -
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
— Within 30 days —30H MU 24,678
— More than 30 but within 60 days —HBiB30H1EN60H A 11,243
— More than 60 but within 90 days — im0 HEMN0H AR 5,462
- More than 90 days —#8iB90H 3,006
44,389

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 6.

B 5 RE M EUGRIENRER GFB
HIINIES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HZ=ZZ=-—F=A=+—HIFE

21. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 21. B #HHRITEFERUARRIT

22,

BALANCES AND CASH s YNE
2021 2020
—E-—&F TR T
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET FET
Pledged bank deposits (note) EHEFIRITER (M) 2,811
Bank balances and cash RITHBERES 15,856
18,667

Note: MiEE -

The pledged bank deposits are to secure the provision of services from
suppliers and obtaining a logistic operation related license in Taiwan.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates. The pledged bank deposits
carry fixed interest rate at ranging from 0.14% to 2.35% (2020: 0.14% to
2.35%) per annum.

EHEIRIRTT 7 508 MR R R B R A0 AR 7%
ARER A BRI EENER -

SRITHEBIEMIBFIRTE - BEFRITERS
FRETEFENF014%E2.35% (T -F
F o NTF0.14%%E2.35%) 518 °

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. B R HMEMRE
2021 2020
—B-—F i
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHIT
Trade payables =Y ANE e 26,868
Other payables and accrued expenses Hip I M ETE A 2,357
29,225
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #Z=Z=-—F=A=+—HIFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23

(Continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

~~_ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Q 4o B RS SR 3 BT EE (48)

22. EGREMEMANRIE @

ATARBERARREZZAHZT
HE 5 RN RIAR RRE DT ©

2021 2020
—E-—F —TFF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

Within 30 days 30B MR

More than 30 but within 60 days HBiAm30HEMN60H AR
More than 60 but within 90 days BiE60BER0H AR
BBO0R B R 180H LA

More than 90 but within 180 days

20,267
6,153
388

60

26,868

The credit periods granted from the suppliers are ranging
from O to 45 days. The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within
the credit timeframe.

LEASE LIABILITIES

HEAXT 2EEHR0E4H - A%
BEERYFRREEBR - ABR
PRIA N FIEARNEERRAZUS -

Non-current e ED
Current A ED

23. HE&E
2021 2020
—E-—F —ET-FF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FExT FHETT
4,105
6,527

10,632
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE—-Z-——F=A=+—HIFE
23. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 23. HEEEwm

Amounts payable under lease liabilities HEEBZENRIE
2021 2020
S e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Within one year —F R 6,527
After one year but within two years B —FE D F B 2,633
After two years but within five years BB F1E D A F EIE 1,472
10,632

Less: Amount due for settlement after 12 B T ERBBAEENR H
months (shown under non-current liabilities) 2XIE(RIERE B EB T

) (655) (4,105)

Amount due for settlement within 12 months + —{& A R4

S B HIFR

6,527

As at 31 March 2021, the lease liabilities in respect of leased
motor vehicle under hire purchase agreement amounted to
approximately HK$640,000 was secured by the lessor’s title
to the leased assets (2020: nil). During the year ended 31
March 2021, the Group entered into a number of new lease
agreements in respect of renting office and motor vehicle and
recognised lease liabilities of approximately HK$1,144,000
(2020: HK$4,448,000).

() Amounts recognised in profit or loss (from
continuing and discontinued operations)

R-ZE-_—F=A=+—H " REHA
Bz ARAMEEAEZHEREN

640,000 L I AEHAREEEE
LB RERF(ZZEZZF - F)
HE2-_ZEZ-_—F=ZA=+—H1Lt#F
B AEERARRAERTEER]

ZEFEERZE  UHEAEEAEAR
#91,1440008 L - (ZZ2E T F
4,448,000/ 7T) °

) RESTEIZBE(REFE

Depreciation expense on right-of-use  {FRAEEE 2 ITERX
assets
- Leased properties -fEmE
- Motor vehicle - A8

— Machineries - HER
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBRINEMAX
Expenses relating to short-term
leases/low value assets

CHHE REEEERX

EER MR I EEETR)
2021 2020
—E-—F —EoEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
6,005
81
588
559
802

S8

ZEERERAT
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> Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

T BAUBERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

23.

24,

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

Amounts payable under lease liabilities
(Continued)

(i) Other
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total

cash out flow for leases amounted to approximately
HK$8,040,000 (2020: HK$7,821,000).

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

23. HEE & wW)

HESBEZENARIE @)

(i) EHfb

HE-_Z-_—F=A=+—H1
FE BHHECRESREEE
A #78,040,0008 T (ZE=F
17,821,000/ 7T) °

24. BB

2021 2020
. e
HK$°000 HK$’000
TAET T

Freight forwarding and
related logistics services

SENE KRR RS

221

Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligations to
transfer services to a customer for which an amount of
consideration is due from the customer. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, revenue recognised in the current year
relating to contract liabilities at the beginning of the year was
approximately HK$221,000 (2020: HK$420,000).

The Group makes advance billings to certain customers at the
commencement of services. The advance billings related to
non-cancellable contracts that are due for payments resulted
in contract liabilities being recognised through the shipment
period until the completion of shipment. The significant
changes in contract liabilities in 2021 were mainly due to the
increase in the Group’s customer base.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021

25. PROVISIONS

25, 1%

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

2021 2020
—B-—F —E_THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEREMNDTA :
Non-current liabilities EmEatE 526
Current liabilities mEEE 2,000
2,626
Provision for Provision for
compensation  reinstatement
(Note) expense Total
BEERE
(3E)  BERAxEE HaEt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 April 2019 N_ZE-—NFHEA—H - 313 313
Additional provision FNFBINEE
in the year 2,000 213 2,213
At 31 March 2020 and R-ZF_FF=H
1 April 2020 =t+t—Hk
—E_TFMA—H 2,000 526 2,526
Additional provision in FREEINELE
the year - 107 107
Reversal of provision recognised 7 4F & #E R B4 5 5 @]
in pervious year (note) (Ff3E) (1,227) - (1,227)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHB AR (7793) - (773)
Exchange realignment AL - 6 6
At 31 March 2021 RZZE_—%=A
=+—H - 639 639
Note: The compensation would be reimbursed through an insurance W RN 2T -——F=-HA=+—HIIF
contract during the year ended 31 March 2021 and the excess B BEMEBREBASNEE - LB
provision amount made of approximately HK$1,227,000 has been B 5 491,227,000 7T B ¥ % @ (M 3%
reversed (note 13). 13) ©
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_ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

| BAMBREME (R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #EZ-ZT - —4=A=+—HIFE

26. BANK BORROWINGS 26. RITIER
Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled repayment ﬁb%ﬁﬁ’\f% K ez A 2 BRE T B B
dates set out in the loan agreements): 2 FEEERIEZ BREE
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FET
With one year —F R
After one year but within two years B — 18 D AR F B
After two year but within five years HB3A M F1E D A F BIE :
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FET
Carrying amount of bank loans that are not repayable #E/BiZ B kel B R EHAFRLT —F R

on demand or within one year from the end of the BEMRITERERAER ¢
reporting period but:

— contain a repayment on demand clause — HAEREREEKRR

During the year, the Group obtained new bank loans of AEE AEEREBEEE=FZFH
HK$3,630,000 with fixed rate of 2.75% for 3 years to 5 years FLEEME2.75% B2 FRTE
in Hong Kong (2020: N/A). The loans bear interest at market o £ % A3,630,0008 L (ZEF
rates and will be repayable on demand and the balance has FEA) EXRAE BTSRRI

been classified as current liabilities. The proceeds were used WeiRBRER ;Z,%ﬁ%%ﬁ’“*ﬁ%m
for general working capital purpose. FaE FISRELHRE—REESR
As at 31 March 2021, the Group has no undrawn facilities RZE-_—F=ZA=+—8 *&£E
amount granted by bank (2020: N/A). WHEBTER TFERERERBE(ZZZ

TF - NEA) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) y%
HEMBHRERMEE)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HIIFE

27. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS) LIABILITIES 27. BB IE(SE)EE

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax (assets) INTEREVBRECEERIE(E
liabilities, after set off certain deferred tax assets against E)BBE(KHERNREERE TRT
deferred tax liabilities of the same taxable entity, for financial RIBEELELEHEAGEEREE)

reporting purposes:

2021 2020
. e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Deferred tax assets BT IBEE (1,595)
Deferred tax liabilities FLETIHA R -
(1,595)
The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities TAAERAFERBAEFERERANE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and ERLEHB(EE)AEREES
prior years:
ECL provision
Fair value on trade
adjustment receivables
on business and other Accelerated
combination Taxlosses receivables  tax depreciation Total
B RUGER
RBANE Hth MR
NTERR TEEE EHEEEEAE  NENERE Eeh)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Thn T T
At 1 April 2019 RZE-AENA—-H 51 (41) (57) 9% 48
(Credit) charged to profit or loss for the year ~ MEEBELR(5HA) F1kk

(notes 11 and 13) (FrsE11}13) (61) (1,639) 48 ) (1,643)

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 W_E-ZF=A=+-HkK
“T_ZENA-H - (1,676) ) 0 (1,69)
Charged (credt) to proft or loss for the year ~ REEBHTB ()

(notes 11 and 13) (WtsE11 ) 13) - 302 (164) 488 626
Disposal of a subsidiary HERBAR - 12335 16 (469) 882
Exchange realignment R - 39 1 (56) (16)
At 31 March 2021 W-B-—#=F=1-A . - (156) 53 (103)

BEERRERAT —O0=Z0-—0=—%%®% 185




; - Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

U RAMBRENE(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

27. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS) LIABILITIES

28

(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$14,477,000 (2020:
HK$24,647,000) available for offset against future profits. As
at 31 March 2020, a deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of approximately HK$9,785,000 of such losses
arising from Hong Kong and Taiwan (2021: nil). No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
Hong Kong and The PRC tax losses of approximately
HK$14,477,000 (2020: HK$14,862,000) as such deductible
temporary differences due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Unused tax losses in the tax jurisdiction of The
PRC and Taiwan may be carried forward for five or ten years,
respectively.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$158,000 (2020:
HK$927,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

27. EEFEBE(EE)EEw

RBEHER AEBBLRYH BE
EH#14,477,0008 T (ZF 2 F :
24,647,000 70 ) Al A R ACH F o 7
—E-ERFE=-F=1+—H ®ZEF
BN B EEE R EE 9,785,000 7T
ZE—F D )MEEHEEED
FLARERR o FR A R 3OE F SR 2 LA TE
B - W ERE SR R IEEE
FREEA14,477,0008 0 ( ZE 2 F
14,862,000/ 70) M B B ] B B s =
HERELERBEE - "EEEER
HREERMASAHEEET D
REFR+FLH -

RIREER - ANEE IR TR E R
#7158,000/% 7L ( —ZF = Z 4 : 927,000
PEIT) o AN A 0] A2 B A B ER B0 A
WA R E R =58 - WEREREA
MAEREEZREERRECHRBEE -

SHARE CAPITAL 28. B
Number of
ordinary
shares Share capital
LB EE A
HK$
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREE.01ETTH TR
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2019, 1 April 2020 RZE—NFHA—H -
and 31 March 2021 —ETFMA-BE
—E-—4%=ZA=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
At 1 April 2019, 1 April 2020 RZZE-NAFWHA—R -
and 31 March 2021 —E-TEMA-BR
—E-—%zZA=+—H 840,000,000 8,400,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

29. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for its employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan and the assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds administered by independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees makes monthly
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employee’s
earnings capped at HK$1,500 per month to the MPF Scheme
in both years.

The Group also participates in defined contribution retirement
schemes organised by the relevant local government
authorities in the PRC and other jurisdictions where the
Group operates. Certain employees of the Group eligible
for participating in the retirement schemes are entitled to
retirement benefits from the schemes. The Group is required
to make contributions to the retirement schemes up to the
time of retirement of the eligible employees, excluding those
employees who resign before their retirement, at a percentage
that is specified by the local government authorities.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$817,000 (2020: HK$793,000) represent contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group during the year ended
31 March 2021.

29.

ERERRERAT

e MR M ()

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

RKEFETE

AEERENBAEZEEERRESR
7B R Bl AR FT BIRA 2 B MER
B - 2RV ERB2FE R
HRERTRIRE - ZFFBI2EE
BASECEENARTE - XAB
MIEFEAERE - RERGERREERF
g AEERHREENMEFEHA
BRABEEHFMZs%IERHIERTESR
HEIER . B ARZHF,5008TT °

AEET2EAERARELEME
B E b RAAE [ /O AH BE E BT H A
EMNTERETERNRGE - ETARE
RBEERRAEANAEEHEERES
BREAENRIKERN - REEAR
BT R E M B 2 FR KRG
SEH T  EEABREBRBRKR(T
BIERKRFRERNESR) -

B R R ENK A A4817,00078 7T

—Z-FF 793,000 L) AEE—
T —F=ZA=Z+—HLFELEE
FEMZEFTE T HRRIE -
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: - Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

| BAMBERRME(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 30. HEME R 7
As referred to note 13, on 31 March 2021, the Group BN FEA1SFTE c R 2T - —F =
discontinued its warehousing and related value-added A=+—H8 AEBERLEENBL
services at the time of disposal of its subsidiary, Fu Yo. The ABABERITEAFEABIEER
net asset of the subsidiary at the date of disposal was as o MBATRNEERHNEEEE
follows: U
Total consideration: HRAE - HK$’000
FET
Cash received BUIR & 4,500
Deferred cash consideration EER S R(E 8,810
Total consideration received B (EREEE 13,310
Analysis of assets and liabilities KRERGEZEER
over which control was lost: S8ESH : HK$’000
FET
Property, plant and equipment W - BB R 3,939
Deferred tax assets BRI EE 882
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E b e EIE 21,426
Bank balances and cash WITHEB KRS 2,357
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E b EMFIE (14,595)
Lease liabilities HEaE (2,018)
Provision B (773)
Net assets disposed of Frit & v BEFAE 11,218
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—HEHRB ARz W
Consideration received and receivable B UK e (B 13,310
Net assets disposed of FritE v EEFE (11,218)
Gain on disposal HE 7 WE 2,092
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30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HZ=ZZ=-—F=A=+—HIFE

30. HEM B2 T @)

HERSFAKRBRIEEZETZF

The gain on disposal is included in the profit for the year from

discontinued operation: =RVl

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEANWRESHRATE HK$’000
FET

Cash consideration BeRE 4,500

Less: bank balance and cash disposed of o TR EZRITESR RIS (2,357)
2,143

The impact of Fu Yo on the Group’s results in the current and
prior period are included in note 13.

ERUAEERDELBEHEEE
VREDFTAME3
. MEEHELENEBYHK
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the consolidated statement of cash flow as cash
flows from financing activities.

TRELEHAREREEHELN
8ERD  BERSRFRSES -
BEEDELNAEBRALREY
BRAFRSREPEGARDR
NSERRAEDRERENELE -

Non-cash changes

37k 5]
1 April Financing  Newlease Finance costs ~ Exchange  Disposal of 31 March
2020  cash flows arrangements incurred ~ movement  a subsidiary 2021
kSt 53 G HE-%  ZBI-%
BA-B RERERE  HEERH HERA Ex2H WEAF =R=t-B
HK000 HK’000 HK’000 HK'000 HK'000 HK’000 HK’000
AT TAR TEx TR TR TRT TR
Lease liabilties HEak 10,632 (7,133) 66 (2,018)
Bank harrowings RIER = 3,680
Interest payable ! - (49)

10,632

(3,952)

1,144 66 (2,018) 6,703

EREEEERAT —O0-0-=—0=——%%% 189




> Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

T BAUBERMEE ()
For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE
31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES . RETBHEENEBEHER

ARISING FROM FINANCING (&)
ACTIVITIES (Continued)

Non-cash changes

FReE
1 April Financing ~ Adoption of New lease  Finance costs 31 March
2019 cash flows HKFRS 16 arrangements incurred 2020
RIEREK
“I-NE HiEE AN -2-%%

mA-B BERLRE Fof  FEERE  BERA AT
HKBOOD  HK§'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS'00
ThL ThL TAL TAL TR TR

Lease liabilties HEBE 32 (7,019) 12,320 4,448 559 10,632
Accrued shares issued costs B IRDAA 803 (803) - - - -
1,121 (7,822) 12,320 4,448 559 10,632
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 2. BB ARXS
Compensation of key management FEEEAENMNE
personnel
The remuneration of the directors of the Company and other RAREZERHEMEFEZEBRAENTF
members of key management during the year was as follows: AREREN AT -
2021 2020
—E-F —E_THF
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Salaries and other allowances Fre R EAER 6,752
Retirement benefit scheme and contributions R /K& FIET 2| & 4 5% 133
6,885
The remuneration of the directors of the Company and key AKRAREENTEEEBABZEHETY
management is determined by the remuneration committee of EERBMARIRELETSBEE - AN

the Company having regard to the performance of individuals NEINEHMEESET -
and market trends.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

e MR M ()

BT —49=—A=1+—HI&E

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33. & A T 0 B FE 4Rk 0 & & £
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 1%

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Amount due from a subsidiary

Current assets
Other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Bank balances and cash

Current liability
Other payables and accrued expenses

Net current assets

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Share premium
Other reserve
Accumulated losses

Total equity

2021 2020
—E-—F —EoEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHT FHIT

IERBEE
RBRRIRE 18,097
JiE U — FE1 BT /BB 2 R FR0E 21,708
39,805

M EE
H b fE U SR IE 1,468
AN NG s 1,595
WRITHEBR LIRS 924
M
mEEE

H e RIE R EAE A 462
462
REBEEFE 3,525
BEFE 43,330

BARK G
R A 8,400 8,400
10 & B 49,429 49,429
H b 39,048 39,048
ZEtEa (55,118) (53,547)

EBEEEERAT —0-0-—O0-——=%% 191

52




. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Q HEPIBMRM ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HILFE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33. & A T W B &4k 0 & & £

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY B\
(Continued)
Share Share Other reserve  Accumulated
capital premium (Note) losses Total
HitffE
R RIDEE (F=E) 2 ER @5t
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000

T TAL T TAL TAL

As at 1 April 2019 RZE-NENA—H 8,400 49,429 39,048 (27,637) 69,240
Loss and other comprehensive  EREEREMZERS

expense for the year - - - (25,910) (25,910)
As at 31 March 2020 and R-E-ZF=R=1-H

1 April 2020 k=Z-ZFWA—H 8,400 49,429 39,048 (53,547) 43,330
Loss and other comprehensive  EREERHMZERMY

expense for the year - - - (1,571) (1,571)
As at 31 March 2021 WZE--F=A=1T—H 8,400 49,429 39,048 (55,118) 41,759
Note: 5 -
It represented the allotment of shares of the Company in acquiring the HRRBAFEWHEEver Metro2 B 1T
entire issued shares of Ever Metro in prior year. B BLBE AR RIAR D o

1 92 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2020 — 2021




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March

2021 and 2020 are set out below.

Issued and fully

e MR M ()

BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HIFE

34. KRBT EMBE AR 2FH1E

R —FRZ-ZZFF
=== $ATIKW B A
BEEFIWOT ©

[ 3%

Place of paid-up share  Percentage of effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary Form of business incorporation/operation capital attributable to the Company Principal activity
WEARAR E35 7 HAY/ S B BEARARRE ARAREENREZAAL IEEH
2021 2020
o -
Union Air Incorporated Hong Kong HK$500,000 100%  Freight forwarding and related
logistics services
ZE ERuHRE B 500,000 7 SERERIERNRRS
Fu Yo (note (i) Incorporated Hong Kong HK$200,000 100%  Warehousing and related value-
added services
ER(HE)) BEMAIHAA B 200,000 7C ERIABEERS
Qrient Zen Incorporated Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100%  Freight forwarding and related
logistics services
RE Al & 2,000,0007%7C SERE REBRRH
Fu Cheng Logistics Co. Limited Incorporated Hong Kong HK$100 100%  Human resources support of blue
collar workers to other Group
companies
EAMRERAT FEa 5 100AT REESTAMANERRETA
b EEAR
Ever Metro Incorporated BVI USD181,781 100%  Investment holding and
management services
Ever Metro EEal N ABRAHS 181,781% T REBRRERRY
Kongda Logistics Company Limited  Incorporated Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100%  Freight forwarding and related
\ogis tics services
EEMRARLA G AN I 1,000,000 7 EERBREBNRRE
Protect Logistics Company Incorporated Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100%  Freight forwarding and related
Limited logistics services
REMRERAT ek YN Bk 1,000,000/%7 EEREREENRE
Sinda Logistics Company Limited  Incorporated Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 100%  Freight forwarding and related
(note i) (note 37(‘)) \ogis ics services
EEmnARAA (ki) (Witarg) @fRudnd  FE 5,000,000%7 EERE LA
Profit Tat (Shenzhen) Supply Chain  Incorporated PRC RMB2,500,000 60%  Freight forwarding and related
Management Company Limited logistics services
(note ii and iif) (note 37(i)
BE(MMEEERERAY  SEfRuNAE  E AR 2,500,007 EERERABNRRS
(i i) (R 2237 ()
Fu Da Logistics Company Limited  Incorporated Hong Kong HK$100,000 100%  Freight forwarding and related
(FuDa’) (note ii) (note 37 (i) logistics services
EERERRAA(EE) EEA 5 100,000 7 BEREREBNRRS

(ki) W:W(H)

S8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the result
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the

end of the year.

Notes:

On 31 March 2021,Fu Yo has been disposed by the Group with
consideration of approximately HK$ HK$13,310,000. Details are set

out in note 13.

ii. Those subsidiaries have been fully disposed of after the end of the
reporting period. Details are set out in note 37.

iii. The English translation of the company name is for reference only.
The official name of the company is Z2ZCEIHEEERER A

Al

35

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

Share option scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 August 2018
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors
and eligible employees, and will expire on 13 August 2028.
Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company
may grant options to eligible employees, including directors of
the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in

the Company.
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35.

ARBERMBA R ZFHE
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ERINTEERBRYEAREXELE
EEBEARENARTMBAR - &
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EHERBRILE ©

PP B 2 B R B
T

BITEE SR

GEE

R-TE-—F=A=+—H8 K"EHI
RIE#13,310,0008 T HEE R ° 715
BTG o

i. WEHBARNMBREPRELEH
HE - F BRI ST -

iii. ZARETEHREZEEHLE - ZRFN
FEXEBARE(FY)HEREBEER

AT -

REGEUROGAERD

IRR S
ERE S

RAFWEERER &I ([ZET 8 ]) iz
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BN =T N\FENA+=AEW -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HE_-Z - —F=FA=+—HIIFE

35. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Share option scheme (Continued)

At 31 March 2021, no share option had been granted and
remained outstanding under the Scheme (2020: nil). The total
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year
is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value
in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1.00 per option. Options may
be exercised at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the directors to the grantee thereof, and in the
absence of such determination, from the date of acceptance
of the offer of such option to the earlier of (i) the date on
which such option lapses under the relevant provisions of the
Scheme; and (i) the date falling 10 years from the offer date of
that option. The exercise price is determined by the directors
of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant,
(i) the average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

5. REGEURDAERD

t

FTRRZ @)
IR REST & (|)

R-ZT-—F=A=+—8 " HBER
B ERE AN RITENERE
ZEZTF E) c RIEARQEIRE
EERAENBRT  RIEZTEA T
BREMBEBRES S k2 R BETE
BBAARABNEMEREZEETRG
10% » ARG A RBREEFRIERN
BRT - ERERALRER—FR
ERRAERZEREMS R 2B
TRETEITBRGEENFSBREAR
AR 2 B BITIRD1% © fif M)
FERRKBUIFATESEL 2B
PEAE R B AR N RIAEAN0.1% Sk (B (E B 1B
SEEEL  MIASERISEAARIRE
ZHbE -

Rt B AN R B 211
NEED  EREERSHBRES
1.0087L - BREITREEHET
R s A B A R AR A O HA R R A (R B
X176 - N MEF B AHME - BT
RENEHEEREZNERZ)VEEE
AR IEZETE BB G R E B
M(i)EBBREZORBAETMI0F
EH(UREERBE)BBETE - 1716
BERARAIEEETE  RTEERU
THRSE (A2 BRONIZEEH
FUTE : ()\ROREERD BHRR
i3 A FHRME  Ki)RNQ A
RHEHEE -

BEERBRERAT —O0=Z0-=—0=—%F®% 195
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE-_Z-—F=A=+—RHIFE

36. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2021, lease liabilities for
new lease agreements entered into by the Group for a
motor vehicle and leased property with a total amount of
approximately HK$1,144,000 (2020: HK$4,448,000) were
recognised.

37. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIODS

Disposal of subsidiaries of the Group

(i)

(i)

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, the Group
entered into a sales and purchase agreement with an
independent third party in which the Group agreed to
dispose the entire equity interest of a wholly owned
subsidiary, Hangda International Limited and its
subsidiaries with cash consideration of HK$280,000.
The disposal has been completed before the date of this
annual report.

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, the Group
entered into a sales and purchase agreement with an
independent third party in which the Group agreed to
dispose the entire equity interest of a wholly owned
subsidiary, Fu Da Logistics Company Limited, with total
consideration of HK$10,000,000 The disposal has been
completed before the date of this annual report. Details
are set out in announcement of the Company dated on
30 April 2021.
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36. TEHRERSH

RBEE_ZT-_—F=A=+—HIEF
B AEERAREREEMET LY
FHERZNEEREEAGERRE
BHI1,1440008 L (2 F -
4,448,000/ 7T) °

37. RERKRZEE
HEAEEHEQT

(i)

RBEERE  AEBERBL
FE-AFTEEHE  A5E
A &= LA 3 & X {8 280,000 % 7T
& 2 & ¥ B B 2 5lHangda
International Limited & E KB A
AEHARE HEFBEDRASF
[ERE B EARISEAK ©

RIRERRE - NEBEBLE
=HEFEEHE  AKERE
A4 (810,000,000 L HEZE
EHENBRAREEZEEESRA
A2 ERE - HESHEERASF
ERE BARATSEAL © FEIBEA AR
ANRBHA-_ZT-_—FMA=+
=Pra/NC




FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EEMBEHBRE

The results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five AREEBERFATBREENEEIUAREENR
financial years, as extracted from the Group’s audited consolidated B &I ARNERHNE BLEZZGES 0
financial statements in this annual report and the Prospectus of the &=k - WEBHA-_Z=— N \F A\ A _-1+1H

Company dated 24 August 2018, are set out below.

BARRBAKRER - DHINWT -

RESULTS E

For the year ended 31 March
REZ=A=1+-BALEFE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
25 “E-N\E —E-nE —ZTZTE —E--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FTEx THT THT TET TET
(Restated)
(& E7))
Revenue Wiz 79,316 197,942 193,032 177,959 332,804
Profit (loss) before taxation B %Al A (&518) 13,692 14,975 (15,491) (19,554) 923
Income tax (expense) credit {5 (Fis )& (2,211) (3,984 (480) 272 (436)
Profit (loss) for the year FEREF(5E) 11,481 10,991 (15,971) (22,840)
Attributable to: TH AL
Owners of the Company N/NCE 2N 11,481 10,333 (15,971) (21,997) 4,849
Non-controlling interests TR ER = 658 - (843) ()
11,481 10,991 (15,971) (22,840)
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
gl el eyl gl Bl
Basic eamnings (l0ss) per share #EL L% 7 B
from continuing operation HARF(FE)
(Note 1) (M3E1) N/ATNE 2.00 (2.18) (2.62)

On 31 March 2021, the Group disposed the entire equity interest in -
Fu Yo Warehouse Logistics Company Limited. The Group discontinued

its operations in the provision of warehousing and related value-added
services. Comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2020 were
restated accordingly.

RZEZ—F=A=1+—H0 AEEHEEI
RERREMRERARNREEZ - NEE
ERIEEREHERAFRIBEGERENEE - &
E-T-TFE-A=+-RUIEEZLREF
BEEEEY -
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Five Year Financial Summary (Continued)

AFPBHREE)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERER

At 31 March
R=ZRA=+-H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—E—+F “E-N\E —T-NF —T-FF —E”_-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx TER TET TET TER
Total assets BELE 62,000 55,028 90,264 90,040 113,786
Total liabilities AERE (34,899) (27,422) (21,024) (42,604) (61,750)
Net assets BEFH 27,101 27,606 69,240 47 436 m
Notes: FisE

198

No earnings (loss) per share information is presented in the year ended
31 March 2017 as not considered meaningful having regard to the
reorganization and the presentation of results on a combined basis set out
on page 108 in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

The Group adopted HKFRS 16 with effect from 1 April 2019, and
has changed its accounting policies in relation to lessee accounting.
Comparative information in years earlier than 2019 is not restated and in
accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

The Group adopted HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 with effect from 1 April 2018,
and has changed its accounting policies in relation to financial instruments
and revenue recognition. Comparative information in years earlier than
2018 is not restated and in accordance with the policies applicable in
those years.

Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2020 — 2021

M

HRBEESRATN(BR) EMYEEERE
REI1BEMEMEMRIRAHEELFHE
MEALEESE - HAR2INEE_T—LF
ZA=t—HLEESRAN(BRIEN -

AEERR_T-NFHA—-BRRABBHB
HELERE 165 - YO EREBHEABEAGE
BEMNGHAER - —Z-NFZHFENLR
AERYEED - HNREERFREERNEER

Bl -

AEENR_T—-N\FHA—BERKBBHB
HRELFESERBBUBHREELF155
VEEHEFHESRITARKRERN S
e T \FZAMFENLRENLEE
5 HIRB AR EERNEEREH




Annual Report

F

Articles or Articles of Association

AR A ERARR

Audit Committee
EREZEE

Board
EEg

Board Diversity Policy
EXEZIUEER

Company
P/ N/NE]|

Company Secretary
NAWE

CG Code

EEERTH

COVID-19
COVID-19

Director(s)

=

ESG

RE e kEAR

GEM Listing Rules

GEM_EMmRA

Group
EE

GLOSSARY

annual report for the financial year ended 31 March 2021

BE_ZT-—F=A=+—HUEMBRFEZFR

articles of association of the Company

NABEBERAA

audit committee of the Company

AAREZEZES

the board of directors of the Company

RABEEE

board diversity policy of the Company

ARREEEZTTEBE

Wan Leader International Limited

BERERRER AT

company secretary of the Company

ARBREAWE

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing

Rules

GEM L RIFf 8168k 2 (e B VA =T A

2019 Novel Coronavirus

2019F F A TR TFE

directors of the Company

ARAES

Environmental, Social and Governance

RE g RER

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited

BREMERXHMARARGEMES LM Al

Company and its subsidiaries

RRF R EKE AT

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

HEERBR TR R

ERERRERAT
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Glossary (Continued)

AR (&)

Listing Date
LT HAH

Nomination Committee

RELZE®

NTD
#ak

PRC or China
A

Prospectus
mKR=ER

Remuneration Committee

FHEES

SFO
& 7 M B E R

Share Offer
feinEes

Share Option Scheme
et 2

Stock Exchange
Bk 22 PT

Year

REE

HK$ or HKD
BT

US$ or USD
ETT

%
%

5 September 2018
—E-)\FhAEA

nomination committee of the Company

ARAREERE®

New Taiwan Dollars

ek

People’s Republic of China
EE AR FANE

Prospectus of the Company dated 28 August 2018
ARARBHAZ-—NEFENAZTN\BZBERER

remuneration committee of the Company

ARRIFHEES

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

& RAEED (BBEDIEE7T1E)

the Public Offer and the Placing as defined in the Prospectus
BRERFAATNLAFEEREE

share option scheme adopted by the Company on 14 August 2018
RRARRZZE—N\FEN\A+HB K BREE

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMERGAAER AT

financial year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-—F=A=1+—HLYVBRFE

Hong Kong dollar
BT

United States Dollars
ETT

per cent
Bkt
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